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CHAIRMAN’S 
STATEMENT
On behalf Of the bOard Of directOrs 
Of aldar PrOPerties PJsc, i am Pleased 
tO Present Our annual rePOrt and 
financial statements fOr the year ended 
31 december 2011.

ali eid almheiri
Chairman

in 2011, aldar delivered major 
milestones from its development 
activities. we also undertook a 
number of financial initiatives to 
return aldar to long term growth 
and ensure ongoing value creation 
for all our stakeholders. 

during the year we recorded two 
significant sales of assets to the 
Government of abu dhabi.  
these transactions, worth  
aed 36.2 billion included the sale 
of assets of Ferrari world abu 
dhabi, Central market, residential 
units and land at al raha beach 
and infrastructure across the 
three major developments.

in addition to the direct income 
from the sale of these strategic 
assets, the agreements also 
included an aed 2.8 billion 
mandatory convertible bond for 
mubadala development Company 
and the settling of aed 5 billion 
of a currently outstanding 
infrastructure loan from the 
Government of abu dhabi as 
reimbursement for infrastructure 
development at al raha beach.

in October, we unveiled a new 
strategic plan designed to 
focus on the core strengths of 
the business and ensure the 
company’s return to sustainable 

growth and recurring profitability. 
this followed a comprehensive 
review of our organisational 
structure to realign the company 
to meet its objectives of 
sustainable revenue growth. the 
process regretfully meant that 
aldar had to reduce its workforce 
by 24 percent. 

this was a difficult, but necessary 
decision and we have ensured 
that all staff leaving the company 
received full assistance and 
support. i am confident that we 
now have the appropriate size and 
skills as well as a new structure 
that creates greater accountability 
and a strong focus on key 
functions. i thank all aldar staff 
for their continued hard work and 
resilience during this challenging 
time.

as a result of the two transactions 
and this comprehensive review 
process, we enter 2012 in a 
stronger financial position with 
lower debt levels and stable 
cash flows. we are a more 
efficient organization that is 
well positioned to capitalise on 
market opportunities and drive 
shareholders returns by deploying 
capital selectively into key 
projects.

Our underlying operational 
performance was strong in 
2011, with improved recurring 
revenues, major residential 
deliveries, the addition of new 
investment properties and a 
growing fee-based development 
portfolio. looking ahead to 2012, 
with new residential deliveries, 
significant progress on our 
major retail project, Yas mall and 
new fee based projects such as 
abu dhabi Plaza – Kazakhstan, 
Yas water Park in addition to 
the construction management 
agreement for Central market, 
i look forward to reporting on 
continued progress in a year’s 
time.

we also welcomed Greg Fewer 
to the organisation in november. 
bringing over 15 years of 
financing, risk management 
and investment experience built 
between mubadala, barclays 
Capital and Canadian imperial 
bank of Commerce, i have 
no doubt that Greg will be a 
great addition to the executive 
management team as we look to 
capitalise on the opportunities 
that lie ahead. 

i would also like to thank the 
other members of the aldar 
executive management team and 

the board of directors for their 
support during my first year as 
Chairman of aldar Properties, 
as well as our shareholders and 
customers.

Finally and on behalf of the board 
and staff of aldar, i would like 
to give our collective thanks to 
their highnesses sheikh Khalifa 
bin Zayed al nahyan, President 
of the united arab emirates, 
supreme Commander of the uae 
armed Forces and ruler of abu 
dhabi, and sheikh mohammed 
bin Zayed al nahyan, Crown 
Prince of abu dhabi and deputy 
supreme Commander of the uae 
armed Forces, for their continued 
support.

ali eid almheiri

Chairman of aldar Properties
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CEO’S  
STATEMENT
2011 was a year Of change. hOweVer, 
the effect Of the dOwnturn has 
undOubtedly influenced many sectOrs 
Of the ecOnOmy and created market 
cOnditiOns that require Prudence 
tO naVigate a careful Path alOng the 
JOurney Of sustainable grOwth.

sami asad 
ChieF exeCutive OFFiCer

Care and diligence have been 
our watchwords in 2011. while 
continuing to deliver our core 
developments and improve our 
recurring revenues from our 
investment portfolio, we have 
reorganised our operations in 
light of market conditions and 
refocused our commercial goals. 

we continued to reduce our 
borrowing and also vigorously 
reduced our operational costs 
as we reorganized to align our 
cost base with the future needs 
of the Company. Following the 
announcement of two separate 
agreements to sell assets to 
the Government of abu dhabi, 
we enter 2012 on solid financial 
footing. 

2011 was another solid year of 
delivery for aldar. we completed 
1,930 residential units including 
the al Zeina and al muneera 
communities at al raha beach, 
one of the first new beachfront 
residential developments in 
abu dhabi, and the first phase 
of al Gurm, a luxury residential 
development. the completion of 
al bateen Park, a residential unit 
development in the heart of abu 

dhabi and al ward, a precinct 
within the al raha Gardens 
community, is anticipated in 2012.

Our fee-based development 
portfolio has also grown with 
the signing of new development 
management contracts for 
abu dhabi Plaza Kazakhstan, 
Yas waterworld abu dhabi and 
a construction management 
agreement for Central market. 
these join existing contracts for 
al Falah, a 4,857 villa emirati 
housing development for the abu 
dhabi Government, Cleveland 
Clinic abu dhabi, a usd 1.9 billion 
healthcare facility for mubadala 
and the masdar institute of 
science and technology for 
masdar.

a range of properties held for 
investment were also completed 
and fully let in 2011 adding 76,000 
sqm of new retail, including 
iKea development on Yas island, 
Gardens Plaza and motor world, 
a custom-designed destination 
for new and used car showrooms 
and servicing facilities in abu 
dhabi. the construction contract 
was awarded for Yas mall, a major 
retail development on Yas island. 

with 235,000 sqm of retail trading 
area, aldar has already leased 
over 40% of this development that 
will open in the fourth quarter of 
2013.

in 2011, aldar academies 
delivered three new schools - 
al bateen secondary school, 
al mushrif school and al ain 
international school. aldar 
academies now operates 
six schools with capacity for 
approximately 5,500 pupils in abu 
dhabi and al ain.

Over the past year we’ve laid 
the groundwork for the future 
of aldar through the evolution 
of our operational and business 
model and by ensuring that the 
company is financially positioned 
to be able to take advantage of the 
opportunities that arise.

Our forward focus is on continuing 
to grow our recurring revenue 
and fee-generative operations to 
both reduce debt and to be able to 
invest in new commercially driven 
projects. 

we enter 2012 with the size and 
skills required to deliver our key 
projects for the benefit of our 
stakeholders and are fit to take 
advantage of the opportunities 
that will present themselves. 
aldar is a stronger, leaner and 
more refined organisation with a 
stable financial foundation that 
is optimised to deliver value to 
shareholders. Our value creation 
strategy is built on development 
- both for our own assets and 
for third parties - and growing 
recurring income from our 
investment properties.  we will 
look to leverage our sizeable land 
bank to create new developments 
that meet market demands and 
end-user needs.

lastly, i would like to take 
this opportunity to thank the 
employees of aldar for their 
continued support, commitment 
and patience during this time of 
change.  we are ready to enter the 
next chapter for the company with 
energy and enthusiasm.  

sami asad 
Chief executive Officer
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ABOUT ALDAR 
aldar is abu dhabi’s leading PrOPerty deVelOPment inVestment and 
management cOmPany.

in 2011, the cOmPany tOOk a number Of significant stePs tO resPOnd tO 
challenging market cOnditiOns. a full POrtfOliO, OPeratiOnal and financial 
reView was cOnducted internally and as a result, aldar’s strategic fOcus 
and OrganizatiOnal structure was rePOsitiOned tO align with market 
OPPOrtunities. during the year, aldar fOcused On the cOmPletiOn Of key 
PrOJects and wOrk in PrOgress and realigned its balance sheet tO achieVe a 
lOng-term sustainable caPital structure. 

in 2012, aldar will cOntinue tO fOcus On the successful cOmPletiOn Of its 
existing PrOJects, undertake new selectiVe market driVen deVelOPments, and 
maximize returns frOm its inVestment PrOPerties and OPerating businesses. 

OUR MISSION
tO caPture sustainable returns fOr Our sharehOlders thrOugh deVelOPment, 
inVestment and management Of quality real estate assets that fulfil Our 
custOmer needs while Offering a rewarding and dynamic wOrk enVirOnment 
fOr Our emPlOyees.

CORPORATE STRUCTURE
aldar, alOng with its subsidiaries and JOint Ventures, OPerates as a real estate 
inVestment, deVelOPment and management grOuP. aldar’s OPeratiOns can be 
brOadly categOrised intO the fOllOwing areas:

REAL ESTATE DEVELOPMENT 

aldar undertakes major projects including commercial and 
residential properties, retail developments, hotel and leisure facilities, 
infrastructure projects, luxury resorts and schools. in addition, aldar 
continues to generate income by providing development management 
services to third-party investors and Government entities.

REAL ESTATE ASSET MANAGEMENT

as part of its long-term business strategy, aldar holds and manages 
selected assets within its investment portfolio, enabling it to secure 
long-term revenue streams and maximize long term asset value. these 
assets comprise of residential, commercial, retail, hospitality and social 
infrastructure assets. 

INVESTMENT IN OPERATIONAL BUSINESSES, SUBSIDARIES & 
JOINT VENTURES

aldar has direct investments in operational businesses that complement 
its real estate investment portfolio through a range of wholly owned 
subsidiaries and strategic partnerships. these investments vary from 
school operations to minority stakes in real estate mortgage companies 
in abu dhabi. 
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PrOJects 
 

PrOJect PrOJect tyPe

noor al ain mixed use (residential, retail and leisure)

al raha beach mixed use (residential, offices and retail)

motor world mixed use (residential, motor showrooms and retail)

al Gurm mixed use (leisure and residential)

al merief (Previously airport site) mixed use (residential and retail)

al Falah town Centre mixed use

al Gurm - Phase ii high-end residential

Yas island 

   Zone ja/jb – Golf estates medium density residential

   Zone K – master-planned community residential

   Zone nY – north Yas residential / mixed use

   Zone e - Yas mall retail 

   Zone s – southern marina mixed use / marina

   Zone tP – theme Park leisure
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BUSINESS REVIEw
land bank aVailable fOr future deVelOPment

PrOJect land area (sqm) freehOld/leasehOld

al raha beach

   Central Precinct 464,812 Freehold

   west Precinct 2,667,284 Freehold

Yas island

   Zone ja/jb Golf estate 220,835 Freehold

   Zone ib & tP 1,070,290 Freehold

   Zone nY - north Yas 5,890,475 Freehold

motor world 1,179,163 Freehold

al Falah town Centre 2,177,077  Freehold

al Gurm - Phase ii 11,655 Freehold

al shabhat 253,749 Freehold

al ain al mutared 24,975 Freehold

Capital City district 51,022 Freehold

al merief 720,213 Freehold

total 14,731,549
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cOmPleted PrOJects 
 

PrOJect PrOJect tyPe cOmPletiOn date status

al jimi mall retail acquisition: july 2005 
expansion: march 2006

Owned and operated by aldar

diabetes Centre healthcare april 2006 handed over to mubadala development Company

the Pearl Primary school school september 2007 Owned and operated by aldar academies

al mamoura Offices building a: december 2007 
building b: june 2009

Owned and operated by aldar

al raha Gardens residential Phase 1: december 2007 
Phase 2: june 2009

unit/villa sales continue, common areas 
operated by aldar

etihad Plaza (Previously abraj 
towers)

mixed use (residential, 
Offices, retail)

Phase 1: december 2007 
Final Phase: june 2009

sold to a joint venture between aldar & etihad 
airways PjsC

al Yasmina school school september 2008 Owned and operated by aldar academies

injazat data Centre Offices june 2009 sold

baniyas towers Offices july 2009 Owned and operated by aldar

al muna Primary school school september 2009 Owned and operated by aldar academies

Yas marina Circuit race track september 2009 sold

yas hotels

Yas viceroy hotel October 2009 Owned by aldar, operated by global brand

radisson blu hotel October 2009 Owned by aldar, operated by global brand

Crowne Plaza hotel October 2009 Owned by aldar, operated by global brand

rotana hotel October 2009 Owned by aldar, operated by global brand

hala arjaan hotel October 2009 Owned by aldar, operated by global brand

Park inn hotel October 2009 Owned by aldar, operated by global brand

Centro hotel October 2009 Owned by aldar, operated by global brand

staybridge suites hotel October 2009 Owned by aldar, operated by global brand

Yas marina marina October 2009 sold

Yas infrastructure infrastructure October 2009 sold

Yas links (Yas island) leisure February 2010 Owned and operated by aldar

al bandar (al raha beach) residential september 2010 unit/villa sales continue, common areas 
operated by aldar

al Gurm (Phase 1) residential October 2010 unit/villa sales continue, common areas 
operated by aldar

hQ (al raha beach) Offices October 2010 Owned and operated by aldar

Ferrari world abu dhabi (Yas 
island)

leisure november 2010 sold and operated by Farah leisure

welcome Pavilion and Cascade 
walk (Yas island)

retail/leisure november 2010 sold and operated by Farah leisure

souk at Central market retail december 2010 sold and operated by aldar

iKea Yas island retail march 2011  Owned and operated by aldar

al Zeina (al raha beach) residential july 2011 unit/villa sales continue, common areas 
operated by aldar

al muneera (al raha beach) residential september 2011 unit/villa sales continue, common areas 
operated by aldar

al bateen school school september 2011 Owned and operated by aldar academies

al mushrif school school september 2011 Owned and operated by aldar academies

al ain international school school september 2011 Owned and operated by aldar academies

motor world Phase 1 mixed use October 2011 Owned and operated by aldar

reimbursable PrOJects 

aldar provides development management services for third parties 
including Government and Government related entities. aldar provides 
end-to-end project management services ranging from design, 
procurement, site preparation, construction to fit-outs. the  project 
management services are being provided by aldar for a fee and the 
funding of the project is provided by the third party.  major projects being 
undertaken on behalf of the Government are shown bellow.

PrOJect PrOJect tyPe

Cleveland Clinic abu dhabi healthcare

sheikha salama mosque mosque

al Falah residential

Central market mixed use (residential, retail, hotel, Offices)

Yas waterworld abu dhabi leisure

abu dhabi Plaza, astana mixed use (residential, retail, hotel, Offices)

interchanges at al raha beach infrastructure

shabhat infrastructure infrastructure
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Al Ain International School

al ain international school 
was developed on the site of an 
existing Government school, less 
than a kilometre from the hilton 
hotel, al ain. Facilities include 
a sports hall, theatre, full size 
football pitch, swimming pools, 
large recreation areas, computer 
suites, specialist classrooms, as 
well as more than 40 teaching 
classrooms.

Al Ain International School

al ain international school 
was developed on the site of an 
existing Government school, less 
than a kilometre from the hilton 
hotel, al ain. Facilities include 
a sports hall, theatre, full size 
football pitch, swimming pools, 
large recreation areas, computer 
suites, specialist classrooms, as 
well as more than 40 teaching 
classrooms.

Al Zeina

located at the heart of al 
raha beach, al Zeina follows 
al bandar as one of the 
first beachfront residential 
developments in abu dhabi 
available for purchase by 
national and international 
buyers. a community focussed 
development, al Zeina includes 
apartments, penthouses and a 
range of town houses and villas, 
some with private courtyards 

and pools, and others opening 
out directly on to the 500m-long 
private beach.

designed for a complete range 
of residential needs, a major 
retail high street is planned 
that will include a waitrose 
supermarket. a number of cafes 
and restaurants including Café 
Firenze are also in development 
and the delivery of the high 
street will begin in the second 
quarter of 2012.

in addition to the private beach, 
al Zeina has six community 
swimming pools, six gyms, 
childcare facilities, male and 
female prayer rooms as well as 
a library, all for the exclusive use 
of residents. 

handover of apartments and 
villas across the seven precincts 
of this stunning development 
began in july 2011. 

Al Muneera

al muneera is a residential 
development within al raha 
beach which features an island 
edged by a private beach. 
down each side of the canal, 
apartments and townhouses are 
interspersed with lush gardens 
and trees. set back from the 
island’s seafront promenade 
are the 11 villas and smaller 
town houses, with two circular 
apartment buildings at the 
centre. 

From the office tower opposite 
the island, a pedestrian bridge 
directs visitors straight to the 
beachfront, lined with cafés, 
restaurants and retail outlets. 
retailers that will be opening 
soon in the al muneera retail 
precinct include la brioche, 
lilies restaurant & Café, Costa 
Coffee, swiss bakery, noir Café 
& bakery and Carrefour market.

Comprising 1,286 apartments 
across 6 towers, 148 
townhouses, 11 villas, al 
muneera began handover to 
owners in september 2011. 

Al Mushrif School

al mushrif school opened in 
september 2011 and promises to 
provide an outstanding education 
for all pupils from Foundation 
stage 1 to Year 6.

to enable early opening,  
al mushrif school has been 
temporarily based within the 
al bateen secondary school 
Campus. beyond 2013, plans are 
in place for al mushrif school to 
re-locate to a new school site.

From 2011-2013, al mushrif 
school will benefit from 
shared access to the state of 
the art facilities within the 

Al Mushrif School

al mushrif school opened in 
september 2011 and promises to 
provide an outstanding education 
for all pupils from Foundation 
stage 1 to Year 6.

to enable early opening,  
al mushrif school has been 
temporarily based within the 
al bateen secondary school 
Campus. beyond 2013, plans are 
in place for al mushrif school to 
re-locate to a new school site.

From 2011-2013, al mushrif 
school will benefit from 
shared access to the state of 
the art facilities within the 

al bateen secondary school 
Campus. shared facilities and 
resources within the school 
campus include; the sports hall, 
dance studio, swimming pool, 
basketball court, astro-turf pitch, 
drama studio, library, canteen 
area and performance hall. al 
mushrif pupils will also benefit 
from shared access to specialist 
teaching areas for iCt, art, 
science and music.

the school currently has  
375 pupils.

al bateen secondary school 
Campus. shared facilities and 
resources within the school 
campus include; the sports hall, 
dance studio, swimming pool, 
basketball court, astro-turf pitch, 
drama studio, library, canteen 
area and performance hall. al 
mushrif pupils will also benefit 
from shared access to specialist 
teaching areas for iCt, art, 
science and music.

the school currently has  
375 pupils.

the school opened in september 
2011, with 84 pupils in its first 
year of operation. this number is 
forecast to grow to 185 in year 2 
(september 2012). Capacity will 
eventually grow to 960 pupils.  

the school opened in september 
2011, with 84 pupils in its first 
year of operation. this number is 
forecast to grow to 185 in year 2 
(september 2012). Capacity will 
eventually grow to 960 pupils.  

Al Bateen School

al bateen school is the 
secondary receiving school 
for the Pearl and al muna 
schools, providing high quality 
education for english-speaking 
students from the ages of 11 
to 18. it provides much-needed 
secondary education in a great 
learning environment in the al 
bateen area of abu dhabi island.

Offering a british curriculum to 
GCse level and the international 
baccalaureate diploma, al 
bateen secondary school’s 
curriculum gives children a 
broad and varied international 
education. 

al bateen secondary school is a 
unique building with a beautiful 
design that allows for more 
student circulation and greater 
interaction between different 
year groups than traditional 
schools 

state-of-the-art teaching 
facilities include an 850-seat 
auditorium, performing arts 
facilities, science laboratories, a 
design technology faculty, music 
recording studio and recital hall. 
sports facilities comprise of a 
multi-purpose sports hall, dance 
studio, 25m indoor swimming 
pool and floodlit football pitch 
and shaded basketball courts. 

the school opened in  
september 2011.

Al Bateen School

al bateen school is the 
secondary receiving school 
for the Pearl and al muna 
schools, providing high quality 
education for english-speaking 
students from the ages of 11 
to 18. it provides much-needed 
secondary education in a great 
learning environment in the al 
bateen area of abu dhabi island.

Offering a british curriculum to 
GCse level and the international 
baccalaureate diploma, al 
bateen secondary school’s 
curriculum gives children a 
broad and varied international 
education. 

al bateen secondary school is a 
unique building with a beautiful 
design that allows for more 
student circulation and greater 
interaction between different 
year groups than traditional 
schools 

state-of-the-art teaching 
facilities include an 850-seat 
auditorium, performing arts 
facilities, science laboratories, a 
design technology faculty, music 
recording studio and recital hall. 
sports facilities comprise of a 
multi-purpose sports hall, dance 
studio, 25m indoor swimming 
pool and floodlit football pitch 
and shaded basketball courts. 

the school opened in  
september 2011.

COMPLETED  
PROJECTS 2011
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COMPLETED  
PROJECTS 2011

Motor world

motor world is the new 
automotive development in 
abu dhabi, dedicated to buying, 
selling and servicing both new 
and pre-owned cars. motor 
world is designed to be a 
one-stop shop for customers, 
providing all related services 

under one roof, including 
finance, insurance and 
registration services. 

the first phase of motor world, 
composed of 100 used car 
showrooms was delivered in the 
fourth quarter of 2011.

Gardens Plaza

Gardens Plaza is a new shopping 
and community centre in al raha 
Gardens. the latest addition to 
aldar’s growing retail portfolio, 
Gardens Plaza offers a range of 
retail and leisure opportunities 
to residents of al raha Gardens 
and surrounding communities in 
Khalifa City and al raha beach.

this 2,300 sqm community 
shopping centre, with a gym, 
community hall and 85 car 
parking spaces features a range 
of coffee shops and restaurants 
including jones the Grocer and 
Zyng asian Grill as well as a 
central supermarket – al safa 
supermarket.

architecturally, the development 
blends traditional arabian and 

modern themes, with a double 
height covered entrance area, 
landscaped courtyard areas, a 
2,500sqm outdoor garden and 
play area as well as external 
restaurant seating. 

Gardens Plaza opened to 
customers in may 2011.

Sheikha Salama Mosque
aldar was commissioned by the 
eaa, under the instruction of 
his highness sheikh Khalifa bin 
Zayed al nahyan, President of 
the united arab emirates and 
ruler of abu dhabi, and sheikh 
mohammad bin Zayed al nahyan, 
Crown Prince of abu dhabi and 
deputy supreme Commander of 
the uae armed Forces, to design 
and supervise the development 
of the project to ensure that the 
new sheikha salama mosque 
would become a landmark for al 
ain, and a cornerstone of future 
development in the city.
located adjacent to al ain Oasis, 
in the same location as the 
former sheikha salama mosque, 
the new mosque can accomodate 
up to 3,100 people at a time in 
the main prayer hall, 640 women 

on the first floor and 1,125 men 
in the open court yard and has a 
total area of 35,873sqm. 

Other features include 
underground parking, lifts, a 
retractable sun shade to provide 
shelter from the sun during 
prayer and a unique celebration 
light system which will be used 
during islamic occasions. 

sheikha salama mosque was 
handed over in march 2011.

IKEA Yas Island

the 33,000 sqm store with a total 
sales area of 19,150 sqm is the 
largest iKea store in the mena 
region and the first element of 
Yas island's wide-ranging retail 
offer that will culminate with the 
delivery of Yas mall in 2013.

iKea Yas island opened its doors 
in march 2011. 
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MAJOR PROJECTS 

Yas waterworld Abu Dhabi

sitting next to Ferrari world 
at the centre of Yas island’s 
entertainment complex, will be 
the Yas waterworld abu dhabi.

visitors will be able to enjoy 43 
rides, slides and attractions 
that follow the adventures of 
the waterpark›s main character 

‹dana› - a young emirati girl 
in search of a legendary pearl 
which brought prosperity to the 
people of her village. 

the park is due to open in  
Q4 2012. 

Yas Mall 

Yas mall will be the heart of 
aldar’s retail offering at Yas 
island. a regional shopping 
mall with over 230,000 square 
metres of gross leasable area, 
Yas mall will offer a complete 
shopping experience with the 
full spectrum of shops to suit all 
tastes and needs. 

adjoining Ferrari world abu 
dhabi and with easy access to 

Yas island and sheikh Khalifa 
highway, Yas mall will be a home 
for the world’s leading brands, 
from volume retail to high-end 
designer labels. aldar has 
already leased over 50% of this 
development.

Yas mall is scheduled for 
completion in the fourth quarter 
of 2013. an aCe hardware store 
is also under development.

Central Market

set on the site of abu dhabi’s 
original souk, and designed 
by world-renowned architects 
Foster & Partners, Central 
market is a fully integrated mix 
of retail, business, residential 
and leisure facilities, combining 
tradition with modern design. 

together, emporium and the 
souk offer over 76,500 sqm of 
space in over 400 retail units. 
trust tower will provide Grade 
a office space. the domain 
will be home to 474 premium 
residential units. the complex 
will be completed by a 4* marriot 
Courtyard hotel.

Central market was sold to 
the Government of abu dhabi 
in december 2011. aldar is 
completing construction of 
the project on behalf of the 
Government of abu dhabi.



ALDAR ANNUAL REPORT
& ACCOUNTS

2011 28 ALDAR ANNUAL REPORT
& ACCOUNTS

2011 29

Al ward

al ward is the latest phase 
of homes to be developed 
in al raha Gardens, aldar’s 
established residential 
community in Khalifa City a,  
abu dhabi. 

located at the eastern end of 
al raha Gardens, al ward is 
made up of five bedroom villas 
designed in a contemporary 
arabic style. all homes are 
designed in the type s format 
seen across al raha Gardens, 
which has proved popular with 
owners and tenants.

Opened in 2007, al raha Gardens 
was the first freehold property 
development dedicated to uae 
nationals in abu dhabi and the 
uae, encompassing a number of 
gated residential villa precincts 
and schools. the first three 
phases of the development are 
now complete with all 1,369 
villas handed over to their 
respective owners.

al ward will be delivered in the 
third quarter of 2012.

Cleveland Clinic

the expertise of one of the 
most respected hospitals in 
the united states, along with 
comprehensive diagnostic 
facilities and treatments, will 
ensure that Cleveland Clinic abu 
dhabi will provide the very best 
in medical care for the uae and 
the region.

located on sowwah island, this 
360-bed, 22-storey healthcare 
facility, which is being built by 
aldar for mubadala healthcare, 
will provide the most advanced 
medical services in the middle 
east when it opens.

Cleveland Clinic abu dhabi 
will be delivered in the second 
quarter of 2013.

Al Bateen Park

al bateen Park is a residential 
development featuring 
apartments, townhouses 
and villas, set amongst lush 
landscaped surroundings and 
high quality recreational areas in 
the premier district of al bateen. 

residents will also benefit 
from access to a clubhouse and 
swimming pool on site, as well 
as shops, restaurants and cafes. 

the site is in close proximity to 
amenities such as the new aldar 
academies al bateen school 
retail shopping malls, mosques 
and other schools providing 
residents with easy access to 
their everyday needs.

al bateen Park will be delivered 
in the third quarter of 2012. 

Al Falah

al Falah will be a new 
community for middle income 
uae national families and will 
consist of several villages built 
around a town centre. this 
project forms part of a wider 
Government initiative to create 
more housing for the local 
population. al Falah will be 
an attractive, functional and 
culturally appropriate residential 
community located close to the 
abu dhabi international airport. 

the master plan for al Falah 
is designed to provide full 
community facilities and 
extensive housing opportunities 
for the emirate’s citizens. it will 
also provide integrated retail, 
commercial, educational, health 
and leisure facilities aimed 
at residents. the community 
will offer its residents around 
5,000 villas of varying sizes with 
parking and large gardens. the 

villages will also have schools, 
kindergartens, clinics, mosques, 
shops and parks. al Falah will 
provide a high quality of life 
for its residents with well-
designed attractive public areas, 
parklands and landscaping. 
aldar is constructing the villages 
and associated infrastructure in 
liaison with the urban Planning 
Council.

the project team is on target 
to achieve completion of 1,000 
3, 4 & 5 bedrooms by the end 
of the first half of 2012 with the 
remaining deliveries scheduled 
throughout the year.

Project infrastructure work 
has also been progressing well 
with several project utilities 
meeting milestones. Over 315km 
of sewers and surface water 
drainage and over 235km of 
potable and irrigation water 
piping had been completed by 
the end of january 2012. 

in addition, over the last 12 
months the team has laid 
260,000 sq m of tarmac to 
complete the roads on time, 
equivalent to 52 football fields.

the 2,000-capacity sheikh 
Khalifa mosque, which will 
serve the residents of the first 
completed villages has been 

tendered and the construction 
work contract awarded to el seif. 
the contractor mobilized to the 
mosque site during  
january 2012.

al Falah is being developed 
by aldar on behalf of the 
Government of abu dhabi.

MAJOR PROJECTS 
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aldar owns seven hotels on Yas 
island operated by global brands 
ihG (Crowne Plaza and staybridge 
suites) and rezidor (radisson 
blu and Park inn) and leading 
regional operator rotana (rotana 
and Centro).

in july 2011, aldar awarded the 
viceroy hotel Group the contract 
to operate the first viceroy hotel 
in the middle east.

HOTELS SCHOOLS
aldar academies llc

aldar academies’ missiOn is tO create wOrld class internatiOnal schOOls that set 
the benchmark fOr excellence in educatiOn and at the same time are a hOme away 
frOm hOme fOr all children. we seek tO create schOOls that PrOVide an insPiring 
learning enVirOnment at the heart Of Our cOmmunities and acrOss the emirate Of 
abu dhabi.  
 
aldar academies’ schools offer a broad and varied educational experience for pupils aged 3 to 18 years, taking into consideration local cultural 
requirements and differing international expectations. across our portfolio of six schools we have capacity this academic year for 3500 pupils.

AL YASMINA SCHOOL

Children from age 3 to 18 benefit 
from the best primary and 
secondary education at  
al Yasmina school, all based 
on the british Curriculum, 
and taught by teachers with 
international expertise. 

located within the eastern end 
of the al raha Gardens villas 
complex, adjacent to abu dhabi 
Golf Club, the school currently 
caters for 1455 pupils. 

the school opened in  
september 2008.

 
THE PEARL PRIMARY 
SCHOOL

Pearl Primary was the first 
aldar academies school, set 
up in 2007 with a capacity 
of 575 students, offering 

astroturf pitches, swimming 
pool, netball courts and sports 
hall and classrooms equipped 
with interactive whiteboards, 
computer suites with the latest 
technology and a well-stocked 
library. 

it is a british Curriculum school 
in the centre of abu dhabi 
educating young minds from 
Foundation stage (Kindergarten) 
to Year 6.

 
AL MUNA PRIMARY SCHOOL

located in downtown abu dhabi, 
and catering for 575 pupils, 
al muna’s facilities include a 
25 metre swimming pool, a 
football pitch, a netball court, 
a sports hall, a library and a 
computer suite. al muna also 
has dedicated play areas for the 
Foundation state, Key stage One 
and Key stage two pupils. 

AL BATEEN SCHOOL

al bateen school is the 
secondary receiving school 
for the Pearl and al muna 
schools, providing high quality 
education for english-speaking 
students from the ages of 11 
to 18. it provides much-needed 
secondary education in a great 
learning environment in the al 
bateen area of abu dhabi island. 
the school opened in  
september 2011.

 
AL MUSHRIF SCHOOL 

al mushrif school opened in 
september 2011 and provides 
an outstanding education for all 
pupils from Foundation stage 1 
to Year 6. Capacity for 2011/12 
stands at 375 pupils.

to enable early opening,  
al mushrif school has been 

temporarily based within the 
al bateen secondary school 
Campus. beyond 2013, plans are 
in place for al mushrif school to 
re-locate to a new school site.

AL AIN INTERNATIONAL 
SCHOOL

al ain international school is 
being developed on the site of an 
existing Government school, less 
than a kilometre from the hilton 
hotel, al ain.

the school opened in september 
2011, with 84 pupils in its first 
year of operation. 

Facilities will include a sports 
hall, theatre, full size football 
pitch, swimming pools, large 
recreation areas, computer 
suites, specialist classrooms,  
as well as more than 40 teaching 
classrooms.
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GOLF 
Yas links llC operates the Yas links Golf 
Course, one of the world’s leading golf courses. 
in august 2011 it was announced that Yas links 
had entered Golf world magazine’s top 100 
Courses as the highest ranked course from 
the middle east. in november 2011 Golf digest 
magazine ranked Yas links as the number 1 
course in the middle east.

THEME 
PARKS
Farah leisure Park management 
llC (Farah) operates the region’s 
first Ferrari theme park on Yas 
island, the largest indoor park 
in the world. Farah leisure is 
currently in advanced negotiations 
regarding the operation of future 
abu dhabi theme parks. 

MARINAS
aldar marinas llC designs and constructs 
world class marina facilities and services 
as an integral component of selected 
waterfront developments being built by 
aldar. 

during 2011, al bandar marina became fully 
operational and a management contract 
was agreed with art marine llC.
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FINANCIAL 
REVIEw
the financial infOrmatiOn cOntained in this reView is based 
On the cOnsOlidated financial statements. the nature and 
accOunting POlicies fOr indiVidual line items haVe been 
detailed in nOte 3 tO the cOnsOlidated financial statements. 
extracts frOm the cOnsOlidated statement Of financial 
POsitiOn, cOnsOlidated incOme statement and cOnsOlidated 
statement Of cash flOws are as fOllOws:

key consolidated statement of financial position information 2011
aed million

2010
aed million

Property, plant and equipment 4,866.3 6,675.1

investment properties 6,000.7 8,293.8

development work in progress 7,133.9 13,877.9

trade and other receivables 12,413.9 8,998.6

Cash and bank balances 4,157.7 2,431.5

Financing(iv) (18,252.5) (32,571.9)

advances from customers (4,740.0) (2,687.6)

trade and other payables (8,460.2) (6,171.1)

net assets (total assets less total liabilities) 7,093.6 4,246.8

key consolidated statement of cash flows information 2011
aed million

2010
aed million

net cash generated from/(used in) operating activities 4,300.3 (2,714.8)

net cash generated from investing activities 7,296.0 1,975.0

net cash used in financing activities  (8,873.4) (1,275.1)

Cash and cash equivalents at the end of the year 3,371.2 648.2

short term deposits and restricted balances with banks 786.5 1,783.3

Cash and bank balances at the end of the year 4,157.7 2,431.5

(i)  excludes provisions for impairments /write offs/ cancellation /onerous contracts of aed 2,489.6 million,   which has been shown 
separately.

(ii)  includes profit on assets held for sale, Government grant income and share of profits/loss from associates and joint ventures and 
impairment of available for sale investments.

(iii)  Comprises provisions for impairment of amounts due from joint ventures and loss on cancellation of sales of aed 415.2 million, 
project costs impaired and written off of aed 1,822.4 million and provision for onerous contracts of aed 252.0 million.

(iv)  Financing is defined as outstanding balances from all borrowings, convertible and non-convertible bonds.

key consolidated income statement information 2011
aed million

2010
aed million

revenue 6,742.6  1,791.1

direct costs (5,097.1) (1,503.0)

selling and marketing expenses (35.5) (83.4)

General and administrative expenses (i):

staff costs (243.8) (313.5)

depreciation and amortisation (590.3) (514.1)

Pre-opening expenses of operational businesses (3.4) (80.6)

Other general and administrative expenses (132.0) (187.4)

(969.5) (1,095.6)

Finance costs, net (982.1) (455.0)

Other income/(expenses) (ii) 4,014.4 (11.8)

Profit/(loss) before impairments and fair value movements 3,672.8 (1,357.7)

impairments and fair value losses: 

Provisions for impairments/write-offs/cancellation/onerous contracts (iii) (2,489.6) (4,308.3)

Fair value loss on investment properties (540.7) (6,992.4)

(3,030.3) (11,300.7)

Profit/(loss) for the year 642.5 (12,658.4)
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FINANCIAL 
REVIEw

HIGHLIGHTS

in 2011, real estate market 
conditions remained challenging.
however, we have delivered 
some significant milestones 
and have emerged in 2012 as 
a financially stronger company 
in a better position to meet our 
objectives going forward. 

in 2011, the board undertook 
a comprehensive review of 
aldar’s business model, finances 
and operations that resulted 
in two large transactions with 
the Government of abu dhabi 
and mubadala development 
Company totalling aed 36.2 
billion. the first transaction 
was completed in january 2011 
for aed 19.4 billion including 
sale of assets worth aed 16.5 
billion to Government of abu 
dhabi entities and issuance 
of convertible bonds for 
aed 2.8 billion to mubadala 
development Company. the 
second transaction was 
completed in december 2011 
for aed 16.8 billion including 
the sale of assets worth aed 
9.2 billion, transfer of infra-
structure worth aed 5.0 billion 
and a construction management 
agreement worth aed 2.6 
billion. these transactions were 
designed to create the solid 
financial foundation needed to 
drive returns to shareholders. 
moreover, we have realigned 
our organisational structure, 
reduced headcount and refined 
our business processes.  aldar 
enters 2012 with an improved 
balance sheet, predictable and 
stable cash flows and an efficient 
operating base. we are well 
positioned financially to execute 
on our mission. 

in the back drop of tough market 
conditions we have delivered 
a strong set of results and 
completed several key projects 
during the year. al Zeina and 
al muneera projects at al raha 
beach were completed and 
phased deliveries have already 
started. a contract has been 

awarded for construction of the 
Yas mall project with expected 
completion towards end of 2013. 
Our fee based development 
projects including al Falah, 
Cleveland Clinic, masdar, Central 
market and infrastructure 
developments have grown in 
size and are progressing as 
per schedule providing stable 
revenues to aldar.

HEADLINE RESULTS

the Group’s revenue for the 
year grew to aed 6,742.6 million 
compared to aed 1,791.1 million 
for the year 2010, profit for the 
year before impairments and 
fair value movements was aed 
3,672.8 million compared to 
loss of aed 1,357.7 million for 
the year ended 31 december 
2010 mainly due to announced 
Government sales. the Group 
has written down the value of its 
assets to reflect the conditions 
that have affected the real estate 
market in the uae and thorough 
business reviews undertaken. 
accordingly, appropriate 
provisions, impairments and fair 
value losses totalling aed 3.03 
billion were recognised during 
the year. this has led to an 
earnings per share of aed 0.15 
compared to a loss per share of 
aed 4.39 for the previous year.

ANALYSIS OF INCOME 
STATEMENT

Revenue

the Group’s revenue is mainly 
generated from the sale of 
land and completed properties, 
rental income from investment 
properties and income from 
its operational businesses. 
the Group earned aed 5,435.2 
million from sale of land plots 
and completed properties 
compared to aed 905.4 million 
for 2010. the increase was 
primarily due to revenue from 
land sales to the Government 
supplemented by increase in sale 

of residential units. 

revenue from the Group’s other 
operational segments grew 
significantly compared to 2010 
and the total revenue, including 
project management and 
rental income from investment 
properties was aed 1,307.4 
million for 2011 compared 
to aed 885.7 million for the 
previous year. 

Direct costs

Our direct operating costs 
include costs for infrastructure 
development, construction costs 
of projects, costs of operational 
businesses and direct costs 
incurred in the normal operating 
cycle of investment properties. 
For the year ended 31 december 
2011, direct costs included aed 
4,097.3 million for cost of land 
and completed properties sold, 
and aed 999.8 million as direct 
costs of operating businesses. 
the increase in direct costs is in 
line with the increase in revenue 
due to deliveries of land and 
units.

Selling and marketing expenses 

selling and marketing expenses 
for the year ended 31 december 
2011 were 57% lower than the 
prior year mainly due to reduced 
marketing activities during 2011. 

General and administrative 
expenses 

the overall general and 
administrative expenses 
(excluding impairment losses) 
for the year ended  
31 december 2011 was aed 
969.5 million compared to aed 
1,095.6 million for the year 
ended 31 december 2010. the 
general and administrative 
expenses for the year 2011 are 
lower by 11.5% compared to the 
comparative period primarily 
due to 22% decrease in staff 
costs and 96% reduction in 
pre-opening expenses partially 
offset by increase in depreciation 

greg fewer
Chief Financial Officer

charge and amortisation for 
the year by aed 76.1 million 
(15%) over 2010 figure due to an 
increase in operating assets.  

Finance income/costs 

the Group’s finance income 
comprises interest on bank 
deposits, profit on islamic 
deposits and finance income 
from project financing. the 
Group’s finance costs comprise 
interest payments on its external 
financing and related hedging 
costs. 

For 2011, the Group had net 
finance costs of aed 982.1 
million compared to net finance 
cost of aed 455.0 million in the 
previous year mainly due to the 
cessation of capitalisation of 
certain finance costs attributable 
to projects completed over 
2011 and a decrease in finance 
income as a result of lower cash 
balances.

Other income

Other income of aed 3.95 
billion was recorded over 2011, 
comprising mainly of the gains 
due to the following transactions: 

the Group sold the Central 
market project to the 
Government of abu dhabi 
against a total consideration of 
aed 5.7 billion. the difference 
between the fair value of 
the asset and consideration 
receivable has been recognised 
in profit/loss as a Government 
grant in accordance with ias 
20 “accounting for Government 
grants and disclosure of 
Government assistance”.

in accordance with the terms of 
the asset transfer agreement 
dated 16 january 2011, the 
Group disposed of the Ferrari 
world abu dhabi theme park and 
related assets to the Government 
of abu dhabi. accordingly, a net 
gain of aed 841.9 million was 
recognised in the profit or loss 
for the year.

ANALYSIS OF FINANCIAL 
POSITION 

Property, plant and equipment

the overall decrease in 
property, plant and equipment 
is due to the impairments and 
depreciation in addition to the 
disposition of the Central market 
project to the Government of 
abu dhabi during the course of 
2011. as a mixed used property, 
the Central market costs were 
classified partly under Property, 
plant and equipment and the 
remaining under investment 
Properties.

Investment properties

Our investment properties 
portfolio comprises both 
completed properties and 
properties in the course of 
development including land. 
the decrease in investment 
properties is mainly because of 
the sale of the Central market 
project to the Government of abu 
dhabi. 

the Group also performs a 
comprehensive review for the 
assessment of fair value of 
its investment properties at 
each reporting date to bring 
them in line with their current 
market values. the majority 
of the valuations are carried 
out by an independent valuer 
using appropriate valuation 
techniques. as a result the 
Group has recorded fair value 
losses of aed 540.7 million on its 
investment properties. 

Development work in progress

development work in progress 
was aed 7,133.9 million as at 
31 december 2011 compared 
to  aed 13,877.9 million at 
31 december 2010. during 
2011, total additions (including 
transfers) to development work 
in progress were aed 2,595.6 
million, which were offset by 
the costs of residential units 
completed and transferred to 

inventories and reimbursement 
of infrastructure.

Trade and other receivables

the Group’s receivables have 
increased by 38% compared to 
the balance at 31 december 2010 
mainly because of an increase in 
receivables directly attributable 
to the asset sale agreements 
signed with the Government over 
2011. 

Financing

the Group raises finance from 
various sources including 
conventional bank loans, 
islamic finances and by issuing 
corporate bonds or sukuk in 
international financial markets. 

the Group’s external financing 
at 31 december 2011 comprised 
borrowings of aed 9,197.6 
million, convertible bonds of 
aed 725.1 million and non-
convertible bonds of aed 8,329.8 
million. the overall borrowings 
have decreased compared to 
2010 because of the repayments 
of loans and bonds as per the 
repayment schedule and partial 
settlement of the Government 
loan against the transfer of 
infra-structure assets to the 
Government. 
 
Net asset value

the net assets at 31 december 
2011 have increased by 67% to 
aed 7,093.6 million compared to  
aed 4,246.8 million at 31 
december 2010. the increase 
is contributed by both the profit 
for the year and the conversion 
of two debt instruments to share 
capital of the Company. 

ANALYSIS OF CASH FLOwS

the Group had net cash inflows 
of aed 4,300.3 million from 
operating activities for 2011. this 
was primarily due to cash profits 
for the year, collections from 
customers and receipts from 

Government for the sale of land 
plots and refundable projects. 

Cash flows from investing 
activities are significantly higher 
than the comparative year 
because of collection of aed 
7.4 billion from the Government 
against sale of assets and 
movement in short-term bank 
deposits matured during the 
year. the positive cash flows 
were partly offset by the 
expenditure on our development 
projects.

Cash outflows for financing 
activities were mainly because 
of repayment of loans and 
redemption of convertible bonds. 
this impact was countered to 
certain extent by raising funds 
through fresh borrowings 
and convertible bonds issued 
to mubadala development 
Company.

Greg Fewer

Chief Financial Officer
13 February 2012
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FINANCING
caPital structure and financing
the Group monitors and adjusts its capital structure to ensure long term 
success of the business while maintaining sustainable returns for its 
shareholders. this is achieved through regular monitoring of liquidity, 
aiming to minimise financing costs, extensive investment appraisals and 
strategically rationing available resources. 

Key financial measures that are regularly reviewed include cash 
flow forecasts, borrowing requirements, assessment of contracted 
commitments and compliance with borrowing covenants.

financing POlicy
the Group’s financing policy aims to minimise its cost of capital through 
an appropriate mix of debt and equity finance. whilst maintaining 
an appropriate risk-reward balance, the optimal capital structure 
varies amongst individual developments and also the type of project 
to be developed. the Group raises debt finance from various sources 
including conventional bank loans, islamic finances and by issuing 
corporate bonds or sukuk in international financial markets. as part 
of its financing strategy, the Group ensures that the maturities of its 
borrowings are well spread to match with future cash inflows and 
adequate committed undrawn facilities are available to support its 
business requirements.

the Group’s primary financing requirements are for funding the 
development costs of its projects. the Group’s strategy for different 
types of its development is outlined below:

PrOPerties under deVelOPment 
the Group’s properties under development comprise both projects 
for sale and projects to be held as investment property. the Group’s 
residential properties are generally sold ahead of the construction 
using standard sale agreements requiring the customer to deposit 
10 to 20 percent of the purchase price at signing and the remainder 
in installments up to the handover date. the presale advances from 
its customers along with additional funding through equity and 
borrowings are used to finance the development works. For commercial 
properties, the Group generally uses funds generated through equity 
and borrowings spread over the development phase. For investment 
properties under development the Group arranges finance for 
comparatively extended periods to match the repayments schedule with 
the related rental income stream.

cOmPleted PrOPerties 
upon completion of development work, the Group plans to refinance 
its investment properties with long term borrowings. the Group aims 
to use the proceeds from the refinancing of investment properties for 
repayment of the existing borrowings and to invest in new projects.

current financing arrangements 
details of all existing financing arrangements have been mentioned in 
notes 18, 19 and 20 to the financial statements.

RISK  
MANAGEMENT
the Group has a formal risk management process which identifies key 
risk areas and assesses the impact and the probability of occurrence of 
risk event. the risk profile is reviewed and discussed regularly by the 
audit Committee and the board. mitigating controls are devised and 
implemented for all risks which may potentially have significant impact 
on the Group. 

the executive management team constantly monitors the market and 
will continue to identify, assess and manage the Group’s risk profile 
more rigorously. Key risk factors that may be considered in relation to 
the Group are analysed under two broad categories:

• Operational risks
• Financial risks

OPERATIONAL RISK MANAGEMENT 

Operational risks are further divided under the following captions:

a) Property development and construction

key risks consequences mitigating controls

Property development

• inability to complete 
development projects 
on schedule

• adverse effect on 
business reputation 
and market standing.

• Financial losses

• Closely monitoring 
the development 
programme against 
market conditions

• rigorous project 
reviews and proactive 
procurement strategy

• undertaking 
unsustainable 
projects

• reputational and 
financial loss.

• Possible penalties

• developing only high 
standard projects.

• Comprehensive 
feasibility analysis 
for every investment 
opportunity

• newly established 
investment Control 
Process framework  

construction 

• Cost overruns or 
inadequate project 
management

• Financial losses.

• Operational issues

• setting up provision 
for contingent 
costs overruns in 
feasibilities

• team of experienced 
project managers 
and consultants

• Financial stability 
and capabilities 
of suppliers and 
contractors

• additional costs 
resulting in lower 
profitability.

• reputational loss

• Poor performance 
by suppliers and 
contractors

• Financial and 
technical review 
conducted for 
contractors before 
signing of contracts

• Continuous 
monitoring of 
contractors’ 
performance against 
set standards
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RISK  
MANAGEMENT (continued)

OPERATIONAL RISK MANAGEMENT (continued)

b) Property investment and management

key risks consequences mitigating controls

market

• inability to sell 
properties due 
to changes in 
political and 
economic conditions 
or increase in 
competing supply

• decline in property 
values

• impaired market 
liquidity

• dedicated in-house 
team supplemented 
by external advisors 
monitor current and 
future market trends 
to support decision 
making

• Global financial crisis 
leading to continued 
decline in investor 
demand

• decline in property 
values

• Customer facing 
difficulties in 
obtaining finance

• securing regular 
income streams 
through long term 
leases of investment 
properties

asset management

• reduction in tenants’ 
demand for high end 
properties

• decline in market 
rental levels. 

• increasing defaults 
by tenants

• reduced rental 
income and 
increased cost of 
tenant

• void costs

• Performance of each 
property is reviewed 
regularly

• Key performance 
measures such as 
voids, lease expiry 
profiles and progress 
on rent reviews are 
actively managed to 
mitigate risks

• targeting low credit 
risk tenants such 
as Government 
departments or large 
corporations

investment performance and returns

• investments in 
property or other 
businesses may not 
deliver the optimum 
returns.

• significant financial 
losses

• impaired assets

• investment 
Committee assesses 
all new investments, 
pricing policies and 
related business 
plans

• executive 
management team 
and new Porfolio 
management team 
continuously monitors 
performance against 
targets

c) business continuity planning

key risks consequences mitigating controls

management

• reliance on its small, 
high calibre senior 
management team

• Concentration of 
business knowledge

• inadequate 
replacements for 
leavers

• shared business 
knowledge among 
top management

• recruiting and 
developing high-
calibre professionals

disaster planning

• Failure to have a 
proper disaster 
recovery plan

• irreparable damage 
in case of an 
unforeseen incident

• Proper disaster 
recovery plans for 
all risky areas are in 
place

• all assets are insured

• Preventive controls

it integrity and performance

• major failure in it 
systems

• Financial and 
reputational loss

• Proper it back-up 
plan 

• using an outsourced, 
it service provider 
for a fulltime support 
service

d) laws and regulation

key risks consequences mitigating controls

legal framework

• unexpected changes 
in the country’s 
economy and 
Government policies 
(eg policies relating 
to foreign ownership) 

• Potential impact on 
business operations

• regular monitoring 
of legislative 
proposals.

• Consulting external 
advisors to 
understand, and if 
possible, mitigate 
the impact of any 
anticipated changes.

fraud

• inherent risk of 
misstatement or 
fraud 

• Financial and 
reputational loss.

• disruption of 
operations

• Proper segregation of 
duties

• Preventive and 
detective control 
procedures

• regular employee 
surveys to address 
their concerns

health, safety and environment (hse) issues

• non-compliance with 
hse regulations 

• reputational 
damage.

• Fines and penalties.

• specialised hse 
team

• well-communicated 
health and safety 
policy.

• surprise checks and 
assessments by hse 
team.

• Programme 
addressing key 
environmental issues

• Carrying out regular 
environment-friendly 
activities

e) change management

key risks consequences mitigating controls

change implementation

• Change in 
management or 
organisational 
structure may affect 
the operations of the 
business

• inadequate talent 
management and 
succession planning

• inability to continue 
to deliver business 
as usual during and 
after the change 
process.

• business operations 
controlled by few 
people with limited 
knowledge sharing

• adverse impact on 
business operation 
due to resignation/
termination of critical 
members.

• Planning and 
implementing change 
so that it does not 
impact high risk 
business areas, 
resources, systems, 
processes and 
stakeholder groups.

• adequate succession 
planning by 
developing staff 
internally so that 
they can immediately 
cover the gap arising 
upon departure of an 
employee

• maintaining talented 
staff by keeping 
them motivated by 
providing competitive 
remuneration and 
appropriate career 
growth opportunities.
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liquidity risk liquidity risk is the risk that the Group fails to maintain 
sufficient cash and other liquid assets to match its financial obligations. 

key risks consequences mitigating controls

• insufficient liquid 
assets including cash 
and cash equivalents. 

• inability to meet 
financial obligations

• non-compliance 
with liquidity based 
borrowing covenants

• appropriate liquidity 
risk management 
framework. 

• regular monitoring 
of the Group’s 
short, medium 
and long-term 
funding and liquidity 
requirements. 

• Continuously 
reviewing forecast 
and actual cash 
flows. 

• Committed borrowing 
facilities, together 
with available 
undrawn facilities.

• Keeping adequate 
amount of cash and 
cash equivalents 
available.

market risk market risk is the risk that the fair value or future cash 
flows of a financial asset or liability will fluctuate because of changes 
in market prices. market risk comprises three types of risk: foreign 
currency risk, interest rate risk and other price risks. the Group’s risk 
exposure to foreign currency risk and interest rate risk is described 
below. the Group is not exposed to other price risks.

key risks consequences mitigating controls

foreign currency risk:

• the Group may be 
exposed to foreign 
currency risk such 
that the fair value or 
future cash flows of 
a financial asset or 
liability will fluctuate 
because of changes 
in foreign exchange 
rates. 

• Financial losses

• liquidity issues

• no cross-border 
trading transactions

• borrow money in 
foreign currencies 
where exchange rate 
is pegged with uae 
dirham.

• use of foreign 
currency swaps 

interest rate risk:

• the Group is exposed 
to interest rate risk 
as the fair value or 
future cash flows 
associated with a 
financial asset or 
liability will fluctuate 
because of changes 
in market interest 
rates. 

• increased finance 
costs

• liquidity issues

• maintaining an 
appropriate mix 
between fixed 
and floating rate 
borrowings.

• interest rate swaps.

• doing regular 
sensitivity analyses 
for exposure to 
interest rates for 
both derivatives 
and non-derivative 
instruments.

FINANCIAL DISCLOSURES 

numeric disclosures about the Group’s exposures to the above risks and 
risk management procedures have been explained in detail in note 34 to 
the financial statements.

RISK  
MANAGEMENT (continued)

FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT

the Group’s activities expose it to a variety of financial risks such as 
capital risk, credit risk, market risk and liquidity risk.

the Group’s board of directors has the overall responsibility for 
the establishment and oversight of the Group’s risk management 
framework. the Group’s overall risk management program focuses on 
the unpredictability of markets and seeks to minimise potential adverse 
effects on the financial performance of the Group. 

Financial risk management is carried out by Group’s centralised 
Corporate Finance team under policies approved by the board of 
directors. the Corporate Finance team identifies, evaluates and hedges 
financial risks in close co-operation with the Group’s operating units. 
the Corporate Finance team also defines principles for overall risk 
management, as well as policies covering specific risk areas, such as 
foreign exchange risk, interest rate risk, credit risk, use of derivative 
financial instruments and non-derivative financial instruments, and 
investment of excess liquidity.

the Group uses different methods to measure different types of risk to 
which it is exposed. these methods include sensitivity analysis in the case 
of interest rate and foreign exchange risks, ageing analysis for credit risk 
and gearing analysis for capital risk. 

wherever possible, the Group seeks to minimise the effects of such 
risks by using derivative financial instruments to hedge risk exposures. 
however, the Group does not enter into or trade financial instruments, 
including derivative financial instruments, for speculative purposes. 

risk exposures

the main financial risks the Group is exposed to are as follows:

capital risk Capital risk is the risk that the Group is not able to manage 
its capital structure to ensure that all entities in the Group will be able to 
continue as a going concern. 

the capital structure of the Group comprises debt, cash and cash 
equivalents and equity attributable to equity holders of the parent 
company, comprising issued capital, share premium, reserves and 
retained earnings.

key risks consequences mitigating controls

• inability to maintain 
an appropriate 
capital structure 

• excessively high 
gearing 

• difficulties in 
providing appropriate 
returns to the 
shareholders.

• Going concern issue

• inability to meet 
financial obligations

• monitoring and 
adjusting capital 
structure whenever 
deemed necessary 

• rigorous investment 
appraisals 

• regular cash flow 
projections 

• assessment of ability 
to meet contracted 
commitments 

• benchmarking 
gearing levels

• ensuring compliance 
with borrowing 
covenants

Credit risk Credit risk in relation to the Group, refers to the risk that 
a counter party will default on its contractual obligations resulting in 
financial loss to the Group. 

key risks consequences mitigating controls

• Financial default by 
debtors or bankers.

• significant financial 
loss

• impaired liquidity

• inability to meet 
financial obligations

• reducing credit risk 
exposure to any single 
counterparty or any 
Group of related 
counterparties. 

• dealing with 
customers with a good 
credit standing. 

• reviewing the 
recoverability of 
receivables on an 
ongoing basis. 

• regular assessment 
of exposure to 
individual financial 
institutions.

• Placing deposits only 
with reputed major 
banks operating in the 
uae. 
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BOARD OF  
DIRECTORS 
mr. ali eid almheiri, 
chairman
mr. ali eid almheiri, a uae national, is the executive director, mubadala 
infrastructure and mubadala real estate & hospitality, business units 
of mubadala development Company. he is the Chairman of abu dhabi 
Finance Company PjsC, emirates ship investment Company llC and 
Khadamat Facilities management llC. he is also on the boards of al 
hikma development Company PjsC and abu dhabi health services 
Company PjsC. 

mr. almheiri holds an mba in Finance and bsc in accountancy from the 
american university, usa. 

dr. sultan ahmed al Jaber
dr sultan ahmed al jaber a uae national is the Chief executive Officer 
and managing director of the abu dhabi Future energy Company 
(masdar). dr. al jaber is the Chairman of the abu dhabi Ports Company, 
abu dhabi media investment Corporation and sky news arabia, and 
serves on the boards of the advanced technology investment Company 
llC and Zones Corp. he also serves as uae special envoy for energy 
and Climate Change. 

dr. al jaber holds a Phd in business and economics from the uK and an 
mba and a bsc in Chemical engineering from the us.

mr. khalifa sultan al suwaidi 
mr. Khalifa sultan al suwaidi a uae national is the executive director 
of the direct investments department at the abu dhabi investment 
Council. Prior to his current position in abu dhabi investment Council, 
mr. al suwaidi was the deputy director of the external Funds (americas) 

department at adia. he is a member of the boards of national bank of 
abu dhabi, etihad airways, abu dhabi national insurance Co., abu dhabi 
securities exchange, union national bank (unb), and unb-egypt. 

mr. al suwaidi is a CFa and holds an msc in Finance and ba in business 
administration (Finance) from seattle university, usa.

mr. carlOs Obeid
mr. Carlos Obeid is the Chief Financial Officer of mubadala development 
Company. mr. Obeid currently serves as the Chairman of the board of 
directors of mubadala Ge Capital, viceroy hotel Group and mubadala 
Capitaland real estate. he is also a director of Yahsat, mubadala 
infrastructure Partners (miP), abu dhabi Future energy Company 
(masdar), injazat data systems, al waha Capital, Cleveland Clinic 
abu dhabi, advanced technology investment Company (atiC) and 
GlObalFOundries inc.

mr. Obeid, a lebanese national holds a bachelor of science in electrical 
engineering from american university of beirut, lebanon and a masters 
in business administration from insead in Fontainebleau, France.

mr. mansOur mOhamed al mulla 
mr. mansour mohamed al mulla, a uae national, works as an advisor 
in the structured Finance and Capital markets unit of mubadala 
development Company. he serves on the boards of abu dhabi 
Finance PjsC, abu dhabi Ports Operating Company PjsC - (abu dhabi 
terminals), and al waha Capital PjsC. he is also a member of abu dhabi 
Future energy Company’s (masdar) audit Committee. 

mr. al mulla holds a bsc in business administration from Portland state 
university, usa. 

mr. saeed mOhamed al mazrOuei
mr. saeed mohamed al mazrouei a uae national is the director, debt 
management Office at the department of Finance. 

mr. mazrouei holds an msc in international securities investment 
& banking from reading university (uK) and a bsc in business 
administration from suffolk university (usa).

mr. martin lee edelman 
mr. martin lee edelman a us national is an advisor to mubadala 
development Company. he has practiced law in the us for 40 years and 
serves on the boards of manchester City Football Club, avis budget, 
Capital trust and ashford hospitality. 

mr. edelman holds a ba in Politics from Princeton university and sjd in 
law from Columbia university usa.
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INTERNAL CONTROL

the board is responsible for the Group’s system of internal control and 
for reviewing its effectiveness. such a system is designed to manage 
rather than eliminate the risk of failure to meet business objectives 
and can provide only reasonable and not absolute assurance against 
material misstatement or loss. the board’s internal Control Policy and 
key controls have been listed in Corporate Governance section on pages 
52 to 55.

HEALTH AND SAFETY 

the Group has a formal health and safety policy in place and complies 
with the abu dhabi municipalities and agricultural department’s “health 
and safety Codes of Practice for Construction Projects” and associated 
legislation to ensure the highest possible standards of safety for its 
employees and contractors. the Group is strongly committed to ensure 
that the health and safety of its people, contractors, advisors, tenants 
and general public, is not compromised. 

details about Group’s health and safety policy have been explained in 
health and safety section on pages 59 to 60.

ENVIRONMENT

the Group is sparing no effort to ensure its compliance with all 
environmental legislation and other relevant requirements enforced 
by abu dhabi municipality and agricultural department as a minimum 
standard. the Group is strongly committed to the efficient use of 
resources, reducing and preventing pollution, and recycling. it is the 
prime responsibility of the Group to make sure that the development 
process of its projects is in compliance with the best environmental 
standards. the Group also encourages its suppliers and contractors 
working with the Group to adopt similar standards themselves. 

Further information on environmental matters is set out on page 59.

CORPORATE SOCIAL RESPONSIBILITY

the board recognises social responsibilities of the Group and strives 
to continuously improve its contribution toward its Corporate social 
responsibility. meaningful community engagement and support is 
encouraged across all our businesses as the Group actively participate 
in community initiatives and commit to making a positive contribution 
at all levels. the Group’s business activities have an impact on all its 
employees, suppliers and contractors, tenants, general public as well as 
on the environment. accordingly, the Group is committed to continuous 
improvement of the Group’s Corporate social responsibility policy. 

For further details on the Group’s Corporate social responsibility and 
employment Policies please refer to pages 56 to 58. 

DIRECTOR’S LIABILITY INSURANCE

the Group has put in place director’s liability insurance during the year.

ANNUAL GENERAL MEETING

the annual General meeting (“aGm”) of the Company will be held on 22 
march 2012 in abu dhabi.

at the aGm, investors will be given the opportunity to question the board 
and to meet with them afterwards. they are encouraged to participate in 
the meeting.

GOING CONCERN

after making enquiries and examining major areas which could have 
significant financial exposure the board of directors is satisfied that no 
material or significant exposure exist and that the Group has adequate 
financial and operational resources to continue its operations for the 
foreseeable future and, accordingly, the Group continues to adopt the 
going concern basis for preparing the financial statements.

AUDITORS

a resolution concerning the re-appointment of deloitte & touche as 
auditors and to determine their remuneration will be proposed at the 
forthcoming annual General meeting.

by order of the board

ali eid almheiri
Chairman

DIRECTORS’  
REPORT
PRINCIPAL ACTIVITIES

aldar Properties PjsC with its subsidiaries and joint ventures, form 
a diversified Group of companies with operations in real estate, hotels 
and hospitality, marinas, golf course, theme parks, education and retail 
sectors. the Group helps to contribute towards the uae’s growing 
demands in economically, environmentally and socially responsible 
ways.

detailed information about the Group’s operational activities is set out in 
the business review section.

MANAGEMENT’S DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS

management’s discussion and analysis of the business performance has 
been set out in the Chairman’s statement, Chief executive’s statement, 
business review and Financial review sections on pages 4 to 41. 

DIVIDENDS

the directors propose a dividend of aed 0.05 per share for the year 
ended 31 december 2011.

SHARE CAPITAL

during the year, the following transactions occurred which increased the 
share capital of the Company to 4,085,129,096 shares:

(a) the Group converted the non-interest bearing convertible bonds 
issued to mubadala development Company into 303,734,868 shares of 
the Company (Please refer note 17 to the financial statements). 

(b) a portion of the mandatorily convertible bonds issued to mubadala 
development Company was converted into 1,203,499,493 shares of 
the Company (Please refer note 18a to the financial statements). the 
new shares were listed on the abu dhabi exchange subsequent to the 
reporting date.

MAJOR SHAREHOLDERS

as at 31 december 2011, top ten shareholders or affiliated persons 
known by the Group to beneficially own the shares of the Group were:

name of the shareholder number of shares

mubadala development Company 2,001,713,257*

abu dhabi investment Company 161,357,772

national bank of abu dhabi 143,063,634

tasameem real estate Company llC 89,137,000

abu dhabi retirement Pensions and benefits Fund 86,250,000

hsbC bank Plc 65,164,997

hsbC Private bank suisse sa, Geneva 43,416,476

mohammad naser al hajri 36,061,800

national Corporation for tourism & hotels 25,396,020

sheikh nahyan bin Zayed bin sultan al nahyan 22,672,734

total 2,674,233,690

* includes 1,203,499,493 shares which were listed on Abu Dhabi 
Exchange on 2 January 2012.

the Government of abu dhabi has an indirect shareholding of 
approximately 61.4 percent in aldar through mubadala development 
Company, abu dhabi investment Company, national bank of abu 
dhabi, abu dhabi retirement Pension and benefits Fund and 
national Corporation for tourism and hotels and other Government 
organisations.

SHARE PERFORMANCE

Closing share price on 29 december 2011 aed 0.92 per share

market capitalisation aed 3.8 billion

Proposed dividend for the year ended 31 
december 2011

aed 0.05 per share

FINANCING

information on the Group’s financing policy is set out in the Financing 
section on page 42.

RISK MANAGEMENT

Key risks and uncertainties facing the business have been set out in the 
risk management section on pages 43 to 47.
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BOARD COMMITTEES

in addition to the requirements of article 6 of the sCa Code defining the 
mandatory and permanent committees, the board has established the 
following committees:

• audit Committee (mandatory)

• nomination and remuneration Committee (mandatory)

• investment Committee 

audit Committee

the audit Committee’s primary role is to provide objective review and 
advice to the board on its oversight responsibility in relation to the:

•  integrity over the accounts and financial reporting process;

•  independence, competency, performance and remuneration of the 
external auditors;

•  effectiveness and efficiency of the internal control systems;

•  Competency and performance of the internal Control function; and

•  Compliance to regulatory requirements including internal policies 
and procedures and other corporate governance activities.

in 2011, the audit Committee was reconstituted following the election 
of a new board at the aGm on 21st april 2011 the current composition 
of the Committee is mansour mohamed al mulla as Chairman, Khalifa 
sultan al suwaidi and saeed mohamed al mazrouei.

nomination and remuneration Committee

the nomination and remuneration Committee is tasked with:

•  verifying the on-going independence of independent members of the 
board of directors. 

•  developing and annually reviewing the remuneration policies of the 
Group.

•  determining the required core executive management and senior 
employees and the basis for choosing them.

•  developing, controlling, applying and annually reviewing the human 
resources and training policy of the Group. 

•  implementing the procedures for nomination to the membership of 
the board of directors.

Following the election of a new board at the aGm, the nomination and 
remuneration Committee was reconstituted. the new Committee 
members comprised Carlos Obeid, Chairman, sultan ahmed al jaber 
and mansour mohamed al mulla. 

investment Committee

the investment Committee is responsible for the review and approval 
or recommendation to the board on its evaluation of projects at their 
various stages throughout the development cycle in accordance with 
the developmental control process (dCP) to ensure the projects are 
consistent with the Group’s strategies and goals.

the current members of the investment Committee comprise Carlos 
Obeid, Chairman, sultan ahmed al jaber and mansour mohamed al 
mulla. 

all the Committees continue to be comprised of non-executive and 
independent members of the board and met regularly during the year 
and discharged their activities as outlined in their Charters. 

ExECUTIVE MANAGEMENT

to oversee the day to day financial and operational performance of the 
Group and assist the board in discharging its oversight responsibility, 
key management committees have been established: 

• executive management team

• tender Committees a & b

• risk management Committee

• Commercial Committee

• enterprise information security Committee

• Communication and integration Group Committee

• special Cases Committee

each of the various committees are governed by their respective 
Charter which outlines their appointment, composition, authorities, 
responsibilities, selection and function of the Chairman and how they 
operate as well as reporting and evaluation of their performance 
annually. 

ExECUTIVE MANAGEMENT TEAM

while matters relating in particular to Group’s strategies, policies and 
business plan require the board’s direction and approval, the day-to-day 
business operations in accordance with the laid down strategies are 
delegated to the executive management team under the Chief executive 
Officer’s leadership and supervision. the current members comprise 
sami asad as the Chief executive Officer, mohammed al mubarak as 
deputy CeO, Greg Fewer appointed by the board as Chief Financial 
Officer in place of shafqat malik who resigned from his post effective 
31st October 2011, and brett scrymgeour, head of legal appointed on 
15th january 2012. 

CORPORATE  
GOVERNANCE
the board of directors (board) is committed to adopt the best standards 
of Corporate Governance for the best interests of the shareholders of 
the Group and its other stakeholders. the board and management of 
the Group believe high standards in Corporate Governance enhance the 
Group’s performance, transparency, responsibility, accountability and 
maintenance of full compliance with laws, rules and regulations that 
govern over the Group’s operations. 

the Group’s Corporate Governance procedures are founded on the 
principles of exemplary ethical standards and transparency which: 

•  Put the interests of the Group before those of individual directors, 
executive managers or employees so that decision making is made 
ethically and without conflict of interest;

•  ensure that the management of the Group acts transparently and 
responsibly to add value for the benefit of all of its stakeholders but 
within guidelines approved by the board;

•  attract investors to become and remain shareholders in the Group, 
and lenders to finance the Group’s operations;

•  recognise the role which the Group performs within the emirate of 
abu dhabi and the Group’s community and social obligations; and 

•  ensure compliance with the Group’s legal and regulatory obligations. 

the Group operates under the Corporate Governance Framework as 
depicted below:

THE BOARD OF DIRECTORS

the board is responsible for setting and directing the strategy, effective 
control and management of the Group. it oversees the adequacy 
and effectiveness of corporate governance and internal controls and 
approves the Group’s budget, quarterly and annual accounts. the 
board’s Charter clarifies its role and responsibilities in its mandate to 
provide strategic guidance for the Group and effective oversight of its 
management and operations. the board Charter outlines the standards 
of conduct required of directors, establishes a policy addressing 
director conflicts of interest and details the functioning of the board as 
a whole.

the current board of directors of aldar as defined in article 1 of the 
emirates securities and Commodities authority ministerial resolution 
no. (518) of 2009 Concerning Governance rules and Corporate discipline 
standards (sCa Code) were elected by the shareholders of aldar for a 
term of 3 years at the General assembly of shareholders held on 21st 
april 2011 in accordance with the procedures set out in aldar’s articles 
of association and sCa Code. the board comprises ali eid almheiri as 
Chairman, supported by sultan ahmed al jaber, Khalifa sultan  
al suwaidi, Carlos Obeid, mansour mohamed al mulla, saeed mohamed  
al mazrouei and martin lee edelman. 

all the directors are non-executive and independent except for  
mr. martin lee edelman who is deemed non-independent as per 
provisions stipulated in article 1 of the sCa Code. 

Copies of biographies showing their qualifications and other board 
and significant Government positions are set in pages 48 and 49 of this 
report. 

the board met regularly during the year and monitored the Group’s 
strategy, reviewed performance, ensured adequate funding and 
examined major development projects, formulated policy on key issues, 
approved and reported to the shareholders the quarterly and annual 
accounts. 

emirates securities & Commodities authority (sCa), abu dhabi exchange (adx)

shareholders

Executive Management

Board of Directors

audit Committee
nomination & 
remuneration 

Committee

investment 
Committee

internal Control

external auditors
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their work. the Committee has considered the provision of non-audit 
services performed by the auditors and was satisfied they were and 
continue to be objective and independent of the Group. 

the external auditor attends and presents to the audit Committee 
the results of quarterly reviews and the annual audit of the accounts. 
in addition, they also attend the General assembly meeting and are 
available to answer questions.

CODE OF BUSINESS CONDUCT

the Group operates under a Code of business Conduct which identifies 
the ethical parameters within which the Group’s businesses must 
operate. it applies to all Group employees, consultants, contractors, 
suppliers and all other parties with whom the Group conducts business. 

TRADING IN SECURITIES OF THE COMPANY 

the Company has established a policy governing when directors and 
employees can trade in securities of the Company. this policy has been 
circulated to all directors and staff and designed to eliminate insider 
trading and other unethical share trading practices.

COMPLIANCE wITH SCA CODE

in 2011, the board and the executive management reviewed the Group’s 
Corporate Governance adopted procedures and structures and where 
appropriate amended them to ensure full compliance with the sCa 
Code. the board is satisfied that the Group fully complied with the  
sCa Code.

CORPORATE  
GOVERNANCE (continued)

INTERNAL CONTROL

in accordance with sCa Code article 8 concerning internal Control, the 
board has the overall responsibility to maintain a sound and effective 
internal control system for the Group and to review their effectiveness 
to safeguard shareholders’ investment and aldar’s assets. to this end, 
an internal control and risk management system has been established 
to provide reasonable, though not absolute, assurance against material 
misstatement or loss, and manage or mitigate rather than eliminate 
risks of failure to achieve business objectives.

the internal control system aims to assess the:

•  Company’s risk management means and measures;

•  sound application of governance rules; 

•  verification of compliance with applicable laws, regulations and 
resolutions as well as internal policies and procedures; and

•  controls over the financial information used for drafting the financial 
statements.

aldar’s board has overall responsibility in relation to the Group’s 
internal control systems. aldar’s internal Control department (iCd 
or the department) carries out the internal control activities under 
the supervision of the audit Committee and direction of the board of 
directors. 

the board has defined the objectives, duties and powers of the iCd 
as outlined in the department’s charter. the board through the 
audit Committee ensures that an annual review is conducted on the 
effectiveness of the Group’s internal controls systems. the annual 
review and assessment of internal controls are carried out through 
the work performed by the department’s reviews and the Compliance 
Officer in addition to the financial statements audit conducted by the 
external auditors.

iCd’s primary responsibility is to review the effectiveness of the internal 
controls within the Group through a schedule of reviews (annual Plan) 
of several of the Group’s processes approved by the audit Committee. 
the annual Plan is developed through the prioritisation of the Group’s 
processes based on an annual risk assessment exercise. the execution 
of the Plan provides an annual assessment on the adequacy and 
effectiveness of the Group’s key processes controlling its activities 
and managing its key risks. it also serves the purpose of fulfilling 
the board’s responsibility in relation to ensuring the efficiency of the 
internal control system as defined by article 8 of the sCa Code.

to ensure a proper degree of independence in carrying out its mandate, 
the head of the department has direct access to the board, functionally 
reports to the audit Committee and administratively to the Chief 
executive Officer. the department is headed by haider najim who 
is a Certified Public accountant and Certified internal auditor. he is 
an auditor by profession with over 14 years of experience providing 
assurance and advisory services to companies mostly in construction 
and financial services sectors.

a report is prepared at the end of every iCd engagement and issued 
to the party under review and circulated to the Chairman of the board, 
executive management, and all the audit Committee members. the 
audit Committee receives on a quarterly basis an update on the progress 
to the Plan and a summary of the issues highlighted in the reports 
circulated during that quarter by the department. 

the Group’s executive management is responsible for developing 
effective internal controls. internal controls cover all aspects of the 
Group’s operations, methods and activities including: 

•  a comprehensive system of reporting, budgeting and planning, that is 
approved by the board and against which performance is monitored;

•  an organisational structure with clearly defined levels of authority 
and divisions of responsibilities;

•  a code of business conduct under which the Group’s business must 
operate;

•  an annual performance appraisal process for monitoring the quality 
and competencies of the Group’s personnel;

•  Procedures to ensure complete and accurate accounting and to limit 
the potential exposure to loss of assets or fraud; and

•  robust policy and procedures, whilst recognising that such a system 
is designed to manage rather than eliminate the risk of failure to 
achieve business objectives, and can provide reasonable but not 
absolute assurance against material misstatement or loss.

ExTERNAL AUDIT 

in 2011, deloitte & touche (d&t) acted as the external auditor of the 
Group. the primary service provided by d&t was to conduct quarterly 
reviews and an annual audit of the Group’s accounts in accordance with 
the international standards on auditing.

the audit Committee meets with the external auditors to review and 
discuss with them the scope, quality, effectiveness and conclusions of 
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CORPORATE  
RESPONSIBILITY 
the Group continues to be committed to conduct business in a 
socially responsible manner, through ensuring the health and safety 
of our employees, protecting the environment and through effective 
engagement with all of our stakeholders. the Group’s comprehensive 
Corporate responsibility policies are managed through a transparent 
governance structure which includes full support from the board of 
directors to individual employees. Key Cr issues are discussed in the 
day-to-day planning processes of the Group’s activities and are reviewed 
by top management in order to maintain our responsible business 
performance. the Group is committed to producing Cr reports; with our 
next reporting date scheduled for june 2013 as per aldar’s obligation to 
abu dhabi sustainability Group (adsG). the Group is a member of the 
General secretariat of the adsG, and has been successfully re-elected 
for a second term running to 2013.

Given the physical and social effect of our work, particularly our 
developments, it is important that the Group takes into consideration the 
views of the communities affected by its actions. Keeping good and open 
relationships with all stakeholders remains a central principle behind 
our approach.

a primary stakeholder in the work that we do is the abu dhabi urban 
Planning Council which oversees urban master-planning, addressing 
sustainability as a core principle through their estidama programme. 
estidama, which means sustainability in arabic, is the legacy of the late 
sheikh Zayed bin sultan al nahyan and is a manifestation of visionary 
governance promoting responsible development.

estidama is not just a rating method or something people do, it is 
a vision and a desire to achieve a new sustainable way of life in the 
arab world. the ultimate goal of estidama is to preserve and enrich 
abu dhabi’s physical and cultural identity, while creating an always 
improving quality of life for its residents on four equal pillars of 
sustainability: environmental, economic, social, and cultural. this 
touches all aspects of life in abu dhabi - the way we build, the way we 
resource, the way we live, the choices we make - all in an effort to attain 
a sustainable state of living.

uPC has introduced a suite of Pearl rating systems (Prss) to promote 
the development of sustainable buildings, communities and villas, 
and improve quality of life. achievement of a sustainable outcome 
requires the integration of the four pillars of estidama together with a 
collaborative and inter-disciplinary approach to building development 
known as the integrated development Process. the Prss encourage 
water, energy and waste minimization, local material use and aim 
to improve supply chains for sustainable and recycled materials and 
products. ratings run from 1-Pearl to 5-Pearls with the higher rating 
attaining a greater sustainable credits score. aldar is currently building 
a number of developments, successfully incorporating the estidama 
principles and mandates.  

CORPORATE RESPONSIBILITY (CR)

POLICY STATEMENT

the Group is responsible for creating, owning and maintaining 
communities and associated infrastructure for the long term benefit 

of the emirate of abu dhabi, in line with Plan abu dhabi 2030 and Plan 
al ain 2030. through its business activities, aldar is striving to be fully 
aligned with the vision of h.h. sheikh Khalifa bin Zayed al nahyan, 
President of the united arab emirates and the mission of the abu dhabi 
Government to establish abu dhabi as a sustainable arab Capital City.

to support this goal aldar, as the major property company in the 
emirate of abu dhabi, understands its responsibility and is committed 
to creating attractive, modern, and efficient and sustainably built 
environmental communities to high quality standards that balance the 
needs and wellbeing of users with the sustainability of the environment, 
whilst maintaining the unique heritage and culture of the uae.

the Group will aspire to achieve this through adopting the principles of 
sustainable management practices, including:

• the judicious use of natural resources across the whole life of 
a development from planning, design, construction, and asset 
management.

• identification, recognition and understanding the needs of all our 
stakeholders.

• implementation of management systems that foster continuous 
improvement, effective decision making, and responsible risk 
management.

• Constant evaluation, and where appropriate, incorporate the use of 
innovative technical solutions.

• Corporate governance framework that will seek to disclose 
information openly and transparently beyond legal requirements.

• Corporate responsibility reporting with commentary and clarification 
of our methods in responsible management.

• application of ethical business practices founded on the principles of 
honesty and trust.

• Commit to the provision of a good working environment that promotes 
wellbeing, equity, dignity and respect across diverse cultures.

• Promotion of the highest standards of health, safety and security for 
aldar employees and all who work on our behalf, as well as to other 
users of our facilities (residents and visitors).

• directing our supply chain to continually improve their responsible 
business performance and support for the local economy.

• raising awareness and understanding amongst our stakeholders with 
respect to the protection of culture, heritage, and ecology.

• Creating a balance between development needs, effective conservation 
of nature and enhancement of the local ecology.

• acknowledgement that climate change presents very serious global 
risks that require our active response.

the success and implementation of this statement relies on the 

leadership of the Group’s executive management team (emt) and 
employees alike.

the Group’s approach to its Corporate responsibility is based upon 
People, Community, health, safety, security and environment.

PEOPLE

the resilience of the Group’s business depends on a range of 
stakeholders, including its employees, customers and, suppliers and 
contractors.

A.EMPLOYEES 

the Group has around 1062 employees from more than 46 countries. 
Our goals are to recruit and retain the most motivated and talented 
people, and to build successful teams. the Group aims to do this by 
creating a stimulating work environment where diverse backgrounds are 
valued, talents are nurtured, and work and family commitments can be 
balanced. the Group offers attractive incentives and career development 
opportunities to keep its employees engaged and motivated.

despite the changing market conditions and having to respond decisively 
by taking business decisions to address staff numbers, the Group 
still focuses on leadership and development to retain its most gifted 
employees. the Group is committed to providing equal Opportunities 
in employment regardless of age, sex, marital status, disability, colour, 
race, nationality or ethnic or national origin. this applies to recruitment, 
training, promotion and all other aspects of ethical employment norms.

everyone associated with the Group, whether an employee or not, must 
behave in accordance with the principles set out in the equal Opportunity 
Policy in order to ensure that it is observed and implemented. any 
act of discrimination, which includes harassment of any sort, is 
viewed extremely seriously by the Group and will constitute a serious 
disciplinary offence which may lead to dismissal. the Group always 
seeks to uphold its values and to treat people with respect, integrity and 
fairness.

B. STAFF ACTIVITIES 

the Group organises various activities and events every year for its staff 
to enhance interaction between different teams and enabling colleagues 
to socialise with each other outside the workplace. during 2011, the 
Group organised dragon boat racing, golf and football tournaments, plus 
several other events for its staff.

C. CUSTOMERS

the Group is committed to develop and maintain excellent and long 
lasting relations with its customers. the Group’s aim is to provide 
innovative projects and class leading services for its customers in the 
real estate, hotels and hospitality, schools and leisure sectors. the 
Group has a firm belief that high quality customer service is a key 
competitive advantage which elevates aldar above its competitors. an 
example of this is aldar’s COnneCt community portal which allows our 
customers to engage inter-actively with aldar, their neighbours and the 
local businesses that serve them.  

D. CONTRACTORS AND SUPPLIERS

the Group strives to conduct its business in a manner that reflects its 
vision and brand essence. with the procurement base expanding, the 
Group only engages contractors, service providers and suppliers who 
are committed to a long-term relationship of mutual growth and trust. 
it is the responsibility of all suppliers and contractors to make sure 
that the principles on which the aldar vision and brand is founded are 
adhered to. the Group has launched the “supplier relations home 

page” with the objective of providing potential suppliers with an online 
platform to register with us.

the Group has a passion to protect the environment, selecting suppliers 
and contractors who share this ethos, working in full compliance with all 
relevant environmental codes and guidelines.

the Group also expects the highest standards of integrity and conduct 
from its suppliers in all business relationships. unethical behaviour of 
any sort encountered during the course of business is referred to the 
Group’s top management immediately.
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COMMUNITY
the Group recognises its social 
responsibilities and strives 
to continuously improve its 
performance in the areas 
of health, safety, security, 
environment protection and 
community activity. this is a focus 
across all of our businesses 
as the Group participates in 
community initiatives and 
commits to making a positive 
contribution at all levels. the 
Group seeks opportunities 
to share its experiences with 
the communities in which it 
operates, and acknowledges 
the unique values of local 
community partnership based on 
mutual respect and long-term 
commitment.

during the year the Group, 
through its staff, supported a 
number of community events, 
such as:

box appeal 2011: in support of 
construction workers this appeal 
asks donors to give a small box 
packed with daily essentials such 
as comb, toothpaste, toothbrush, 
cap, t-shirt etc. some 10,000 
boxes were donated and aldar 
Group staff played their part in 
this worthy campaign.

women’s breast health 
awareness: On 28 October 
2011 aldar staff wore pink to 
support and raise money for this 
campaign. a cookie/cupcake bake 
sale added further funds and 
raised a smile during the busy 
workday. 

movember – changing the face of 
men’s health: a number of staff, 
the aldar mobros, supported 
this international awareness 
campaign by growing moustaches 
within the month of november. 
Prizes were awarded for the 
most stylish and well groomed 
moustache. internationally the 
campaign raised vital funds 
for men’s health – specifically 
prostate cancer – achieving a 
total of nearly aed 456,000,000 
globally.

climb for cancer: aldar staff 
rallied to support their colleague 
Zeina abdo in her himalaya island 
Peak mission – climbing to a 
challenging 6,198m. with other 
volunteers this Climb for Cancer 
event targeted over us$ 200,000 
of funding support for the King 
hussein Cancer Centre, jordan. 

community lectures: the 
aldar Group organized a 
series of Community lectures 
to reflect its support to abu 
dhabi sustainability Group. 
distinguished speakers 
included sheikh abdul aziz 
bin ali al nuaimi (the Green 
sheikh), robert swan Obe 
(double Polar explorer) and 
michael braungart (visionary 
environmental thinker). the 
theme of these lectures ranged 
from environmental conservation 
and culture in the local context, 
to polar zone preservation, and 
cradle to cradle living principles. 
throughout these presentations 
the importance of vision, 
leadership and commitment were 
stressed.

sustainable schools initiative: 
in 2011 aldar academies joined 
this important programme 
which is championed by 
environment agency abu dhabi. 
this programme mandates 
participating schools to assess 
and address their environmental 
performance across five key 
areas – air, water, land, energy 
and waste. each year awards and 
prizes are distributed to the best 
performing schools.

make uae Plastic bag free: 
aligning with the uae ministry 
of environment and water, 
and environment agency abu 
dhabi, all aldar hQ staff were 
presented with a re-usable long 
life shopping bag to support 
the reduction in use of “throw-
away” non-degradable plastic 
bags which are blighting the 
environment. 

Paperless day: this is a 
global initiative organized 

by environment agency abu 
dhabi and supported by the 
united nations. On this day 
aldar committed to cease all 
unnecessary use of paper and 
to make better paper related 
decisions, savings hundreds of 
kilograms in carbon emissions. 
Collectively the organizations and 
schools that took part saved 9,863 
Kgs of CO2.

earth hour 2011: hundreds of 
millions of people, businesses 
and Governments around the 
world unite each year to support 
the largest environmental event 
in history – earth hour. in 2011 
more than 5,200 cities in 135 
countries worldwide switched 
off their lights for earth hour, 
on the last saturday in march, 
between 8:30pm – 9:30pm in their 
local time zones. iconic aldar 
built structures including hQ and 
Yas hotel participated and now 
feature in the earth hour 2012 
campaign video.

turtle rescue: the Group 
continued its support throughout 
2011 for the turtle rehabilitation 
Centre based at burl al arab 
hotel, dubai. aldar is a focal point 
of contact within abu dhabi for 
people encountering distressed 
and injured turtles. we were 
very pleased to participate in two 
“mass releases” of rehabilitated 
turtles during the year – showing 
that our care and commitment 
within aldar does make a real 
difference. 

start initiative: in support 
of masdar’s roadmap for 
sustainability, the start initiative 
is an employee engagement 
campaign showing that change 
happens at an individual level 
for better decision making and 
environmentally conscientious 
lifestyle. the primary components 
for change include water, energy, 
waste and transport. aldar Group 
continues to roll the campaign out 
across its businesses.

fight diabetes: in november 
2011 aldar Group staff took part 

in the walk for life at Yas marina 
Formula 1 Circuit, which was 
organised by the imperial College 
london diabetes Centre under 
the patronage of her highness 
sheikha Fatima bint mubarak. 
Over 16,000 people attended this 
important health awareness event 
for abu dhabi with the message 
for all to take charge of their 
lifestyle by embracing a healthy 
diet and taking regular exercise to 
prevent diabetes.

blood bank drives: aldar joined 
with sheikh Khalifa medical 
City and planned a blood donor 
drive around world blood donor 
day which fell on 14 june 2011. 
aldar arranged donor days at 
hQ, Yas island Project Offices, 
Yas Plaza hotels, Gardens Plaza 
arG, al bandar, Yas Operative 
villages and the Yas hotel. the 
participation of caring individuals 
made this drive a great success 
with blood donations approaching 
250 units.

ENVIRONMENT, 
HEALTH, 
SAFETY AND 
SECURITY 
(EHSS)
in 2011 aldar maintained its dedicatiOn 
tO PrOViding a safe wOrking 
enVirOnment fOr its emPlOyees and 
all thOse whO wOrk On its behalf. On 
aVerage the business had 68,759 staff 
On site daily and the tOtal man hOurs 
wOrked was 204,560,593 during the year. 

accordingly, proactive 
environmental health, safety and 
security (ehss) management 
continues to be absolutely 
intrinsic to everything we do 
and is integrated into our core 
business activities. to ensure 
adherence to high standards, 
aldar’s Corporate ehss 
department conducts a rigorous 
in-house audit and inspection 
programme. through this 
programme our aim is to maintain 
breaches of regulations at a zero 
level, and we actively encourage 
an open dialogue policy in our 
dealings with all regulatory 
agencies.

Our responsible stakeholder 
liaison activities also led us to 
engage dynamically, through 
our development projects, in 

processes to protect and preserve 
the environment including 
habitats and species native to 
the emirate of abu dhabi. an 
example of this is our attention 
to the preservation of native 
plants such as mangroves, which 
play a crucial role as breeding, 
nursery and feeding areas for 
a great variety of life, including 
endangered and threatened 
species. mangroves also support 
coastal stabilisation, marine 
water purification and act as a 
“blue Carbon” sink plantation.
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INDEPENDENT 
AUDITOR’S REPORT
tO the sharehOlders Of aldar PrOPerties PJsc abu dhabi, u.a.e.
report on the consolidated 
financial statements

we have audited the 
accompanying consolidated 
financial statements of 
aldar Properties PjsC (the 
“Company”) and its subsidiaries 
(together the “Group”), which 
comprise the consolidated 
statement of financial position 
as at 31 december 2011, 
and the consolidated income 
statement, consolidated 
statement of comprehensive 
income, consolidated statement 
of changes in equity and 
consolidated statement of cash 
flows for the year then ended, 
and a summary of significant 
accounting policies and other 
explanatory information. 

management’s responsibility 
for the consolidated financial 
statements

management is responsible 
for the preparation and 
fair presentation of these 
consolidated financial statements 
in accordance with international 
Financial reporting standards, 
and for such internal control 
as management determines 
is necessary to enable the 
preparation of consolidated 
financial statements that are free 
from material misstatement, 
whether due to fraud or error.

auditor’s responsibility

Our responsibility is to express 
an opinion on these consolidated 

financial statements based on 
our audit. we conducted our audit 
in accordance with international 
standards on auditing. those 
standards require that we comply 
with ethical requirements and 
plan and perform the audit to 
obtain reasonable assurance 
whether the consolidated 
financial statements are free from 
material misstatement. 

an audit involves performing 
procedures to obtain audit 
evidence about the amounts and 
disclosures in the consolidated 
financial statements. the 
procedures selected depend 
on the auditor’s judgment, 
including the assessment of the 
risks of material misstatement 
of the consolidated financial 
statements, whether due to 
fraud or error. in making those 
risk assessments, the auditor 
considers internal control 
relevant to the entity’s preparation 
and fair presentation of the 
consolidated financial statements 
in order to design audit 
procedures that are appropriate 
in the circumstances, but not 
for the purpose of expressing an 
opinion on the effectiveness of 
the entity’s internal control. an 
audit also includes evaluating 
the appropriateness of 
accounting policies used and the 
reasonableness of accounting 
estimates made by management, 
as well as evaluating the overall 
presentation of the consolidated 
financial statements. 

we believe that the audit evidence 

we have obtained is sufficient and 
appropriate to provide a basis for 
our audit opinion.

Opinion

in our opinion, the consolidated 
financial statements present 
fairly, in all material respects the 
financial position of the Group 
as of 31 december 2011, and of 
its financial performance and its 
cash flows for the year then ended 
in accordance with international 
Financial reporting standards. 

report on other legal and 
regulatory requirements

also, in our opinion, proper books 
of account are maintained by 
the Company, and the financial 
information included in the 
board of directors’ report is in 
agreement with the books of 
account. we have obtained all 
the information and explanations 
which we considered necessary 
for the purpose of our audit. 
according to the information 
available to us, there were no 
contraventions of the uae Federal 
Commercial Companies law 
no. (8) of 1984 (as amended) or 
the articles of association of the 
Company which might have a 
material effect on the financial 
position of the Company or on the 
results of its operations for the 
year.

deloitte & touche (m.e.)
saba Y. sindaha
registration number 410
13 February 2012

HSSE POLICY  
STATEMENT 
aldar is committed to the 
continuous improvement of 
ehss performance to achieve 
the greatest benefit for all 
our stakeholders. it is the 
Group policy to meet or where 
reasonably practicable exceed 
local or applicable ehss laws 
and regulations, and to facilitate 
full and open discussion to 
address responsible standards 
and practices where laws 
and regulations do not exist. 
accordingly, this ehss Policy is 
a standard by which the Group is 
continually measured.

Goals of the Group under this 
policy are as follows:

Operations: make ehss a core 
component in the planning, 
design, construction and 
operation of all our facilities, 
including the integration of 
physical risk management into 
our business decisions.

establish a system for total 
employee involvement in ehss 
processes and the means to 
measure that participation.

Communications: Promote 
ehss awareness among all who 
work on our behalf and in the 
communities where we operate.

Cooperate and coordinate, in the 
spirit of partnership, with local, 
state and federal authorities 
and other stakeholders on ehss 
matters and incidents.

evaluation: incorporate ehss ‘Key 
Performance indicators’ into our 
management reporting systems. 

recognise ehss excellence as a 
component of the performance 
review process for each employee.

Perform ehss compliance audits 
at a frequency appropriate to the 
size and nature of the operations 
and facilities, and implement 
time-bound corrective actions.

evaluate ehss incidents through 
the identification of root cause 
and implementing short and long 
term corrective actions.

responsibility: each employee 
is responsible for compliance 
with this ehss policy and for 
implementation within his or her 
area of work.

the leadership of each 
business unit is responsible 
for implementing management 
systems with appropriate 
standards and procedures in 
support of this ehss policy.
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CONSOLIDATED 
STATEMENT OF 
FINANCIAL POSITION 
as at 31 december 2011

assets

notes 2011
aed’000

2010
aed’000

 non-current assets

Property, plant and equipment 5 4,866,346 6,675,138

intangible assets 6 7,954 24,664

investment properties 7 6,000,675 8,293,830

investment in associates and joint 
ventures

8 647,118 542,647

available-for-sale financial assets 9 170,658 144,590

trade and other receivables 10 7,172,531 3,546,094

Other financial assets - 1,379

total non-current assets 18,865,282 19,228,342

current assets

assets held for sale 30(b) - 5,931,847

development work in progress 11 7,133,911 13,877,865

inventories 12 4,719,722 422,054

trade and other receivables 10 5,241,319 5,452,541

Cash and bank balances 13 4,157,680 2,431,533

total current assets 21,252,632 28,115,840

total assets 40,117,914 47,344,182

equity and liabilities

notes 2011
aed’000

2010
aed’000

capital and reserves

share capital 14 4,085,129 2,577,895

share premium 15 7,984,873 3,823,173

share issuance costs, net 14 (79,920) (79,920)

statutory reserve 16 876,319 812,070

hedging reserve (52,968) (98,186)

Fair value reserve 34,630 (18,500)

Convertible bonds – equity component - 181,293

non-interest bearing convertible bonds 17 - 3,562,810

accumulated losses (5,754,488) (6,513,959)

attributable to owners of the Company 7,093,575 4,246,676

non-controlling interests - 109

total equity 7,093,575 4,246,785

non-current liabilities

Convertible bonds – liability component 18 693,876 -

non-convertible bonds 19 8,329,781 8,320,444

borrowings 20 4,117,502 9,440,619

retentions payable 1,486,290 1,437,878

Provision for end of service benefit 21 46,981 48,744

security deposits 1,998 26,279

Other financial liabilities 36,408 26,321

total non-current liabilities 14,712,836 19,300,285

current liabilities

Convertible bonds – liability component 18 31,177 4,338,320

borrowings 20 5,080,133 10,472,532

advances from customers 22 4,740,002 2,687,581

trade and other payables 23 8,460,191 6,171,089

Other financial liabilities - 127,590

total current liabilities 18,311,503 23,797,112

total liabilities 33,024,339 43,097,397

total equity and liabilities 40,117,914 47,344,182

ali eid almheiri  
chairman

sami asad 
chief executive Officer

greg fewer 
chief financial Officer

the accompanying notes form an integral part of these consolidated financial statements.

the accompanying notes form an integral part of these consolidated financial statements.
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STATEMENT 
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CONSOLIDATED 
STATEMENT OF 
COMPREHENSIVE 
INCOME
fOr the year ended 31 december 2011

notes 2011
aed’000

2010
aed’000

revenue 24 6,742,590 1,791,107

direct costs 25 (5,097,065) (1,503,010)

Gross profit 1,645,525 288,097

selling and marketing expenses 26 (35,486) (83,440)

General and administrative expenses:

staff costs 27 (243,812) (313,497)

depreciation and amortisation (590,263) (514,125)

Pre-opening expenses of operational businesses (3,441) (80,608)

impairments/write-offs on projects (1,822,367) (2,898,393)

loss on cancellation of sales 10.1 (40,047) (804,750)

Provision for impairment of trade receivables 10.1 - (605,106)

Provision for impairment of receivables from/ 
investment in associates and joint ventures

10.5 (174,126) -

Provision for impairment of amounts due from a  
related party

10.6 (201,025) -

Provision for onerous contracts 23 (252,005) -

Other general and administrative expenses (132,002) (187,389)

share of profit/(loss) from associates and joint ventures 8 102,387 (27,584)

Fair value loss on investment properties 7 (540,732) (6,992,427)

impairment loss on available-for-sale financial assets 9 (38,500) -

Finance income 28 122,347 262,804

Finance costs 29 (1,104,473) (717,792)

Other income 30 3,950,511 15,796

Profit/(loss) for the year 642,491 (12,658,414)

Profit/(loss) for the year attributable to owners of the 
company 

642,491 (12,658,414)

earnings/(loss) per share 

aed per share

basic 31 0.15 (4.39)

diluted 31 0.15 (4.39)

2011
aed’000

2010
aed’000

Profit/(loss) for the year 642,491 (12,658,414)

Other comprehensive income

Gain/(loss) on fair valuation of available-for-sale financial 
assets

34,630 (18,500)

impairment loss on available-for-sale financial assets 
transferred to profit or loss

18,500 -

hedging losses transferred to carrying amounts of hedged 
items

47,981 255,821

hedging losses recognised in profit or loss 12,598 75,130

Changes in fair value of cash flow hedges (15,361) (63,478)

directors’ remuneration - (15,400)

98,348 233,573

total comprehensive income/(loss) for the year 740,839 (12,424,841)

total comprehensive income/(loss) for the year 
attributable to owners of the company 

740,839 (12,424,841)

the accompanying notes form an integral part of these consolidated financial statements.

the accompanying notes form an integral part of these consolidated financial statements.
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CONSOLIDATED 
STATEMENT OF 
CASH FLOwS
fOr the year ended 31 december 2011
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aed’000 aed’000 aed’000 aed’000 aed’000 aed’000 aed’000 aed’000 aed’000 aed’000 aed’000 aed’000

balance at 1 
january 2010 

2,577,895 3,823,173 (79,920) 812,070 (365,659) - 181,293 3,562,810 6,288,750 16,800,412 109 16,800,521

loss for the year - - - - - - - - (12,658,414) (12,658,414) - (12,658,414)

Other 
comprehensive loss 

- - - - 267,473 (18,500) - - (15,400) 233,573 - 233,573

dividend for the 
year 2009

- - - - - - - - (128,895) (128,895) - (128,895)

balance at 1 
January 2011 

2,577,895 3,823,173 (79,920) 812,070 (98,186) (18,500) 181,293 3,562,810 (6,513,959) 4,246,676 109 4,246,785

Profit for the year - - - - - - - - 642,491 642,491 - 642,491

Other 
comprehensive 
income

- - - - 45,218 53,130 - - - 98,348 - 98,348

Conversion of bonds 
into shares

17 303,735 3,259,075 - - - - - (3,562,810) - - - -

issue of new shares 14 1,203,499 902,625 - - - - - - - 2,106,124 - 2,106,124

Purchase of non-
controlling interests

- - - - - - - - (64) (64) (109) (173)

equity component 
of convertible bonds 
transferred to 
retained earnings 
upon maturity

- - - - - - (181,293) - 181,293 - - -

transfer to statutory 
reserve

16 - - - 64,249 - - - - (64,249) - - -

balance at 31 
december 2011

4,085,129 7,984,873 (79,920) 876,319 (52,968) 34,630 - - (5,754,488) 7,093,575 - 7,093,575

2011
aed’000

2010
aed’000

cash flows from operating 

activities

Profit/(loss) for the year 642,491 (12,658,414)

adjustments for:

depreciation and amortisation 590,263 514,125

Finance income (122,347) (262,804)

dividend income (5,658) (3,379)

Finance costs 1,071,417 682,056

amortisation of prepaid finance 
costs

33,056 35,736

Gain on sale of assets held for 
sale

(841,934) -

Government grant income (3,100,398) -

impairment loss of available-for-
sale financial assets

38,500 -

Fair value loss on investment 
properties

540,732 6,992,427

share of (profit)/loss from 
associates and joint ventures 

(102,387) 27,584

Provision for onerous contracts 252,005 -

impairments/write-offs on 
projects

1,822,367 2,898,393

Provision for impairment of trade 
receivables/cancellations

40,047 1,409,856

Provision for impairment of amounts 
due from a related party

201,025 -

Provision for impairment of 
receivables from/ investment in  
associates and joint ventures

174,126 -

Gain on disposal of property, plant 
and equipment

(1,344) (181)

exchange gains - (4,328)

Provision for end of service benefit, 
net

431 14,821

Operating cash flows before 

changes in working capital 

1,232,392 (354,108)

the accompanying notes form an integral part of these consolidated financial statements.

the accompanying notes form an integral part of these consolidated financial statements.

changes in working capital:

decrease in trade and other receivables 274,684 763,220

decrease/(increase) in development work 
in progress

823,112 (2,701,688)

decrease/(increase) in inventories 504,789 (320,693)

increase/(decrease) in retentions payable 48,412 (148)

(decrease)/increase in security deposits (24,281) 520

increase in advances from customers 2,052,421 243,318

decrease in trade and other payables (611,278) (345,213)

net cash generated from/(used in) 
operating activities

4,300,251 (2,714,792)
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CONSOLIDATED 
STATEMENT OF 
CASH FLOwS (continued)

fOr the year ended 31 december 2011

2011
aed’000

2010
aed’000

cash flows from investing activities

Payments for purchases of property, plant and equipment (245,123) (1,742,561)

Proceeds from disposal of property, plant and equipment  1,588 567

Payments for purchases of intangible assets  (2,608) (8,846)

additions to investment properties (1,938,832) (2,587,084)

Payments for investment in available-for-sale financial assets (21,438) -

Government grant received for the sale of an asset 998,878 -

Proceeds from disposal of investment in available-for-sale financial assets 5,000 -

Proceeds from disposal of held-for-sale assets 7,412,475 -

Finance income received 75,579 364,026

dividends received  13,908 82,642

movement in term deposits with original maturities above three months 1,121,739 6,082,667

movement in restricted bank balances  (124,946) (216,411)

Payment for purchase of share of non-controlling interest (173) -

net cash generated from investing activities 7,296,047 1,975,000

cash flows from financing activities

issue of convertible bonds 2,800,000 -

Financing raised 2,151,941 4,795,482

repayment of borrowings (7,895,470) (4,293,022)

Finance costs paid (1,590,685) (1,385,537)

Payment on redemption of convertible bonds (4,070,022) -

distribution to convertible bond holders (268,298) (250,843)

dividends paid (824) (125,738)

directors’ remuneration paid - (15,400)

net cash used in from financing activities (8,873,358) (1,275,058)

net increase/(decrease) in cash and cash equivalents 2,722,940 (2,014,850)

Cash and cash equivalents at the beginning of the year 648,236 2,663,086

cash and cash equivalents at the end of the year (note 13) 3,371,176 648,236

the accompanying notes form an integral part of these consolidated financial statements.

NOTES TO THE 
CONSOLIDATED 
FINANCIAL  
STATEMENTS
fOr the year ended 31 december 2011

1 GENERAL INFORMATION 

the establishment of aldar Properties PjsC (the “Company”) was approved by decision no. (16) of 2004 of the abu 
dhabi department of Planning and economy dated 12 October 2004. the Company’s incorporation was declared by 
ministerial resolution no. (59) of 2005 issued by the uae minister of economy dated 23 February 2005. 

the Company is domiciled in the united arab emirates and its registered office address is PO box 51133, abu dhabi.

the Company’s ordinary shares are listed on the abu dhabi securities exchange.

the Company and its subsidiaries (together referred to as “the Group”) are engaged in various businesses primarily 
the development, sales, investment, construction, management and associated services for real estate. in addition, 
the Group is also engaged in development, management and operation of hotels, schools, marinas, golf courses 
and theme parks.

2 ADOPTION OF NEw AND REVISED INTERNATIONAL FINANCIAL  
REPORTING STANDARDS (IFRSs)

international Financial reporting standards include: standards – comprising international Financial reporting 
standards (iFrs) and international accounting standards (ias) and interpretations – comprising explanations 
originated from the international Financial reporting interpretations Committee (iFriC) and standing 
interpretations Committee (siC) as adopted by the international accounting standards board (iasb).

2.1  NEw AND REVISED IFRSs APPLIED AFFECTING PRESENTATION AND DISCLOSURE

the following new and revised standard has been adopted in the current year in these financial statements. details 
of other standards and interpretations adopted but that have had no effect on the financial statements are set out in 
section 2.2.

amendments to ias 24 related Party disclosures modify the definition of a related party and simplify disclosures 
for Government-related entities. the Group has elected to provide comparative information for these disclosures in 
the current year (see note 32).

2.2  NEw AND REVISED IFRSs APPLIED wITH NO MATERIAL EFFECT ON THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

the following new and revised iFrss have been adopted in these financial statements. the application of these new 
and revised iFrss has not had any material impact on the amounts reported for the current and prior years but may 
affect the accounting for future transactions or arrangements.

new and revised ifrss summary of requirement

amendments to iFrs 1 First-time 
adoption of international Financial 
reporting standards – additional 
exemptions for First-time adopters

the amendments give first time adopters 
the same transition provisions that 
amendments to iFrs 7 provides to 
current iFrs preparers.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED 
FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (continued)

fOr the year ended 31 december 2011

2 ADOPTION OF NEw AND REVISED INTERNATIONAL 
FINANCIAL REPORTING STANDARDS (IFRSs) (continued)

2.2  NEw AND REVISED IFRSs APPLIED wITH NO MATERIAL 
EFFECT ON THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (continued)

new and revised ifrss summary of requirements

amendments to iFrs 3 business Combinations the amendments clarify the measurement choice regarding non-
controlling interests at the date of acquisition and regarding the 
accounting for share-based payment awards held by acquiree’s 
employees.

amendments to ias 1 Presentation of Financial statements the amendments to ias 1 clarify that an entity may choose to disclose 
an analysis of other comprehensive income by item in the statement of 
changes in equity or in the notes to the financial statements.

amendment to ias 32 Classification of rights issues the amendments address the classification of certain rights issues 
denominated in a foreign currency as either equity instruments or as 
financial liabilities. under the amendments, rights, options or warrants 
issued by an entity for the holders to acquire a fixed number of the 
entity’s equity instruments for a fixed amount of any currency are 
classified as equity instruments in the financial statements of the entity 
provided that the offer is made pro rata to all of its existing owners of 
the same class of its non-derivative equity instruments.

amendments to iFriC 14 Prepayments of a minimum Funding 
requirement

the amendments address when refunds or reductions in future 
contributions should be regarded as available; how minimum funding 
requirements might affect the availability of reductions in future 
contributions; and when minimum funding requirements might give 
rise to a liability. the amendments now allow recognition of an asset in 
the form of a prepaid minimum funding contribution.

iFriC 19 extinguishing Financial liabilities with equity instruments the interpretation provides guidance on the accounting for the 
extinguishment of a financial liability by the issue of equity instruments.

improvements to iFrss issued in 2010 the application of improvements to iFrss issued in 2010 which 
amended iFrs 7, ias 27, ias 34 and iFriC 13.

2 ADOPTION OF NEw AND REVISED INTERNATIONAL  
FINANCIAL REPORTING STANDARDS (IFRSS) (continued) 

2.3 NEw AND REVISED IFRSs IN ISSUE BUT NOT YET EFFECTIVE

the Company has not applied the following new and revised iFrss that have been issued but are not yet effective:

new and revised ifrss effective for annual periods 
beginning on or after

amendment to iFrs 7 Financial instruments: disclosures, relating to 
disclosures on transfers of Financial assets

1 july 2011

amendment to iFrs 1 removal of Fixed dates for First-time adopters 1 july 2011

amendment to iFrs 1 severe hyperinflation 1 july 2011

amendment to ias 12 income taxes relating to deferred tax – recovery of 
underlying assets

1 january 2012

amendment to ias 1 Presentation of Financial statements relating to 
presentation of items of other comprehensive income

1 july 2012

ias 19 employee benefits (as revised in 2011) 1 january 2013

ias 27 separate Financial statements (as revised in 2011) 1 january 2013

ias 28 investments in associates and joint ventures (as revised in 2011) 1 january 2013

iFrs 9 Financial instruments (as revised in 2010) 1 january 2013

iFrs 10 Consolidated Financial statements 1 january 2013

iFrs 11 joint arrangements 1 january 2013

iFrs 12 disclosure of interests in Other entities 1 january 2013

iFrs 13 Fair value measurement 1 january 2013

amendment to iFrs 7 Financial instruments: disclosures relating to 
offsetting of financial assets and financial liabilities

1 january 2013

iFriC 20 stripping Costs in the Production Phase of a surface mine 1 january 2013

amendment to ias 32 Financial instruments: Presentation relating to 
offsetting of financial assets and financial liabilities

1 january 2014

amendment to iFrs 7 Financial instruments: disclosures relating to 
transition to iFrs 9 (or otherwise when iFrs 9 is first applied)

1 january 2015

management anticipates that these amendments will be adopted in the financial statements for the initial 
period when they become effective. management has not yet had the opportunity to consider the potential 
impact of the adoption of these amendments.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED 
FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (continued)

fOr the year ended 31 december 2011

3 SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES

3.1 STATEMENT OF COMPLIANCE

the consolidated financial statements have been prepared in accordance with international Financial reporting standards (iFrs).

3.2 BASIS OF PREPARATION

the consolidated financial statements have been prepared on the historical cost basis except for the revaluation of investment properties and certain 
financial instruments. the principal accounting policies are set out below.

3.3 BASIS OF CONSOLIDATION

the consolidated financial statements incorporate the financial statements of the Company and entities controlled by the Company (its subsidiaries). 
Control is achieved where the Company has the power to govern the financial and operating policies of an entity so as to obtain benefits from its 
activities.

details of the Company’s subsidiaries at 31 december 2011 are as follows:

name of subsidiary Ownership 
interest

country of 
incorporation

Principal activity

al raha Gardens Property llC 100% uae development, sale and management of properties.

al jimi mall llC 100% uae development and management of investment property.

addar real estate services llC 100% uae Property development.

al raha infrastructure Company llC 100% uae development, sale and management of, and investment in, properties.

aldar academies llC 100% uae investment in, and management of entities providing educational 
services.

aldar Facilities management llC 100% uae investment in, and management of, entities providing facilities 
management services.

aldar Commercial Property developments llC 100% uae Ownership, management and development of buildings.

Farah leisure Parks management llC 100% uae supervise, manage and operate theme parks.

aldar hotels and hospitality llC 100% uae investment in, and management of, entities providing hotels and 
hospitality services.

aldar marinas llC 100% uae managing and operating marinas, sports clubs and marine machinery.

abu dhabi world trade Centre llC 100% uae development and management of, and investment in, properties and 
related activities.

Yas marina llC 100% uae Ownership, development and management of marinas and related 
activities.

Yas Yacht Club llC 100% uae management of yachts and marine sports.

Yas hotel llC 100% uae Ownership, development and management of hotels.

Yas links llC 100% uae Ownership and management of golf courses and golf clubs.

al muna Primary school llC 100% uae Providing educational services.

3  SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES 
(continued) 

3.3 BASIS OF CONSOLIDATION (continued)

the results of subsidiaries acquired or disposed of during the year are 
included in the consolidated income statement from the effective date of 
acquisition or up to the effective date of disposal, as appropriate.

where necessary, adjustments are made to the financial statements of 
subsidiaries to bring their accounting policies into line with those used 
by other members of the Group.

all intra-group transactions, balances, income and expenses are 
eliminated in full on consolidation.

non-controlling interests in the net assets (excluding goodwill) of 
consolidated subsidiaries are identified separately from the Group’s 
equity therein. the interests of non-controlling shareholders may be 
initially measured either at fair value or at the non-controlling interests’ 
proportionate share of the fair value of the acquiree’s identifiable net 
assets. the choice of measurement basis is made on an acquisition-
by-acquisition basis. subsequent to acquisition, the carrying amount 
of non-controlling interests is the amount of those interests at initial 
recognition plus the non-controlling interests’ share of subsequent 
changes in equity. total comprehensive income is attributed to non-
controlling interests even if this results in the non-controlling interests 
having a deficit balance.

Changes in the Group’s interests in subsidiaries that do not result in a 
loss of control are accounted for as equity transactions. the carrying 
amounts of the Group’s interests and the non-controlling interests 
are adjusted to reflect the changes in their relative interests in the 
subsidiaries. any difference between the amount by which the non-
controlling interests are adjusted and the fair value of the consideration 
paid or received is recognised directly in equity and attributed to owners 
of the Company.

when the Group loses control of a subsidiary, the profit or loss on 
disposal is calculated as the difference between (i) the aggregate of the 
fair value of the consideration received and the fair value of any retained 
interest and (ii) the previous carrying amount of the assets (including 
goodwill), and liabilities of the subsidiary and any non-controlling 
interests. 

3.4 INTERESTS IN JOINT VENTURES

a joint venture is a contractual arrangement whereby the Group and 
other parties undertake an economic activity that is subject to joint 
control. the results and assets and liabilities of joint ventures are 
incorporated in these consolidated financial statements using the equity 
method of accounting, except when the investment is classified as held 
for sale, in which case it is accounted for under iFrs 5 non-current 
assets held for sale and discontinued Operations. under the equity 
method, investments in joint venture are carried in the consolidated 
statement of financial position at cost as adjusted for post-acquisition 
changes in the Group’s share of the net assets of the joint venture, less 
dividends received and less any impairment in the value of individual 
investments. the Group’s share in the joint venture’s results is recorded 
in the consolidated income statement.

where the Group transacts with its jointly controlled entities, unrealised 
profits and losses are eliminated to the extent of the Group’s interest in 
the joint venture.

3.5 INVESTMENT IN ASSOCIATES

an associate is an entity over which the Group has significant influence 
that is neither a subsidiary nor an interest in a joint venture. significant 
influence is the power to participate in the financial and operating 
policy decisions of the investee but is not control or joint control over 
those policies.

the results and assets and liabilities of associates are incorporated 
in these consolidated financial statements using the equity method of 
accounting, except when the investment is classified as held for sale, 
in which case it is accounted for under iFrs 5 non-current assets 
held for sale and discontinued Operations. under the equity method, 
investments in associates are carried in the consolidated statement of 
financial position at cost as adjusted for post-acquisition changes in the 
Group’s share of the net assets of the associate, less dividends received 
and less any impairment in the value of individual investments. the 
Group’s share in the associate’s results is recorded in the consolidated 
income statement.

losses of an associate in excess of the Group’s interest in that associate 
(which includes any long-term interests that, in substance, form part 
of the Group’s net investment in associate) are recognised only to the 
extent that the Group has incurred legal or constructive obligations or 
made payments on behalf of the associate.

where an entity of the Group transacts with an associate of the Group, 
profits and losses are eliminated to the extent of the Group’s interest in 
the relevant associate. 

3.6 REVENUE RECOGNITION

Provided it is probable that the economic benefits will flow to the Group 
and the revenue and costs, if applicable, can be measured reliably, 
revenue is recognised in the consolidated income statement at the fair 
value of the consideration received or receivable as follows:

sale of properties

revenue from sale of properties is recognised when all of the following 
conditions have been satisfied:

• the Group has transferred to the buyer the significant risks and 
rewards of ownership of the property;

• the Group retains neither continuing managerial involvement to the 
degree usually associated with ownership nor effective control over 
the property sold;

• the amount of revenue can be measured reliably;

• it is probable that the economic benefits associated with the 
transaction will flow to the Group; and

• the costs incurred or to be incurred in respect of the transaction can 
be measured reliably.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED 
FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (continued)

fOr the year ended 31 december 2011

3 SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES 
(continued) 

3.6 REVENUE RECOGNITION (continued)

income from investment properties 

rental income
the Group’s policy for recognition of revenue from operating leases is 
described in 3.7 below.

service charges and expenses recoverable from tenants
income arising from expenses recharged to tenants is recognised in 
the period in which the expense can be contractually recovered. service 
charges and other such receipts are included gross of the related costs 
in revenue as the Group acts as principal in this respect.

income from hotels 

income from hotels comprises revenue from rooms, food and beverages 
and other associated services provided, and is recognised when the 
goods are sold or services are rendered.

income from leisure businesses 

income from leisure businesses comprises revenue from goods sold 
and services provided at marinas, golf course and theme parks, and is 
recognised when the goods are sold or services are rendered.

income from schools

registration fee is recognised as income when it is received. tuition fee 
income is recognised on a monthly basis over the period of instruction. 
tuition fees received in advance are recorded as deferred income.

interest income

interest income is accrued on a time basis, by reference to the principal 
outstanding and effective interest rate applicable.

3.7 LEASING

leases are classified as finance leases whenever the terms of the lease 
transfer substantially all the risks and rewards of ownership to the 
lessee. all other leases are classified as operating leases.

the Group as lessor

amounts due from lessees under finance leases are recorded as 
receivables at the amount of the Group’s net investment in the leases. 
Finance lease income is allocated to accounting periods so as to 
reflect a constant periodic rate of return on the Group’s net investment 
outstanding in respect of the leases.

rental income from operating leases is recognised on a straight-line 
basis over the term of the relevant lease. initial direct costs incurred in 
negotiating and arranging an operating lease are added to the carrying 
amount of the leased asset and recognised on a straight-line basis over 
the lease term.

the Group as lessee

assets held under finance leases are initially recognised as assets of 
the Group at their fair value at the inception of the lease or, if lower, at 
the present value of the minimum lease payments. the corresponding 
liability to the lessor is included in the consolidated statement of 
financial position as a finance lease obligation. 

lease payments are apportioned between finance charges and reduction 
of the lease obligation so as to achieve a constant rate of interest on 
the remaining balance of the liability. Finance charges are charged 
directly to profit or loss, unless they are directly attributable to qualifying 
assets, in which case they are capitalised in accordance with the Group’s 
general policy on borrowing costs (see note 3.9 below).

Operating lease payments are recognised as an expense on a straight-
line basis over the lease term, except where another systematic basis 
is more representative of the time pattern in which economic benefits 
from the leased asset are consumed. Contingent rentals arising under 
operating leases are recognised as an expense in the period in which 
they are incurred.

in the event that lease incentives are received to enter into operating 
leases, such incentives are recognised as a liability. the aggregate 
benefit of incentives is recognised as a reduction of rental expense on 
a straight-line basis, except where another systematic basis is more 
representative of the time pattern in which economic benefits from the 
leased asset are consumed.

3.8 FOREIGN CURRENCIES

For the purpose of these consolidated financial statements, uae 
dirhams (aed) is the functional and the presentation currency of the 
Group. 

transactions in currencies other than aed (foreign currencies) 
are recorded at the rates of exchange prevailing at the dates of the 
transactions. at the end of each reporting period, monetary items 
denominated in foreign currencies are retranslated at the rates 
prevailing at that date. non-monetary items carried at fair value that 
are denominated in foreign currencies are retranslated at the rates 
prevailing at the date when the fair value was determined. non-
monetary items that are measured in terms of historical cost in a foreign 
currency are not retranslated.

3.9 BORROwING COSTS 

borrowing costs directly attributable to the acquisition, construction or 
production of qualifying assets, which are assets that necessarily take 
a substantial period of time to get ready for their intended use or sale, 
are added to the cost of those assets, until such time as the assets are 
substantially ready for their intended use or sale. 

investment income earned on the temporary investment of specific 
borrowings pending their expenditure on qualifying assets is deducted 
from the borrowing costs eligible for capitalisation. 

all other borrowing costs are recognised in profit or loss in the period 
during which they are incurred. 
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3 SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES 
(continued)

3.10 PROPERTY, PLANT AND EqUIPMENT

Property, plant and equipment are stated at historical cost less 
accumulated depreciation and accumulated impairment loss. historical 
cost includes expenditure that is directly attributable to the acquisition 
of the asset. 

subsequent costs are included in the asset’s carrying amount or 
recognised as a separate asset, as appropriate, only when it is probable 
that future economic benefits associated with the item will flow to 
the Group and the cost of the item can be measured reliably. all other 
repairs and maintenance expenses are charged to the profit or loss in 
the period in which they are incurred.

depreciation is calculated using the straight-line method to allocate the 
assets’ cost to their residual values over their estimated useful lives as 
follows:

years

buildings 20 – 30 

labour camps 5 

leasehold improvements 3 – 4 

Office equipment 3 – 5 

Computers 3 

Furniture and fixtures 5 

motor vehicles 4 

Freehold land is not depreciated.

assets held under finance leases are depreciated over the shorter of 
their expected useful lives or the term of the relevant lease.

the estimated useful lives, residual values and depreciation method are 
reviewed at each year end, with the effect of any changes in estimate 
accounted for on a prospective basis.

an asset’s carrying amount is written down immediately to its 
recoverable amount if the asset’s carrying amount is greater than its 
estimated recoverable amount.

the gain or loss arising on the disposal or retirement of an item of 
property, plant and equipment is determined as the difference between 
the sales proceeds and the carrying amount of the asset and is 
recognised in the profit or loss. 

3.11 CAPITAL wORK IN PROGRESS

Properties or assets in the course of construction for production, supply 
or administrative purposes, or for purposes not yet determined, are 
carried at cost, less any recognised impairment loss. Cost includes all 
direct costs attributable to the design and construction of the property 
including related staff costs, and for qualifying assets, borrowing costs 
capitalised in accordance with the Group’s accounting policy. when 
the assets are ready for intended use, the capital work in progress is 
transferred to the appropriate property, plant and equipment category 
and is depreciated in accordance with the Group’s policies.

3.12 INVESTMENT PROPERTY

investment property comprises completed properties and properties 
under development. Completed properties are properties held to 
earn rentals and/or for capital appreciation and properties under 
development are properties being constructed or developed for future 
use as investment property.

investment property is measured initially at cost including transaction 
costs and for properties under development all direct costs attributable 
to the design and construction including related staff costs. subsequent 
to initial recognition, investment property is measured at fair value. 
Gains or losses arising from changes in the fair value of investment 
property are included in the profit or loss in the period in which they 
arise.

upon completion of construction or development, a property is 
transferred from properties under development to completed properties.

3.13 NON-CURRENT ASSETS HELD FOR SALE

non-current assets and disposal groups are classified as held for 
sale if their carrying amount will be recovered principally through a 
sale transaction rather than through continuing use. this condition is 
regarded as met only when the sale is highly probable and the non-
current asset (or disposal group) is available for immediate sale in its 
present condition. management must be committed to the sale, which 
should be expected to qualify for recognition as a completed sale within 
one year from the date of classification.

non-current assets (and disposal groups) classified as held for sale are 
measured at the lower of their previous carrying amount and fair value 
less costs to sell.

3 SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES 
(continued) 

3.14 DEVELOPMENT wORK IN PROGRESS

development work in progress consists of property being developed 
principally for sale and is stated at the lower of cost or net realisable 
value. Cost comprises all direct costs attributable to the design and 
construction of the property including direct staff costs. net realisable 
value is the estimated selling price in the ordinary course of the 
business less estimated costs to complete and applicable variable 
selling expenses.

3.15 INVENTORIES

inventories comprise completed properties held for sale in the ordinary 
course of business and other operating inventories. inventories are 
stated at the lower of cost and net realisable value. Cost is calculated 
using the weighted average cost method and comprises construction/
acquisition costs and other charges incurred in bringing inventory to 
its present location and condition. net realisable value represents the 
estimated selling price less all estimated selling and marketing costs to 
be incurred. 

3.16 INTANGIBLE ASSETS

intangible assets acquired separately are reported at cost less 
accumulated amortisation and accumulated impairment losses. 
amortisation is charged on a straight-line basis over their estimated 
useful lives. the estimated useful lives are reviewed at the end of each 
annual reporting period, with effect of any changes in estimate being 
accounted for on a prospective basis.

Computer software

acquired computer software licences are capitalised on the basis of the 
costs incurred to acquire and bring to use the specific software. these 
costs are amortised on a straight-line basis over their estimated useful 
lives which is normally a period of three to five years.

licenses

acquired licenses are shown at historical cost. licenses have a finite 
useful life and are carried at cost less accumulated amortisation. 
amortisation is calculated using the straight-line method to allocate the 
cost of licenses over their estimated useful lives.

3.17 IMPAIRMENT OF TANGIBLE AND INTANGIBLE ASSETS 
ExCLUDING GOODwILL 

at the end of each reporting period, the Group reviews the carrying 
amounts of its tangible and intangible assets to determine whether 
there is any indication that those assets have suffered an impairment 
loss. if any such indication exists, the recoverable amount of the asset 
is estimated in order to determine the extent of the impairment loss 
(if any). where it is not possible to estimate the recoverable amount of 
an individual asset, the Group estimates the recoverable amount of the 
cash-generating unit to which the asset belongs. where a reasonable 
and consistent basis of allocation can be identified, corporate assets 
are also allocated to individual cash-generating units, or otherwise they 
are allocated to the smallest group of cash-generating units for which a 
reasonable and consistent allocation basis can be identified.

recoverable amount is the higher of fair value less costs to sell and 
value in use. in assessing value in use, the estimated future cash flows 
are discounted to their present value using a discount rate that reflects 
current market assessments of the time value of money and the risks 
specific to the asset.

if the recoverable amount of an asset (cash-generating unit) is 
estimated to be less than its carrying amount, the carrying amount of 
the asset (cash-generating unit) is reduced to its recoverable amount. 
an impairment loss is recognised immediately in profit or loss, unless 
the relevant asset is carried at a revalued amount, in which case the 
impairment loss is treated as a revaluation decrease.

where an impairment loss subsequently reverses, the carrying amount 
of the asset (cash-generating unit) is increased to the revised estimate 
of its recoverable amount, but so that the increased carrying amount 
does not exceed the carrying amount that would have been determined 
had no impairment loss been recognised for the asset (cash-generating 
unit) in prior years. a reversal of an impairment loss is recognised 
immediately in profit or loss, unless the relevant asset is carried at a 
revalued amount, in which case the reversal of the impairment loss is 
treated as a revaluation increase.

3.18 PROVISIONS

Provisions are recognised when the Group has a legal or constructive 
obligation as a result of a past event, it is probable that an outflow of 
resources will be required to settle the obligation, and the amount can 
be reliably estimated.

Provisions are measured at the present value of the expenditures 
expected to be required to settle the obligation at the end of the 
reporting period, using a rate that reflects current market assessments 
of the time value of money and the risks specific to the obligation. 

when some or all of the economic benefits required to settle a 
provision are expected to be recovered from a third party, a receivable is 
recognised as an asset if it is virtually certain that reimbursement will 
be received and the amount of receivable can be measured reliably.

Onerous contracts

Present obligations arising under onerous contracts are recognised 
and measured as provisions. an onerous contract is considered to exist 
where the Group has a contract under which the unavoidable costs 
of meeting the obligations under the contract exceed the economic 
benefits expected to be received from the contract.
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3 SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES 
(continued)

3.19 EMPLOYEE BENEFITS

an accrual is made for the estimated liability for employees’ entitlement 
to annual leave and leave passage as a result of services rendered by 
eligible employees up to the end of the year. 

Provision is also made for the full amount of end of service benefit due 
to non-uae national employees in accordance with the uae labour law, 
for their period of service up to the end of the year. the accrual relating 
to annual leave and leave passage is disclosed as a current liability, 
while the provision relating to end of service benefit is disclosed as a 
non-current liability.

Pension contributions are made in respect of uae national employees 
to the uae General Pension and social security authority in accordance 
with the uae Federal law no. (2), 2000 for Pension and social 
security. such contributions are charged to the profit or loss during the 
employees’ period of service.

3.20 GOVERNMENT GRANTS

Government grants are not recognised until there is reasonable 
assurance that the Group will comply with the conditions attaching to 
them and that the grants will be received. 

Government grants are recognised in profit or loss on a systematic basis 
over the periods in which the Group recognises as expenses the related 
costs for which the grants are intended to compensate. specifically, 
Government grants whose primary condition is that the Group should 
purchase, construct or otherwise acquire non-current assets are 
recognised as deferred revenue in the statement of financial position 
and transferred to profit or loss on a systematic and rational basis over 
the useful lives of the related assets. 

Government grants that are receivable as compensation for expenses 
already incurred or for the purpose of giving immediate financial 
support to the group with no future related costs are recognised in profit 
or loss in the period in which they become receivable.

the benefit of a Government loan at a below-market rate of interest is 
treated as a Government grant, measured as the difference between 
proceeds received and the fair value of the loan based on prevailing 
market interest rates. 

land granted by the Government of abu dhabi is recognised at nominal 
value where there is reasonable assurance that the land will be 
received and the Group will comply with any attached conditions, where 
applicable.

3.21 FINANCIAL ASSETS

Financial assets are classified into the following specified categories: 
‘available-for-sale’ (aFs) financial assets, ‘loans and receivables’ and 
‘cash and cash equivalents’. the classification depends on the nature 
and purpose of the financial assets and is determined at the time of 
initial recognition.

Cash and cash equivalents

Cash and cash equivalents include cash on hand and deposits held with 
banks (excluding deposits held under lien) with original maturities of 
three months or less.

aFs financial assets

investments are recognised and derecognised on a trade date basis 
where the purchase or sale of an investment is under a contract 
whose terms require delivery of the investment within the timeframe 
established by the market concerned, and are initially measured at fair 
value, plus directly attributable transaction costs.

aFs investments are measured at subsequent reporting dates at 
fair value unless the latter cannot be reliably measured. Gains and 
losses arising from changes in fair value are recognised in other 
comprehensive income and accumulated in the investment revaluation 
reserve in equity, with the exception of impairment losses, interest 
calculated using effective interest method and foreign exchange gains 
and losses on monetary assets, which are recognised in profit or loss.

where the aFs investment is disposed of or is determined to be 
impaired, at which time the cumulative gains or losses previously 
accumulated in the investment revaluation reserve is reclassified to the 
profit or loss. 

dividends on aFs equity instruments are recognised in profit or loss 
when the Group’s right to receive the dividends is established.

loans and receivables

trade receivables, loans and other receivables that have fixed or 
determinable payments that are not quoted in an active market are 
classified as loans and receivables. loans and receivables are measured 
at amortised cost, less any impairment. interest income is recognised 
by applying the effective interest rate, except for short-term receivables 
when the recognition of interest would be immaterial.

3 SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES 
(continued) 

3.21 FINANCIAL ASSETS (continued)

impairment of financial assets

Financial assets, other than those at fair value through profit or loss, 
are assessed for indicators of impairment at the end of each reporting 
period. Financial assets are considered to be impaired when there is 
objective evidence that, as a result of past event, the estimated future 
cash flows of the investment have been affected.

For unquoted shares classified as aFs at cost, objective evidence of 
impairment could include:

• significant financial difficulty of the issuer or counterparty; or

• default or delinquency in interest or principal payments; or

•  it becoming probable that the counterparty will enter bankruptcy or 
financial re-organisation. 

For certain categories of financial assets, such as trade receivables, 
assets that are assessed not to be impaired individually are assessed 
for impairment on a collective basis. Objective evidence of impairment 
for a portfolio of receivables could include the Group’s past experience 
of collecting payments, an increase in the number of delayed payments 
in the portfolio past the average credit period, as well as observable 
changes in national or local economic conditions that correlate with 
default on receivables.

For financial assets carried at amortised cost, the amount of the 
impairment is the difference between the asset’s carrying amount and 
the present value of estimated future cash flows, discounted at the 
financial asset’s original effective interest rate.

the carrying amount of the financial asset is reduced by the impairment 
loss directly for all financial assets with the exception of trade 
receivables, where the carrying amount is reduced through the use of an 
allowance account. when a trade receivable is considered uncollectible, 
it is written off against the allowance account. subsequent recoveries 
of amounts previously written off are credited against the allowance 
account. Changes in the carrying amount of the allowance account are 
recognised in profit or loss.

with the exception of aFs equity instruments, if, in a subsequent period, 
the amount of the impairment loss decreases and the decrease can 
be related objectively to an event occurring after the impairment was 
recognised, the previously recognised impairment loss is reversed 
through profit or loss to the extent that the carrying amount of the 
investment at the date the impairment is reversed does not exceed 
what the amortised cost would have been had the impairment not been 
recognised.

in respect of aFs equity securities, impairment losses previously 
recognised through profit or loss are not reversed through profit or 
loss. any increase in fair value subsequent to an impairment loss is 
recognised directly in other comprehensive income.

derecognition of financial assets

the Group derecognises a financial asset only when the contractual 
rights to the cash flows from the asset expire; or it transfers the 
financial asset and substantially all the risks and rewards of ownership 

of the asset to another entity. if the Group neither transfers nor retains 
substantially all the risks and rewards of ownership and continues to 
control the transferred asset, the Group recognises its retained interest 
in the asset and an associated liability for amounts it may have to pay. if 
the Group retains substantially all the risks and rewards of ownership 
of a transferred financial asset, the Group continues to recognise the 
financial asset.

3.22 FINANCIAL LIABILITIES AND EqUITY INSTRUMENTS 
ISSUED BY THE GROUP

Classification as debt or equity

debt and equity instruments are classified as either financial liabilities 
or as equity in accordance with the substance of the contractual 
arrangement.

equity instruments

an equity instrument is any contract that evidences a residual interest 
in the assets of an entity after deducting all of its liabilities. equity 
instruments issued by the Group are recorded at the proceeds received, 
net of direct issue costs.

Compound instruments

the component parts of compound instruments issued by the Group are 
classified separately as financial liabilities and equity in accordance with 
the substance of the contractual arrangement. at the date of issue, the 
fair value of the liability component is estimated using the prevailing 
market interest rate for a similar non-convertible instrument. this 
amount is recorded as a liability on an amortised cost basis using the 
effective interest method until extinguished upon conversion or at the 
instrument’s maturity date. the equity component is determined by 
deducting the amount of the liability component from the fair value of 
the compound instrument as a whole. this is recognised and included in 
equity and is not subsequently remeasured.

Other financial liabilities

Other financial liabilities, including borrowings, are initially measured at 
fair value, net of transaction costs.

Other financial liabilities are subsequently measured at amortised cost 
using the effective interest method, with interest expense recognised on 
an effective yield basis, except for short-term payables when recognition 
of interest would be immaterial.

the effective interest method is a method of calculating the amortised 
cost of a financial liability and of allocating interest expense over the 
relevant period. the effective interest rate is the rate that exactly 
discounts estimated future cash payments through the expected life of 
the financial liability, or, where appropriate, a shorter period.

derecognition of financial liabilities

the Group derecognises financial liabilities when, and only when, the 
Group’s obligations are discharged, cancelled or they expire.
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3 SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES 
(continued)

3.23 DERIVATIVE FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS

the Group enters into derivative financial instruments to manage its 
exposure to interest rate risk, including interest rate swaps and interest 
rate caps. 

derivative financial instruments are initially measured at fair value at 
contract date, and are subsequently re-measured at fair value at the end 
of each reporting period. all derivatives are carried at their fair values 
as assets where the fair values are positive and as liabilities where the 
fair values are negative. a derivative is presented as a non-current asset 
or a non-current liability if the remaining maturity of the instrument 
is more than 12 months and it is not expected to be realised or settled 
within 12 months. Other derivatives are presented as current assets or 
current liabilities.

Fair values of the derivatives are carried out by independent valuers by 
reference to quoted market prices, discounted cash flow models and 
recognised pricing models as appropriate.

Changes in the fair value of derivative financial instruments that do 
not qualify for hedge accounting are recognised in profit or loss as they 
arise. derivative financial instruments that do not qualify for hedge 
accounting are classified as held for trading derivatives.

For the purpose of hedge accounting, the Group designates certain 
derivatives into two types of hedge categories: (a) fair value hedges 
which hedge the exposure to changes in the fair value of a recognised 
asset or liability; and (b) cash flow hedges which hedge exposure to 
variability in cash flows that are either attributable to a particular risk 
associated with a recognised asset or liability, or a highly probable 
forecasted transaction that will affect future reported net income.

hedge accounting

in order to qualify for hedge accounting, it is required that the hedge 
should be expected to be highly effective, i.e. the changes in fair value 
or cash flows of the hedging instrument should effectively offset 
corresponding changes in the hedged item and the effectiveness can be 
reliably measured. at inception of the hedge, the Group documents its 
risk management objective and strategy for undertaking various hedge 
transactions, including the identification of the hedging instrument, the 
related hedged item, the nature of risk being hedged, and how the Group 
will assess the effectiveness of the hedging relationship. subsequently, 
the hedge is required to be assessed and determined to be an effective 
hedge on an ongoing basis.

note 34.5b sets out details of the fair values of the derivative 

instruments used for hedging purposes. movements in the hedging 
reserve in equity are also detailed in the consolidated statement of 
changes in equity.

Fair value hedges

Changes in the fair value of derivatives that are designated and 
qualify as fair value hedges are recorded in profit or loss immediately, 
together with any changes in the fair value of the hedged item that are 
attributable to the hedged risk.

hedge accounting is discontinued when the Group revokes the hedging 
relationship, the hedging instrument expires or is sold, terminated, or 
exercised, or no longer qualifies for hedge accounting. the adjustment 
to the carrying amount of the hedged item arising from the hedged risk 
is amortised to the profit or loss from that date.

Cash flow hedges

 the effective portion of changes in the fair value of derivatives that 
are designated and qualify as cash flow hedges is recognised in other 
comprehensive income. the gain or loss relating to the ineffective 
portion is recognised immediately in profit or loss.

amounts previously recognised in other comprehensive income and 
accumulated in hedging reserve in equity are recycled in profit or loss in 
the periods when the hedged item is recognised in profit or loss, in the 
same line of the profit or loss as the recognised hedged item. however, 
when the forecast transaction that is hedged results in the recognition 
of a non-financial asset or a non-financial liability, the gains and losses 
previously accumulated in equity are transferred from equity and 
included in the initial measurement of the cost of the asset or liability.

 interest rate caps are measured at fair value, with changes in time 
value recognised in the same line of the profit or loss as the recognised 
hedged item. Changes in intrinsic value are recognised in other 
comprehensive income and accumulated in hedging reserve in equity.

hedge accounting is discontinued when the Group revokes the hedging 
relationship, the hedging instrument expires or is sold, terminated, or 
exercised, or no longer qualifies for hedge accounting. any cumulative 
gain or loss accumulated in equity at that time remains in equity and 
is recognised when the forecast transaction is ultimately recognised 
in profit or loss. when a forecast transaction is no longer expected 
to occur, the cumulative gain or loss that was deferred in equity is 
recognised immediately in profit or loss.

4 CRITICAL ACCOUNTING JUDGMENTS AND KEY SOURCES 
OF ESTIMATION UNCERTAINTY 

while applying the accounting policies as stated in note 3, management 
of the Group has made certain judgments, estimates and assumptions 
that are not readily apparent from other sources. the estimates and 
associated assumptions are based on historical experience and other 
factors that are considered to be relevant. actual results may differ from 
these estimates.

the estimates and underlying assumptions are reviewed on an ongoing 
basis. revision to accounting estimates are recognised in the period of 
the revision in which the estimate is revised if the revision affects only 
that period, or in the period of the revision and future periods if the 
revision affects both current and future periods. 

4.1 CRITICAL JUDGEMENTS IN APPLYING ACCOUNTING 
POLICIES

significant judgments made by management that have a significant risk 
of causing a material adjustment to the carrying amounts of assets and 
liabilities within the next financial year are:

Classification of leases

the Group, as a lessor, has entered into long-term lease arrangements 
for plots of land with entities outside the Gulf Cooperation Council  
(non-GCC entities) whereby the lease term under each lease is valid 
for a period of 99 years renewable at the option of the lessees for an 
indefinite duration. 

in the process of determining whether these arrangements represent 
operating leases or finance leases, the Group’s management has made 
various judgments. in making its judgments, the Group’s management 
considered the terms and conditions of the lease agreements and the 
requirements of ias 17 leases, including the basis for Conclusions on 
ias 17 provided by the international accounting standards board and 
related guidance, to determine whether significant risks and rewards 
associated with the land in accordance with each lease term would 
have been transferred to the lessees despite there being no transfers of 
title. the Group evaluated the transfer of risks and rewards before and 
after entering into the lease arrangements, and has obtained a legal 
opinion from independent legal advisors. management has determined 
that in the lease arrangements referred to above, the Group transferred 
substantially all risks and rewards of ownership to the lessees with 
practical ability for the lessees to exercise unilaterally all rights on 
the plots of land. accordingly, management is satisfied that these 
arrangements represent finance leases.

 Classification of properties

in the process of classifying properties, management has made various 
judgments. judgment is needed to determine whether a property 
qualifies as an investment property, property, plant and equipment and/
or property held for resale. the Group develops criteria so that it can 
exercise that judgment consistently in accordance with the definitions of 
investment property, property, plant and equipment and property held 
for resale. in making its judgment, management considered the detailed 
criteria and related guidance for the classification of properties as set 
out in ias 2, ias 16 and ias 40, and in particular, the intended usage of 
property as determined by the management.

4.2 KEY SOURCES OF ESTIMATION UNCERTAINTY

the key assumptions concerning the future, and other key sources of 
estimation uncertainty at the end of the reporting period, that have 
a significant risk of causing a material adjustment to the carrying 
amounts of assets and liabilities within the next financial year, are 
discussed below:

Fair value of investment properties and investment properties under 
development

the fair value of investment properties is determined by independent 
real estate valuation experts using recognised valuation methods. 
these methods comprise the residual value method, and the income 
Capitalisation method.

the residual value method requires the use of estimates such as future 
cash flows from assets (comprising of selling and leasing rates, future 
revenue streams, construction costs and associated professional fees, 
and financing cost, etc.), targeted internal rate of return and developer’s 
risk and targeted profit. these estimates are based on local market 
conditions existing at the end of the reporting period.

under the income Capitalisation approach, the income receivable 
under existing lease agreements and projected future rental streams 
are capitalised at appropriate rates to reflect the investment market 
conditions at the valuation dates.

such estimations are based on certain assumptions, which are subject 
to uncertainty and might materially differ from the actual results.

the continuing volatility in the global financial system and in the real 
estate industry has contributed to the significant reduction in transaction 
volumes in the uae. therefore, in arriving at their estimates of market 
values as at 31 december 2011, the valuers have used their market 
knowledge and professional judgement and have not only relied solely 
on historic transactional comparables. in these circumstances, there is 
greater degree of uncertainty than which exists in a more active market 
in estimating market values of investment property.

the key assumptions used are as follows:

        
    Range %

targeted internal rate of return  13 - 17

rental yield    8 - 11

estimation of net realisable value for inventory and development work in 
progress 

Properties held for resale and properties classified under development 
work in progress are stated at lower of cost or net realisable value 
(nrv). nrv is assessed with reference to sales prices, costs of 
completion and advances received and market conditions existing at the 
end of the reporting period. For certain properties, nrv is determined by 
the Group having taken suitable external advice and in the light of recent 
market transactions, where available. 
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5 PROPERTY, PLANT AND EqUIPMENT 

land and 
buildings

aed’000

labour 
camps

aed’000

furniture 
and fixtures

aed’000

Office 
equipment

aed’000

computers

aed’000

motor 
vehicles

aed’000

leasehold 
improvements

aed’000

capital work 
in progress

aed’000

total

aed’000

cost

1 january 2010 4,861,089 780,975 297,023 16,445 55,000 3,630 16,392 6,714,624 12,745,178

additions 114,790 19,601 26,693 35,554 5,020 4,416 56 1,522,813 1,728,943

Finance costs 
capitalised during 
the year 12,433 2,723 - - - - - 350,092 365,248

transfers, net 525,652 277,931 27,610 - 299 - - (1,602,220) (770,728)

reclassified as held 
for sale - - - - - - - (5,361,251) (5,361,251)

disposals - - (180) (307) - (805) - - (1,292)

1 january 2011  5,513,964  1,081,230  351,146  51,692  60,319  7,241  16,448  1,624,058  8,706,098 

additions  16,157 -  46,867  9,957  7,544  226  164 168,039 248,954

Finance costs 
capitalised during 
the year  -  4,679  -  -  -  -  -  13,357  18,036 

transfers, net  180,348  407,235  (5,261)  (17,875)  (3,094)  (1,489)  -  (1,307,771)  (747,907)

disposals  (36,347) -  -  (775)  (50)  (1,243)  (5,061)  -  (43,476)

31 december 2011  5,674,122  1,493,144  392,752  42,999  64,719  4,735  11,551 497,683 8,181,705

accumulated depreciation and impairment

1 january 2010 37,600 246,520 29,473 6,030 15,014 1,864 8,561 - 345,062

Charge for the year 234,015 214,454 96,341 7,216 17,512 1,473 3,264 - 574,275

disposals - - (66) (114) - (726) - - (906)

impairment loss 
recognised during 
the year

254,698 - - - - - - 857,831 1,112,529

1 january 2011  526,313  460,974  125,748  13,132  32,526  2,611  11,825  857,831  2,030,960 

Charge for the year  238,518  244,162  94,517  9,508  16,693  1,139  2,157  -  606,694 

transfers, net  - -  (447)  (869)  (512)  (198)  -  (624,772)  (626,798)

impairment loss 
recognised during 
the year

 523,517  553,650  -  -  -  -  - 234,221 1,311,388

disposals  -  -  -  (698)  (50)  (1,076)  (5,061)  -  (6,885)

31 december 2011  1,288,348  1,258,786  219,818  21,073  48,657  2,476  8,921 467,280 3,315,359

carrying amount

31 december 2011  4,385,774  234,358  172,934  21,926  16,062  2,259  2,630  30,403  4,866,346 

31 december 2010 4,987,651 620,256 225,398 38,560 27,793 4,630 4,623 766,227 6,675,138

all of the Group’s property, plant and equipment are located in the united arab emirates.

NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED 
FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (continued)

fOr the year ended 31 december 2011

4 CRITICAL ACCOUNTING JUDGMENTS AND KEY SOURCES 
OF ESTIMATION UNCERTAINTY (continued)

4.2 KEY SOURCES OF ESTIMATION UNCERTAINTY (continued)

impairment of property, plant and equipment and capital work in 
progress 

Properties classified under property, plant and equipment and capital 
work in progress are assessed for impairment based on the assessment 
of cash flows on individual cash-generating units when there is an 
indication that those assets have suffered an impairment loss. Cash 
flows are determined with reference to recent market conditions, prices 
existing at the end of the reporting period, contractual agreements and 
estimations over the useful lives of the assets and discounted using a 
range of discounting rates that reflects current market assessments 
of the time value of money and the risks specific to the asset. the net 
present values are compared to the carrying amounts to assess any 
probable impairment. 

useful lives of property, plant and equipment and intangible assets

management reviews the residual values and estimated useful lives 
of property, plant and equipment and intangible assets at the end of 
each annual reporting period in accordance with ias 16 and ias 38. 
management determined that current year expectations do not differ 
from previous estimates based on its review.

valuation of unquoted aFs equity investments 

valuation of unquoted aFs equity investments is normally based on 
recent market transactions on an arm’s length basis, fair value of 
another instrument that is substantially the same, expected cash flows 
discounted at current rates for similar instruments or other valuation 
models. 

impairment of investments in/receivable from joint ventures and 
associates 

management regularly reviews its investments in joint ventures and 
associates for indicators of impairment. this determination of whether 
investments in joint ventures and associates are impaired, entails 
management’s evaluation of the specific investee’s profitability, liquidity, 
solvency and ability to generate operating cash flows from the date of 
acquisition and until the foreseeable future. the difference between the 
estimated recoverable amount and the carrying value of investment and/
or receivable is recognised as an expense in profit or loss. management 
is satisfied that no additional impairment is required on its investments 
and associates (note 8) and it’s receivables from associates and 
joint ventures (note 10.5) in excess of amount already provided for 
investments in joint ventures and associates (note 8).

impairment of trade and other receivables

an estimate of the collectible amount of trade and other receivables 
is made when collection of the full amount is no longer probable. 
this determination of whether the receivables are impaired, entails 
management’s evaluation of the specific credit and liquidity position of 
the customers and related parties and their historical recovery rates, 
including discussion with the legal department and review of the current 
economic environment. management is satisfied that no additional 
impairment is required on its trade and other receivables in excess of 
amount already provided (see note 10.1).

derivative financial instruments 

the fair values of derivative financial instruments measured at fair value 
are generally obtained by reference to quoted market prices, discounted 
cash flow models and recognised pricing models as appropriate.
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5 PROPERTY, PLANT AND EqUIPMENT (continued)

the depreciation charge for the year has been allocated as follows:

2011 2010

aed’000 aed’000

Projects under development 29,638 75,933

General and administrative expenses 577,056 498,342

606,694 574,275

during the year, the Group carried out a review of recoverable amounts of its property, plant and equipment. the review led to a recognition of 
impairment losses of aed 1,311.4 million (2010: aed 1,112.5 million), which has been recorded in profit or loss. the recoverable amount of relevant 
assets has been determined on the basis of their value in use by reference to the discounted cash flow method using discount rates of 7.5% (2010: 
7.5% to 10%).

6 INTANGIBLE ASSETS

licenses

aed’000

computer 
software

aed’000

total

aed’000

cost

1 january 2010 12,471 59,590 72,061

additions - 8,846 8,846

transferred to assets held for sale (11,041) - (11,041)

1 january 2011 1,430 68,436 69,866

additions - 2,608 2,608

transferred to a related party - (6,698)  (6,698)

31 december 2011 1,430 64,346 65,776

accumulated amortisation

1 january 2010 2,216 29,963 32,179

Charge for the year 552 15,231 15,783

transferred to assets held for sale (2,760) - (2,760)

1 january 2011 8 45,194 45,202

Charge for the year 2 13,205 13,207

transferred to a related party - (587) (587)

31 december 2011 10 57,812 57,822

carrying amount

31 december 2011 1,420 6,534 7,954

31 december 2010 1,422 23,242 24,664

7 INVESTMENT PROPERTIES

investment properties comprise completed properties (buildings and shopping mall) and properties under development, including land under 
development, at fair value. movement during the year is as follows:

2011 2010
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aed’000 aed’000 aed’000 aed’000 aed’000 aed’000

balance at the beginning of the 
year 3,022,390 5,271,440 8,293,830 2,079,243 12,661,376 14,740,619

development costs incurred 
during the year  - 1,950,588 1,950,588 - 2,414,141 2,414,141

Finance cost capitalised, net  - 285,199 285,199 - 399,630 399,630

Project costs written-off - (54,583) (54,583) - (181,361) (181,361)

hedge capitalised  -  12,674  12,674 5,094 77,563 82,657

decrease in fair value, net  (246,339) (294,393) (540,732) (261,222) (6,731,205) (6,992,427)

transfer upon completion 637,947  (637,947) - 123,381 (123,381) -

asset sold during the year to 
the Government of abu dhabi - (2,452,213) (2,452,213) - - -

transfers from/(to):

Property, plant and equipment - 95,414 95,414 1,018,579 (572,832) 445,747

development work in progress - (1,426,393) (1,426,393) 57,315 (1,740,517) (1,683,202)

asset held for sale - (116,962) (116,962) - (562,314) (562,314)

trade and other receivables - (46,147) (46,147) - (369,660) (369,660)

balance at the end of the year  3,413,998 2,586,677 6,000,675 3,022,390 5,271,440 8,293,830

the fair value of two buildings has been calculated by management with reference to discounted future estimated cash flows based on the existing 
lease contracts and the use of a discount rate of 10% per annum.

the fair values of the remaining investment properties including properties under development are arrived at on the basis of a valuation carried out 
by independent valuers not connected with the Group. the valuers are members of various professional valuers’ associations, and have appropriate 
qualifications and recent experience in the valuation of properties at the relevant locations. the valuation was determined by using the residual value 
method and income Capitalisation method. the effective date of the valuation is 31 december 2011. refer to note 4 for the key assumptions used.

all investment properties are located in the united arab emirates. 
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8 INVESTMENT IN ASSOCIATES AND JOINT VENTURES
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aed’000 aed’000 aed’000 aed’000 aed’000 aed’000 aed’000 aed’000

associates

Green emirates Properties PjsC 20% 20% abu dhabi 71,650 (13,670) (18,755)  - -  - - 39,225 

aseel Finance PjsC 20% 20% abu dhabi 103,562  7,783 -  -  -  -  -  111,345 

dimarco electronic systems llC 34% 34% abu dhabi 2,672  1,459 -  -  -  -  -  4,131 

al maabar international 
investments llC 20% 20% abu dhabi 59,111 71,995 -  -  -  -  - 131,106

abu dhabi Finance Company 
llC 16% 16% abu dhabi - - - - - - - -

iskandar holdings ltd 19% 19%
Cayman 
islands 35,503 - - - - - - 35,503

272,498 67,567 (18,755) - - - - 321,310

Joint ventures 

aldar laing O’rourke 
Construction llC 51% 50% abu dhabi 133,181  (1,307) -  -  15,685  -  -  147,559 

aldar readymix llC 50% 50% abu dhabi 17,191 (18,578) -  -  (265)  - 1,652  - 

aldar besix llC 51% 50% abu dhabi 31,215  - -  -  (3,831)  -  -  27,384 

aldar etihad investment 
Properties llC 50% 50% abu dhabi 65,011  78,458 -  (11,371)  -  -  -  132,098 

al raha international integrated 
Facilities management llC 50% 50% abu dhabi 23,551 2,474 - - 992  (8,250) - 18,767 

royal house llC 50% 50% abu dhabi -  (18,598) -  -  -  -  18,598  - 

nareel island development 
Company llC 50% 50% abu dhabi - - - - - - - -

Fadar retail llC 50% 50% abu dhabi -  (7,629) -  -  -  -  7,629  - 

abu dhabi motor sports 
management llC - - abu dhabi - - - - - - - -

textura middle east llC 50% 50% abu dhabi - - - - - - - -

270,149 34,820 -  (11,371)  12,581  (8,250) 27,879  325,808 

542,647 102,387 (18,755)  (11,371)  12,581  (8,250) 27,879 647,118

8 INVESTMENT IN ASSOCIATES AND JOINT VENTURES 
 (continued)

unrealised profits which comprise share of profits on various projects of 
the joint ventures within the Group amounted to aed 12.6 million (2010: 
aed 30.0 million).

latest available financial information in respect of the Group’s 
associates is summarised below:

2011 2010

aed’000 aed’000

total assets 5,513,918 4,993,012

total liabilities (4,002,695) (3,816,634)

net assets 1,511,223 1,176,378

Group’s share of net assets 
of associates

340,065 272,498

total revenue 159,384 176,231

total loss for the year (28,163) (142,756)

latest available financial information in respect of the Group’s joint 
ventures is summarised below:

2011 2010

aed’000 aed’000

total assets 2,651,955 3,441,361

total liabilities (2,056,426) (2,901,594)

net assets 595,529 539,767

Group’s share of net assets 
of joint ventures

325,808 270,149

total revenue 320,615 2,079,935

total profit for the year 116,295 75,976

9 AVAILABLE-FOR-SALE (AFS) FINANCIAL ASSETS

2011 2010

aed’000 aed’000

investment in uae unquoted securities 114,074 132,702

investment in international unquoted 
securities 

56,584 11,888

170,658 144,590

movement during the year is as follows:

2011 2010

aed’000 aed’000

balance at the beginning of the year 144,590 163,090

additions 21,438 -

disposals (10,000) -

Fair value gain/(loss) during the year, net 14,630 (18,500)

balance at the end of the year 170,658 144,590

subject to the Group’s overall operating strategy, the Group intends 
to dispose of these investments in the normal course of business if a 
favourable price is offered. the consideration for the disposals during 
the year amounted to aed 10 million, of which cash received is aed 5 
million with the balance included in other receivables.

during the year, dividend income received from aFs financial assets 
amounted to aed 5.7 million (31 december 2010: aed 3.4 million).

the total impairment loss on an aFs investment as at 31 december 2011 
amounted to aed 38.5 million (31 december 2010: nil). this comprised 
of aed 20 million charged directly to profit or loss and aed 18.5 million 
which was transferred from the fair value reserve in equity to profit  
or loss.
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10 TRADE AND OTHER RECEIVABLES

2011 2010

aed’000 aed’000

non-current portion

trade receivables (note 10.1) - 304,892

less: Provision for impairment and cancellations - (124,446)

- 180,446

refundable costs (note 10.2) - 87,659

receivable from project finance (note 10.3) 389,998 408,220

due from a related party (note 10.6) 201,025 402,050

receivable from the Government of abu dhabi (note 10.4) 6,133,739 1,946,661

due from joint ventures (notes 10.5 & 32) 447,769 521,058

7,172,531 3,546,094

current portion

trade receivables (note 10.1) 720,688 1,212,039

less: Provision for impairment and cancellations (195,202) (558,955)

525,486 653,084

refundable costs (note 10.2) 2,694,116 2,250,718

receivable from project finance (note 10.3) 87,883 68,368

receivable from the Government of abu dhabi (note 10.4) 340,095 342,863

due from joint ventures (notes 10.5 & 32) 12,950 37,452

advances and prepayments 1,278,374 1,989,895

accrued interest 3,675 21,624

Others 298,740 88,537

5,241,319 5,452,541

10.1 TRADE RECEIVABLES 

the Group’s trade receivables consist of customers with a good credit standing. at the end of the year, 69% of the trade receivables (31 december 
2010: 76% of the trade receivables) is due from its top five customers. the Group considers these customers to be reputable and creditworthy and is 
confident that this concentration of credit risk will not result in any significant loss to the Group. 

Considering prevailing market conditions, the Group has mutually agreed with some of its customers to revise the terms of its receivables. included 
in the Group’s trade receivables are customer balances with a carrying amount of aed 227.5 million (31 december 2010: aed 196.6 million) which are 
past due at the end of the reporting date for which no allowance has been provided for as there was no significant change in the credit quality of the 
customers and the amounts are still considered recoverable.

no interest is charged and no collateral is taken on trade receivables. 

10 TRADE AND OTHER RECEIVABLES (continued)

10.1 TRADE RECEIVABLES (continued)

ageing of trade receivables

2011 2010

aed’000 aed’000

not past due 297,937 636,956

Past due but not impaired:

up to 120 days - 83,911

121 to 180 days - 112,663

more than 180 days 227,549 -

227,549 196,574

Past due and impaired: 

up to 120 days - 21,940

121 to 180 days 195,202 661,461

195,202 683,401

total trade receivables 720,688 1,516,931

movement during the year in provision for impairment and cancellations in trade receivables is as follows:

2011 2010

aed’000 aed’000

balance at the beginning of the year 683,401 78,295

loss on cancellations during the year 40,047 804,750

impairment recognised during the year - 605,106

released upon cancellation of sales (528,246) (804,750)

balance at the end of the year 195,202 683,401

10.2 REFUNDABLE COSTS

refundable costs represent costs incurred on behalf of the Government of abu dhabi in relation with development of infrastructure of various 
projects. these amounts will be refunded by the relevant Government authorities upon completion.
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10 TRADE AND OTHER RECEIVABLES (continued)

10.3 RECEIVABLE FROM PROJECT FINANCE

minimum payments Present value of minimum 
payments

2011

aed’000

2010

aed’000

2011

aed’000

2010

aed’000

amounts receivable from project finance:

within one year  91,303 71,654  87,883 68,368

in the second to fifth year  298,259 298,259  211,432 211,428

after five years  487,099 561,663  178,566 196,792

 876,661 931,576 477,881 476,588

less: unearned finance income (398,780) (454,988) - -

Present value of minimum payments receivable 477,881 476,588 477,881 476,588

non-current receivables 389,998 408,220

Current receivables 87,883 68,368

477,881 476,588

10.4 RECEIVABLE FROM THE GOVERNMENT OF ABU DHABI 

receivable from the Government of abu dhabi represents the amount receivable against certain assets sold during the year (note 30).

10.5 DUE FROM JOINT VENTURES

non-current current

2011

aed’000

2010

aed’000

2011

aed’000

2010

aed’000

Gross receivables 537,009 521,058 29,081 37,452

less: Provision for impairment (89,240) - (16,131) -

447,769 521,058 12,950 37,452

in addition to above provisions, the Group provided for aed 18.8 million impairment of investment in an associate (note 8) and aed 50 million 
restructuring costs on a joint venture.

10.6 DUE FROM A RELATED PARTY

due from related party is net of provision for impairment aed 201 million (2010: aed nil).

11 DEVELOPMENT wORK IN PROGRESS 

development work in progress represents development and construction costs incurred on properties being constructed for sale. movement during 
the year is as follows:

2011

aed’000

2010

aed’000

balance at beginning of the year 13,877,865 10,909,119

developments during the year 3,234,131 3,291,770

Finance costs capitalised during the year, net 179,796 291,391

hedging losses capitalised  35,307 182,381

reimbursement received (2,279,988) -

transfers from /(to):

investment properties 1,426,393 1,683,202

refundable costs (26,463) (150,061)

Property, plant and equipment - (24,439)

Projects completed during the year: 

transfers to inventory (4,857,034) -

disposals (recognised in direct costs) (4,058,943) (734,045)

Project costs impairments/write-offs (397,153) (1,571,453)

balance at the end of the year 7,133,911 13,877,865

all development work in progress projects are located in the united arab emirates. 

12 INVENTORIES 

2011 2010

aed’000 aed’000

Completed properties 4,707,918 385,654

Other operating inventories 11,804 36,400

4,719,722 422,054

Completed properties in inventories are located in the united arab emirates.

13 CASH AND CASH EqUIVALENTS 

2011

aed’000

2010

aed’000

Cash and bank balances 3,393,008 921,060

short term deposits held with banks 764,672 1,510,473

4,157,680 2,431,533

short term deposits with original maturities greater than three months (12,911) (1,134,650)

restricted bank balances (773,593) (648,647)

3,371,176 648,236

the interest rate on term deposits ranges between 2.25% and 3.55% (2010: 2.2% and 4.3%) per annum.  
all bank deposits are placed with local banks in the united arab emirates. 
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14 SHARE CAPITAL 

share capital comprises 
4,085,129,096 (2010: 
2,577,894,735) authorised, issued 
and fully paid up ordinary shares 
with a par value of aed 1 each. 
share issuance costs of aed 94.9 
million (31 december 2010: aed 
94.9 million) have been presented 
net of share issuance fees of aed 
15.0 million, within equity. 

during the year, the following 
transactions occurred:

(a)  the Group converted the non-
interest bearing convertible 
bonds issued to mubadala 
development Company into 
303,734,868 shares of the 
Company (note 17). 

(b)  a portion of the mandatorily 
convertible bonds issued 
to mubadala development 
Company was converted into 
1,203,499,493 shares of the 
Company (note 18a). the new 
shares were listed on the abu 
dhabi exchange subsequent 
to the reporting date.

15 SHARE PREMIUM

share premium amounting to 
aed 7,984.9 million (2010: aed 
3,823.2 million) represents the 
difference between the carrying 
amount of convertible bonds and 
the par value shares issued upon 
conversion of convertible bonds 
into shares of the Company. 

16 STATUTORY RESERVE 

in accordance with its articles of 
association and the uae Federal 
law no. (8) of 1984, as amended, 
10% of the profit of the Company 
is transferred to a statutory 
reserve that is non-distributable. 
transfers to this reserve are 
required to be made until such 
time as it equals at least 50% of 
the paid up share capital of the 
Company. 

17 NON-INTEREST 
BEARING CONVERTIBLE 
BONDS 

during 2008, the Group issued 
non-interest bearing convertible 
bonds (the “bonds”) to a related 
party (the “bond holder”). the 
bonds had a face value of aed 
3,562.8 million and an original 
maturity date in november 2011. 
under the scheme, there was no 
early conversion option available 
to the bond holder. however, 
the bonds may be converted to 
ordinary shares at any date before 
the maturity date at the option of 
the Group.

during the year, the Group 
opted for early conversion 
and converted these bonds 
into 303,734,868 shares in the 
Company. 

18 CONVERTIBLE BONDS (continued) 

the convertible bonds are presented in the consolidated statement of financial position as follows: 

Outstanding at 31 december 2011 Outstanding at 31 december 2010 

corporate bonds 
(a)

sukuk al-
mudaraba (b) total

Corporate bonds 
(a)

sukuk al-
mudaraba (b) total

aed’000 aed’000 aed’000 aed’000 aed’000 aed’000

Proceeds from the issue of 
convertible bonds

2,800,000 9,291,124 12,091,124 - 9,291,124 9,291,124

less: issuance costs - (210,824) (210,824) - (210,824) (210,824)

net proceeds from the issue of 
convertible bonds

2,800,000 9,080,300 11,880,300 - 9,080,300 9,080,300

equity component on initial 
recognition

- (232,032) (232,032) - (232,032) (232,032)

liability component on initial 
recognition

2,800,000 8,848,268 11,648,268 - 8,848,268 8,848,268

redemption of convertible bonds by 
cash

- (4,154,181) (4,154,181) - (84,158) (84,158)

redemption of convertible bonds by 
share issue

(2,106,124) (4,694,087) (6,800,211) - (4,694,087) (4,694,087)

Carrying amount of liability 
component after redemption

693,876 - 693,876 - 4,070,023 4,070,023

Profit distribution accrued up to year 
end

31,177 - 31,177 - 268,297 268,297

Carrying amount of liability 
component at 31 december 

725,053 - 725,053 - 4,338,320 4,338,320

less: Current portion (31,177) - (31,177) - (4,338,320) (4,338,320)

non-current portion 693,876 - 693,876 - - -

total profit capitalised to projects 
during the year

24,293 76,679 100,972 - 215,398 215,398

(a) in march 2011, the Group issued mandatorily convertible bonds (the “convertible bonds”) for a total value of aed 2.8 billion to a related party  
(the “bond holder”) carrying a profit rate of 4% per annum payable semi-annually. a significant portion of these bonds has been converted into 
ordinary shares of the Company on 15 december 2011. any outstanding bonds shall be converted on 15 december 2013 or earlier as may be agreed 
between the Group and the bond holder at a variable rate stipulated in the agreement. Considering the nature of the transaction, the remaining 
portion of these bonds has been presented as a financial liability in accordance with the relevant accounting standards.

(b) in march 2007, the Group issued convertible bonds in the form of trust Certificates/sukuk al-mudaraba (the “convertible sukuk”) for a total value 
of aed 9.29 billion (usd 2.53 billion). the convertible sukuk has a profit rate of 5.767% per annum paid quarterly and are due for repayment on 10 
november 2011. during the period, the sukuk was redeemed by the Group.
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19 NON-CONVERTIBLE BONDS

Outstanding at 31 december 2011 Outstanding at 31 december 2010 

sukuk- al- ijarah 
(a)

corporate bonds 
(b) total

sukuk - al 
-ijarah (a)

Corporate 
bonds(b) total

aed’000 aed’000 aed’000 aed’000 aed’000 aed’000

Proceeds from issue 3,750,000 4,590,000 8,340,000 3,750,000 4,590,000 8,340,000

Gross issue costs (16,303) (30,366) (46,669) (16,303) (30,366) (46,669)

less: amortisation of issue costs up 
to year end

 11,424  15,689  27,113 8,160 9,616 17,776

unamortised issue costs  (4,879)  (14,677)  (19,556) (8,143) (20,750) (28,893)

add: Profit distribution up to  
year end 4,416 47,972 52,388 4,867 47,972 52,839

Carrying amount  3,749,537  4,623,295  8,372,832 3,746,724 4,617,222 8,363,946

less: Current portion (included in 
accruals)  (1,152) (41,899) ( 43,051) (1,603) (41,899) (43,502)

 3,748,385  4,581,396  8,329,781 3,745,121 4,575,323 8,320,444

total finance costs capitalised during 
the year  44,729  95,468 140,197 109,563 315,964 425,527

(a) during 2008, the Group issued non-convertible bonds in the form of trust Certificates/sukuk- al-ijarah (the “non-convertible sukuk”) for a total 
value of aed 3.75 billion. the non-convertible sukuk are structured to conform to the principles of islamic sharia. the non-convertible sukuk have a 
profit rate of 3 months eibOr plus 1.75% per annum paid quarterly and are due for repayment on 17 june 2013.

(b) in may 2009, the Group issued non-convertible Corporate bonds for a total value of aed 4.59 billion (usd 1.25 billion). the bonds have an interest 
rate of 10.75% (2010: 10.75%) per annum payable semi-annually and are due for repayment on 27 may 2014.
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20 BORROwINGS

Outstanding amount unused 
facility security interest rate maturity Purpose

Capitalised 

interestCurrent non-current total
aed’000 aed’000 aed’000 aed’000 aed’000

31 december 2011:

Government loan - 250,314 250,314 - unsecured 1 year usd libOr + 0.35% december 2017 development of Yas island 9,907

syndicated infrastructure loan - - - - secured 3 months usd libOr + 0.90% july 2011 al raha beach infrastructure 37,312

term loan - - - - secured 0.75% compounded quarterly October 2011 al raha beach infrastructure 6,811

term loan 28,550   153,929  182,479 - secured 3 months ebOr + 1.00% january 2021 al mamoura building -

term loan 348,928 - 348,928 - secured 1 year ebOr + 3.15% december 2012 General corporate purpose 4,723

term loan - - - - secured 3 months ebOr + 3.00% august 2011 General corporate purpose 4,926

murabaha financing 6,964  40,179  47,143 - secured 6 months ebOr + 0.85% april 2014 General corporate purpose  583 

murabaha financing 3,000  21,000  24,000 - secured 6 months ebOr + 0.85% april 2014 General corporate purpose  296 

ijarah facility 2,203,800 - 2,203,800 - unsecured 3 months ebOr + 0.90% april 2012 General corporate purpose 24,194

term loan - - - - unsecured 3 months ebOr + 1.75% december 2011 working capital requirements 4,693

term loan - 367,200 367,200 - secured 3 months usd libOr + 1.40% October 2013 General corporate purpose 3,449

murabaha financing  120,301  240,601  360,902 - secured 3 months ebOr + 2.50% may 2014 al bateen Park 17,199

ijarah facility - 600,000 600,000 - secured 3 months ebOr + 2.75% may 2013 al raha beach infrastructure 12,422

term loan 275,108 - 275,108 - secured 3 months libOr + 3.65% january 2012 General corporate purpose 3,342

term loan 1,100,000 - 1,100,000 - secured 3 months ebOr + 2.55% august 2012 development of Central market 45,058

term loan 108,000 292,000 400,000 - secured 3 months ebOr + 3.50% june 2014 working capital requirements 4,764

ijarah facility - 500,000 500,000 - secured 3 months ebOr + 3.075% november 2014 General corporate purpose 7,138

ijarah facility - 500,000 500,000 - secured 3 months ebOr + 3.40% january 2015 General corporate purpose 7,138

ijarah facility - 500,000 500,000 - secured 3 months ebOr + 3.725% april 2015 General corporate purpose 7,138

murabaha facility  33,334  308,333  341,667 - secured 3 months ebOr + 3.75% november 2014 General corporate purpose 5,266

term loan 800,000 - 800,000 - secured 3 months ebOr + 3.00% august 2012 development of Central market 41,461

wakala agency loan  9,375  290,625  300,000 - secured 3 months ebOr + 3.50% december 2016 working capital requirements -

unamortised borrowing cost  (11,861)  (7,828)  (19,689) -

accrual for interests and profits  54,634  61,149  115,783 -

5,080,133 4,117,502  9,197,635 - 247,820
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20 BORROwINGS (continued)

Outstanding amount unused 
facility security interest rate maturity Purpose

 Capitalised 
interestCurrent non-current total

aed’000 aed’000 aed’000 aed’000 aed’000

31 december 2010:

Government loan - 5,125,150 5,125,150 123,740 unsecured 1 year usd libOr + 0.35% december 2017 development of Yas island 33,796

syndicated infrastructure loan 5,103,559 - 5,103,559 - secured 3 months usd libOr + 0.90% july 2011 al raha beach infrastructure 99,664

revolving credit facility - - - -  secured 3 months ebOr + 3.50% august 2010 al raha Gardens Phase ii and iii 21,002

term loan 301,633 - 301,633 - secured 0.75% compounded quarterly October 2011 al raha beach infrastructure 9,049

term loan 28,550 174,535 203,085 - secured 3 months ebOr + 1.00% january 2021 al mamoura building -

term loan 367,293 - 367,293 - secured 1 year ebOr + 2.85% april 2011 General corporate purpose 14,587

term loan 300,000 - 300,000 - secured 3 months ebOr + 3.00% august 2011 General corporate purpose 13,358

murabaha financing 6,964 47,143 54,107 - secured 6 months ebOr + 0.85% april 2014 General corporate purpose 1,450

murabaha financing 3,000 24,000 27,000 - secured 6 months ebOr + 0.85% april 2014 General corporate purpose 720

ijarah facility - 2,203,800 2,203,800 - unsecured 3 months ebOr + 0.90% april 2012 General corporate purpose 51,712

term loan 367,300 - 367,300 - unsecured 1 year ebOr + 1.75% september 2011 working capital requirements 11,733

term loan 367,200 - 367,200 - secured 3 months usd libOr + 1.40% October 2013 General corporate purpose 4,601

murabaha financing 360,902 - 360,902 - secured 3 months ebOr + 2.50% january 2011 al bateen Park 16,025

ijarah facility 600,000 - 600,000 - secured 3 months ebOr + 2.50% February 2011 al raha beach infrastructure 28,671

term loan 275,108 - 275,108 - secured 3 months libOr + 3.65% june 2011 General corporate purpose 10,769

term loan 1,100,000 - 1,100,000 - secured 3 months ebOr + 2.55% august 2011 development of Central market 53,138

term loan 400,000 - 400,000 - secured 3 months ebOr + 3.25% may 2011 working capital requirements 11,269

ijarah facility - 500,000 500,000 - secured 3 months ebOr + 3.075% november 2014 General corporate purpose 18,944

ijarah facility - 500,000 500,000 - secured 3 months ebOr + 3.40% january 2015 General corporate purpose 18,944

ijarah facility - 500,000 500,000 - secured 3 months ebOr + 3.725% april 2015 General corporate purpose 18,944

murabaha facility 33,333 341,667 375,000 - secured 3 months ebOr + 3.75% november 2014 General corporate purpose 16,902

term loan 800,000 - 800,000 - secured 3 months ebOr + 3.00% august 2011 development of Central market 14,553

unamortised borrowing cost (21,202) (12,596) (33,798)

accrual for interests and profits 78,892 36,920 115,812

10,472,532 9,440,619 19,913,151 123,740 469,831
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20 BORROwINGS (continued)

the borrowings are repayable as follows:

2011 2010
aed’000 aed’000

Current 

within one year 5,080,133 10,472,532

non-current

in the second to fifth year 4,077,313 8,568,213

after fifth year 40,189 872,406

4,117,502 9,440,619

9,197,635 19,913,151

loan securities are in the form of mortgage over plots of land, 
assignment of project receivables and lien on bank deposits.

some of the Group’s borrowings carry covenants relating to financial 
measures such as total assets value, net worth and gearing level. 

as per the requirements of the covenants specified in two borrowing 
arrangements, the Group is required to maintain net assets (total equity) 
at aed 6.0 billion. during the year, the Group’s net assets fell below 
aed 6.0 billion, however due to the partial conversion of the mandatory 
convertible bonds, the Group’s net assets are aed 7.1 billion at the end 
of the reporting period. due to a waiver received from the bank, the 
loans have been correctly disclosed as non-current as per the terms of 
the loan agreement. 

21 PROVISION FOR END OF SERVICE BENEFIT

movement in the provision for end of service benefit is as follows:

2011 2010
aed’000 aed’000

balance at the beginning of the year 48,744 33,923

Charge for the year (note 27) 20,286 19,784

Paid during the year (19,855) (4,963)

transferred to a related party (2,194) -

balance at the end of the year 46,981 48,744

22 ADVANCES FROM CUSTOMERS 

advances from customers represent installments collected from 
customers for the sale of the Group’s property developments.

23 TRADE AND OTHER PAYABLES 

2011 2010
aed’000 aed’000

(restated)

trade payables 1,049,891 1,516,913

accrual for contractors’ costs  3,516,092 3,168,279

accrual for infrastructure costs  344,825 684,056

advances from the Government (23a) 3,089,995 576,055

deferred income  53,896 84,110

dividends payable  17,754 18,578

Provision for onerous contracts 252,005 -

Other liabilities 135,733 123,098

8,460,191 6,171,089

23a   advances from the Government comprise advances amounting to 
aed 2,755.0 million received for the development of infrastructure 
at al raha beach.

23b   the Group has financial risk management policies in place to 
ensure that all payables are paid within the pre-agreed credit terms.

24 REVENUE

2011 2010
aed’000 aed’000

Property development and sales 5,435,152 905,431

income from operating businesses 1,307,438 885,676

6,742,590 1,791,107

25 DIRECT COSTS

2011 2010
aed’000 aed’000

Cost of properties sold 4,097,273 768,730

direct costs for operating businesses 999,792 734,280

5,097,065 1,503,010

26 SELLING AND MARKETING ExPENSES

2011 2010
aed’000 aed’000

exhibitions and sponsorships 3,708 60,006

Project marketing 2,784 6,665

Corporate advertising 28,906 16,415

Others 88 354

35,486 83,440

27 STAFF COSTS

2010 2009
aed’000 aed’000

salaries, bonuses and other benefits 651,749 657,301

staff training and development 1,900 32,924

Post-employment benefit (note 21) 20,286 19,784

673,935 710,009

staff costs allocated to:

Projects under development  80,185 111,299

direct operating costs of operational 
businesses

 348,164 237,410

Pre-opening expenses of operational 
businesses

 1,774 47,803

General and administrative expenses 243,812 313,497

673,935 710,009

28 FINANCE INCOME

2011 2010
aed’000 aed’000

interest and profit income:

islamic deposits 26,471 92,393

bank fixed deposits 24,058 135,148

Call and current accounts 4,694 2,175

Gross income 55,223 229,716

less: amounts offset against the 
finance costs capitalised

(5,958) (54,487)

49,265 175,229

Financing element earned on 
receivables, net

- 20,393

interest income earned on receivables 
from project finance

56,206 57,904

Other finance income 16,876 9,278

122,347 262,804

Finance income earned on financial assets, analysed by category of 
asset is as follows:

2011 2010
aed’000 aed’000

loans and receivables 55,223 87,575

Cash and bank balances 67,124 175,229

122,347 262,804

29 FINANCE COSTS

2011 2010
aed’000 aed’000

Gross costs 1,576,188 1,724,602

less: amounts included in the cost of 
qualifying assets

(488,989) (1,110,756)

1,087,199 613,846

recycling of hedging reserve loss 35,327 75,130

(Gain)/loss on hedging (18,053) 28,816

17,274 103,946

1,104,473 717,792

the weighted average capitalisation rate of funds borrowed is 1.88% per 
annum (2010: 3.66% per annum).
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30 OTHER INCOME 

2011 2010
aed’000 aed’000

Government grant income (a)    
Gain on sale of assets held for sale (b) 
Others 

3,100,398 
841,934 

8,179

- 
- 

15,796

3,950,511 15,796

(a) during the year the Group sold the Central market development 
to the Government of abu dhabi against a total consideration of 
aed 5.7 billion. the difference between the fair value of the asset 
and consideration receivable has been received as compensation 
for previous costs incurred and has been recognised in profit or loss 
as a Government grant in accordance with ias 20 “accounting for 
Government grants and disclosure of Government assistance”.

(b) in accordance with the terms of the asset transfer agreement 
dated 16 january 2011, the Group disposed of the Ferrari world abu 
dhabi theme park and related assets to the Government of abu dhabi. 
accordingly, a net gain of aed 841.9 million was recognised in the profit 
or loss for the year.

31 EARNINGS/(LOSS) PER SHARE 

basic earnings per share amounts are calculated by dividing profit for 
the year attributable to ordinary equity holders of the parent by the 
weighted average number of ordinary shares outstanding during the 
year. as there are no dilutive instruments outstanding, basic and diluted 
earnings per share are identical.

the calculation of basic and diluted earnings/(loss) per share 
attributable to the owners of the Company is based on the following 
data:

earnings/(loss)

2011 2010
aed’000 aed’000

earnings/(loss) for the purpose of 
basic earnings and diluted earnings 
per share (profit/(loss) for the 
year attributable to owners of the 
Company)

(642,491) 12,658,414

weighted average number of shares

2011 2010

weighted average number of ordinary 
shares for the purpose of basic and 
diluted earnings/(loss) per share

4,209,848,781 2,881,629,603

the weighted average number of shares for the year for the purpose of 
basic and diluted earnings per share includes ordinary shares that are 
to be issued upon the conversion of the mandatorily convertible bonds 
(note18a).

as of 31 december 2011, the sukuk-al-mudaraba (note 18b) was not 
included in the calculation of diluted earnings per share, as the sukuk 
were redeemed in cash on 10 november 2011.

32 TRANSACTIONS AND BALANCES wITH RELATED PARTIES 

related parties include the Company’s major shareholders, directors 
and businesses controlled by them and their families or over which they 
exercise significant management influence as well as key management 
personnel. the Government of abu dhabi, through entities controlled, or 
jointly controlled by the Government of abu dhabi (together referred to 
as “Government”) is a major shareholder in the Company.

related party balances:

2011 2010
aed’000 aed’000

due from government (net):

refundable costs (note 10) 2,694,116 2,338,377

receivable from assets sold (note 10) 6,473,834 2,289,524

Other receivables 54,313

advances received (note 22 and 23) 5,517,017 (576,055)

3,705,246 4,051,846

due from joint ventures (note 10):

Current 12,950 32,938

non-current 447,769 521,058

460,719 553,996

due to joint ventures for  
project-related work:

Contact payables (68,923) (675,631)

retention payables (37,373) (132,121)

advances paid 6,458 54,070

(99,838) (753,682)

deposits held with an associate 70,875 164,860

Certain receivables from joint ventures carry interest of 6% to 9% and 
are repayable within 2 to 5 years from the end of the year.

2011 2010
aed’000 aed’000

due from/(to) major shareholder 
owned by government and/or its 
associated companies:

receivable from project finance  
(note 10)

477,881 476,588

due from a related party 201,025 402,050

accrued expenses (236,872) -

due to a major shareholder, net (46,649) (24,497)

interest bearing loan - (301,633)

interest bearing convertible bonds 
(note 18) (725,053) -

non-interest bearing convertible bonds - (3,562,810)

(329,668) (3,010,302)

significant transactions with related parties during the year are as follows:

2011 2010
aed’000 aed’000

key management compensation

salaries, bonuses and other benefits 11,677 42,582

Post-employment benefits 720 1,430

12,397 44,012

income from government and major 
shareholder owned by government:

Gain on disposal of assets held for sale 
(note 30)

841,934 -

revenue from sale of land 3,589,235 -

Project management income 229,887 78,935

rental income (gross inflows) 36,946 47,818

Government grant income (note 30) 3,100,398 -

7,798,400 126,753

work provided by joint ventures 123,078 2,011,403

Finance income from project finance 
and joint ventures 73,083 67,183

Provision for cancellation of sales to a 
related party - 124,446

in addition, these significant transactions were entered into with related 
parties during the year as follows: 
 
a) On 16 january 2011, the Group converted aed 3,562.8 million worth 
of convertible bonds issued to mubadala development Company into 
303,734,868 shares in the Company at an agreed conversion rate of aed 11.73.  
Consequently, the share capital and share premium of the Group have been 
increased by aed 303.7 million and aed 3,259.1 million, respectively.   
 
b) On 3 march 2011, the Group issued mandatory convertible bonds of aed 
2,800.0 million to mubadala development Company. On 15 december 2011, 
the Group partially converted aed 2,106.1 million worth of these bonds into 
1,203,499,493 shares in the Company at an agreed conversion rate of aed 
1.75. Consequently the share capital and share premium of the Group have 
been increased by aed 1,203.5 million and aed 902.6 million, respectively. 

c) Outstanding borrowings of aed 8,560.4 million (31 december 2010: aed 
14,261.0 million) are due to the Government and banks controlled by the 
Government. Further details have been disclosed in note 20. 
 
d) in accordance with the terms of the asset transfer agreement dated 16 
january 2011, the Group sold the Ferrari world theme park and related assets 
and land plots on Yas island for aed 10,900.0 million to the Government.  
 
e) On 23 march 2011, the Group entered into a sale and purchase agreement 
to sell residential units and land plots for aed 1,255.8 million to the 
Government.   
 
f) during the year, two land plots previously sold to a related party were 
cancelled. the total revenue value of these plots was aed 188.9 million and 
the amount collected and fully refunded was aed 37.8 million. 
 
g) On 27 december 2011, the Group entered into the following transactions 
with the Government of abu dhabi: 
• sold Central market Project development for a consideration of aed    
   5,697.6 million and entered into a construction management  
   agreement for aed 2,619.3 million;

• received a reimbursement of aed 5,035.0 million towards the transfer  
   of infra-structure assets, which was settled by the waiver of  
   borrowings due to the Government;

• sold residential units for aed 3,501.1 million
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33 COMMITMENTS AND CONTINGENCIES

33.1 CAPITAL COMMITMENTS

Capital expenditure contracted but not yet incurred at the end  
of the year is as follows:

2011 2010
aed’000 aed’000

Projects under development 2,974,452 7,698,121

reimbursable project works in 
progress

9,631,585 13,114,409

investments 68,590 119,912

Others 44,513 14,376

12,719,140 20,946,818

the above commitments are spread over a period of one to five years.

the Group has paid an amount of aed 1,091.5 million (2010: aed 1,756.1 
million) as advances to the suppliers and contractors against the above 
commitments.

33.2 OPERATING LEASE COMMITMENTS 

the Group as lessor

2011 2010
aed’000 aed’000

buildings (over a period of 12 years):

within one year 263,756 223,989

in the second to fifth year 920,692 901,640

after five years 846,793 1,161,529

2,031,241 2,287,158

the Group as lessee
the Group has annual operating lease commitments with respect to 
rental of land for one of its investment properties and buildings for staff 
accommodation. the minimum lease payments are as follows:

2011 2010
aed’000 aed’000

land (over a period of 70 years):
within one year 11,768 11,455
in the second to fifth year 50,401 49,050
after five years 76,066 89,185

138,235 149,690

buildings (over a period of 5 years) :
within one year 96,960 109,691
in the second to fifth year 31,713 139,507

128,673 249,198
266,908 398,888

the Group does not have the option to purchase the leased premises 
at expiry of the lease period but the lease can be renewed upon mutual 
agreements of both parties.

33.3 CONTINGENCIES 

letters of credit and bank guarantees

2011 2010
aed’000 aed’000

letters of credit and bank guarantees:

issued by the Group 22,796 24,507

issued on behalf of a joint venture 13,413 35,915

36,209 60,422

Group’s share in contingencies of joint 
ventures

7,267 20,803

34 FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS

34.1 SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES

details of the significant accounting policies and methods adopted, 
including the criteria for recognition, the basis of measurement and 
the basis on which income and expenses are recognised, in respect of 
each class of financial asset, financial liability and equity instrument are 
disclosed in note 3 to the consolidated financial statements.

34.2 CATEGORIES OF FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS

2011 2010
aed’000 aed’000

financial assets

available-for-sale financial assets 170,658 144,590

loans and receivables (including cash 
and bank balances)

15,314,751 9,411,456

derivative instruments in designated 
hedge accounting relationship

- 1,379

total 15,485,409 9,557,425

financial liabilities

Financial liabilities measured at cost 24,787,946 39,403,461

derivative instruments in designated 
hedge accounting relationship

36,408 153,911

total 24,824,354 39,557,372

34.3 FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT 

the Group’s Corporate Finance and treasury function provides services 
to the business, co-ordinates access to domestic and international 
financial markets, monitors and manages financial risks based on 
internally developed models, benchmarks and forecasts. the Group 
seeks to minimise the effects of financial risks by using appropriate 
risk management techniques including using derivative financial 
instruments to hedge risk exposures. the use of financial derivatives is 
governed by management’s analysis of market trends, liquidity position 
and predicted movements in interest rate and foreign currency rates 
which are reviewed by the management on a continuous basis. 

the Group does not enter into or trade financial instruments, including 
derivative financial instruments, for speculative purposes.

the Group analyses financial risks under the following captions: 

34.4 CAPITAL RISK MANAGEMENT

Capital risk is the risk that the Group is not able to manage its capital 
structure to ensure that all entities in the Group will be able to continue 
as a going concern. 

the Group’s capital structure comprises borrowings disclosed in notes 
18, 19 and 20, cash and bank balances and equity attributable to owners 
of the Company, comprising issued capital, share premium, reserves 
and accumulated losses/retained earnings as disclosed in the statement 
of changes in equity.

the Group monitors and adjusts its capital structure with a view to 
promote the long-term success of the business while maintaining 
sustainable returns for shareholders. this is achieved through a 
combination of risk management actions including monitoring solvency, 
minimising financing costs, rigorous investment appraisals and 
maintaining high standards of business conduct. 

Key financial measures that are subject to regular review include cash 
flow projections and assessment of their ability to meet contracted 
commitments, projected gearing levels and compliance with borrowing 
covenants, although no absolute targets are set for these.

the Group monitors its cost of debt on a regular basis. at 31 december 
2011, the weighted average cost of debt was 4.93% (2010: 4.3%). 
investment and development opportunities are evaluated against an 
appropriate equity return in order to ensure that long-term shareholder 
value is created. 

the covenants of two borrowing arrangements require the Group 
maintaining a minimum equity of aed 6.0 billion.
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34 FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS(continued)

34.5 MARKET RISK MANAGEMENT

market risk is the risk that the fair value or future cash flows of a 
financial asset or liability will fluctuate because of changes in market 
prices. market risk comprises three types of risk: foreign currency risk, 
interest rate risk and other price risk. 

a) Foreign currency risk management

the Group has no significant cross-border trading transactions and 
therefore, foreign exchange transaction exposure is negligible. however, 
it does borrow money in foreign currencies primarily in us dollars.  
the Group’s currency exposure therefore is in relation to the repayment 
of loans and also the translation risk associated with converting 
outstanding loan balances back into uae dirhams in the Group 
consolidated accounts at the end of each reporting period. the exchange 
rate between uae dirhams and us dollars is fixed and therefore the 
Group considers foreign exchange risk associated with repayment of 
loans and translation as minimum.

Foreign currency sensitivity analysis

the carrying amounts of the Group’s foreign currency denominated 
monetary assets and liabilities at the end of the reporting period are as 
follows:

liabilities assets

2011 2010 2011 2010
aed’000 aed’000 aed’000 aed’000

us dollar 5,237,730 14,987,681 39,246 38,487

Pound sterling (a) 130 - - 150

euro (b) 22,598 24,193 - -

5,260,458 15,011,874 39,246 38,637

there is no significant impact on us dollar as the uae dirham is pegged 
to the us dollar. 

based on the sensitivity analysis to a 20% increase/decrease in the aed 
against the relevant foreign currencies (assumed outstanding for the full 
year): 

(a)  there is aed 26 thousand (2010: aed 30 thousand) net revaluation 
gain/(loss) on the Pound sterling outstanding balances. 

(b)  there is aed 4.5 million (2010: aed 4.8 million) net revaluation gain/
(loss) on the euro outstanding balances. 

b) Interest rate risk management

the Group is exposed to interest rate risk as entities in the Group borrow 
funds at both fixed and floating interest rates. the risk is managed by 

the Group by maintaining an appropriate mix between fixed and floating 
rate borrowings, by the use of interest rate swap contracts. 

the Group’s exposures to interest rates on financial assets and financial 
liabilities are detailed in notes 13, 18, 19 and 20. 

interest rate sensitivity analysis

the sensitivity analyses below have been determined based on the 
exposure to interest rates for both derivatives and non-derivative 
instruments at the end of the reporting period. For floating rate assets 
and liabilities, the analysis is prepared assuming the amount of asset or 
liability outstanding at the end of the reporting period was outstanding 
for the whole year. 

if interest rates had been 100 basis points higher/lower and all other 
variables were held constant, the Group’s profit for the year ended 31 
december 2011 would decrease/increase by aed 120.2 million (2010: 
loss increase/decrease by aed 198.8 million). the resulting loss is due 
to significant loan draw-downs and fresh borrowings during the year, in 
addition to reduced capitalisation of borrowing costs. 

the Group’s sensitivity to interest rates has increased during the current 
year mainly due to the increase in variable interest bearing deposits and 
borrowings. 

interest rate swap contracts

under interest rate swap contracts, the Group agrees to exchange the 
difference between fixed and floating rate interest amounts calculated 
on agreed notional principal amounts. such contracts enable the Group 
to mitigate the risk of changing interest rate on the fair value of issued 
fixed rate debt and the cash flow exposures on the issued variable rate 
debt. 

cash flow hedges

the following table details the notional principal amounts and remaining 
terms of interest rate swap contracts outstanding at the end of the 
reporting period:

34.5 MARKET RISK MANAGEMENT (continued)

b) Interest rate risk management (continued)

cash flow hedges (continued)

average contracted fixed interest rate notional principal amount fair value cash flows

2011 2010 2011 2010 2011 2010 2011 2010
% % aed’000 aed’000 aed’000 aed’000 aed’000 aed’000

less than 1 year 5.92% 5.852% & 5.4035% 285,882 4,715,628 1,943 112,375 1,943 168,785

1 to 2 years 5.93% 5.917% 258,405 283,928 10,030 9,613 10,030 9,613

2 to 5 years 5.92% 5.906% 220,449 248,940 17,482 15,937 17,482 15,937

more than 5 years 6.065% 6.065% 89,532 119,534 6,955 (1,036) 6,955 -

854,268 5,368,030 36,410 136,889 36,410 194,335

all interest rate swap contracts exchanging floating rate interest amounts for fixed rate interest amounts are designated as cash flow hedges in order 
to reduce the Group’s cash flow exposure resulting from variable interest rates on borrowings. the interest rate swaps and the payments on the loan 
occur simultaneously. 

the carrying amount of the Group’s interest rate caps were adjusted to fair value at 31 december 2011 amounting to aed nil (2010: aed 797.0 
thousand). the net loss related to the time value of money amounting to aed 797.0 thousand (2010: net loss of aed 28.6 million) was included in 
profit or loss for the year. 

the fair value of the interest rate swaps and caps designated as cash flow hedges have been arrived at on the basis of a valuation carried out by 
messrs jC rathbone associates ltd., independent valuers not connected with the Group. messrs jC rathbone associates ltd. have appropriate 
qualifications and experience in the valuation of derivative financial instruments. 

fair value hedges

interest rate swap contracts exchanging fixed rate interest for floating rate interest are designated and effective as fair value hedges in respect 
of interest rates. the carrying amount of the derivative was adjusted to fair value at 31 december 2011 amounting to aed nil (2010: aed 581.0 
thousand). the net gain on fair value hedges amounting to aed 238 thousand (2010: net gain of aed 1.4 million) was included in profit or loss for the 
year.

the Group’s derivative financial instruments were contracted with counterparties operating in the united arab emirates.

34.6 CREDIT RISK MANAGEMENT

Credit risk in relation to the Group, refers to the risk that a counter party will default on its contractual obligations resulting in financial loss to the 
Group. 

Key areas where the Group is exposed to credit risk are trade and other receivables and bank and cash balances and derivative financial assets (liquid 
assets).

the Group has adopted a policy of only dealing with creditworthy counterparties as a means of mitigating the risk of financial loss from defaults. the 
Group attempts to control credit risk by monitoring credit exposures, limiting transactions with specific non-related counterparties, and continually 
assessing the creditworthiness of such non-related counterparties.

concentration of credit risk

Concentration of credit risk arise when a number of counterparties are engaged in similar business activities, or activities in the same geographic 
region, or have similar economic features that would cause their ability to meet contractual obligations to be similarly affected by changes in 
economic, political or other conditions. Concentration of credit risk indicates the relative sensitivity of the Group’s performance to developments 
affecting a particular industry or geographic location. details on concentration of trade receivable balances are disclosed in note 10. management 
believes that the concentration of credit risk is mitigated by high credit worthiness and financial stability of its trade customers.

at 31 december 2011, 100% (2010: 86%) of the deposits were placed with 4 banks. balances with banks are assessed to have low credit risk of default 
since these banks are among the major banks operating in the uae and are highly regulated by the central bank.

trade and other receivables and balances with banks and derivative financial assets are not secured by any collateral. the amount that best 
represents maximum credit risk exposure on financial assets at the end of the reporting period, in the event counter parties fail to perform their 
obligations generally approximates their carrying value.
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34 FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS(continued)

34.7 LIqUIDITY RISK MANAGEMENT 

the responsibility for liquidity risk management rests with the management of the Group, which has built an appropriate liquidity risk management 
framework for the management of the Group’s short, medium and long term funding and liquidity management requirements. the Group manages 
liquidity risk by maintaining adequate reserves, banking facilities and committed borrowing facilities, by continuously monitoring forecast and actual 
cash flows and matching the maturity profiles of financial assets and liabilities. 

the following tables detail the Group’s remaining contractual maturity for its non-derivative financial assets and liabilities. the tables have been 
drawn up based on the undiscounted cash flows of non-derivative financial assets and liabilities based on the earliest date on which the Group can be 
required to pay or collect. the table includes both interest and principal cash flows. maturity profile of non-derivative financial assets and liabilities at 
the end of the reporting period is as follows:

effective 
interest rate

< 1 month 1 to 3 months 3 months to 1 year 1 to 5 years > 5 years total
aed’000 aed’000 aed’000 aed’000 aed’000 aed’000

31 december 2011:
financial assets
non-interest bearing instruments -  209,121  114,462  3,850,230 6,780,810  347,889  11,302,512 
receivables from project finance 12.43%  34,204  -  57,099 298,259  487,099  876,661
Fixed interest rate instruments -  -  -  -  -  -  - 
variable interest rate instruments note 13  3,045,436  331,455  780,789  -  -  4,157,680 
total  3,288,761  445,917  4,688,118  7,079,069  834,988 16,336,853
financial liabilities
non-interest bearing instruments -  256,935  514,016 4,305,262  1,488,288  -  6,564,501 
non-convertible bonds note 19  -  -  -  8,340,000  -  8,340,000 
Fixed interest rate instruments 4%  -  -  31,177  693,876  -  725,053 
variable interest rate instruments note 20  331,039  86,393  4,662,701  4,077,313  40,189  9,197,635 
total  587,974  600,409 8,999,140  14,599,477  40,189  24,827,189 

31 december 2010:
financial assets
non-interest bearing instruments - 10,106 96,750 4,105,466 3,220,618 347,889 7,780,829
receivables from project finance 12.41% 16,738 - 54,916 298,259 561,663 931,576
Fixed interest rate instruments 9.00% - - - 8,600 - 8,600
variable interest rate instruments note 13 1,160,178 275,939 995,416 - - 2,431,533
total 1,187,022 372,689 5,155,798 3,527,477 909,552 11,152,538
financial liabilities
non-interest bearing instruments - 256,457 529,412 4,617,136 1,437,878 - 6,840,883
non-convertible bonds note 19 - - - 8,340,000 - 8,340,000
Fixed interest rate instruments 6.66% - 62,730 4,842,274 - - 4,905,004
variable interest rate instruments note 20 417,975 1,264,753 8,507,839 8,580,809 872,406 19,643,782
total 674,432 1,856,895 17,967,249 18,358,687 872,406 39,729,669

35 FAIR VALUE OF FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS

except as disclosed in the following table, management considers 
that the carrying amounts of financial assets and financial liabilities 
recognised at amortised cost in the consolidated financial statements 
approximate their fair values.

as at 31 december 2011

carrying fair

amount value
financial liabilities at amortised cost aed’000 aed’000

sukuk-al- ijarah  (note 19) 3,748,385 3,638,475

Corporate bonds (note 19) 4,581,396 5,106,100

Following the amendment to iFrs 7, all financial instruments that are 
required to be measured at fair value (subsequent to initial recognition) 
should be disclosed in a fair value hierarchy or grouping into 3 levels 
(levels 1 to 3) based on the degree to which the fair value is observable.

level 1 fair value is derived from quoted prices (unadjusted) in 
active markets for identical assets or liabilities.  level 2 fair value 
measurements are derived from inputs other than quoted prices, and 
level 3 are those that are derived from valuation techniques using 
unobservable inputs.

as at 31 december 2011, the Group’s financial assets that are stated at 
fair value are grouped as follows:

level 1 level 2 level 3 total
aed’000 aed’000 aed’000 aed’000

Available-for-sale investments
equities 6,572 12,500 151,586 170,658

the fair values of derivative instruments are determined by independent 
valuers (see note 34.5) and are measured at the present value of future 
cash flows estimated and discounted based on the applicable yield 
curves derived from quoted interest rates.

there were no transfers between levels during the year.
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36 SEGMENT INFORMATION

36.1 BUSINESS SEGMENTS 

segment information about the Group’s continuing operations for the year then ended is presented below:

Year ended 31 december 2011

Property investment 
propertiesdevelopment Operative

and sales portfolio hotels schools village leisure elimination group
aed’000 aed’000 aed’000 aed’000 aed’000 aed’000 aed’000 aed’000

segment revenue 5,435,152 540,966 419,081 113,111 196,277 38,003  -  6,742,590 

depreciation and 
amortisation (2,824) (3,704)  (307,072)  (19,933)  (194,218) (9,307)  - (537,058)

Project costs 
impairment/write-offs (566,977) (112,700) (423,805)  -  (911,226) (99,712)  -  (2,114,420) 

Fair value losses - (540,732)  -  -  - -  - (540,732)

Other income 3,108,626 -  -  -  -  841,885  - 3,950,511

segment profit/(loss) 3,791,616 (455,377) (681,216) (19,624) (1,081,238) 737,078 - 2,291,239

share of income from associates and joint ventures  102,388

selling and marketing expenses (33,168)

depreciation and amortisation  (53,205)

loss on fair valuation of available-for-sale financial assets  (38,500)

Other expenses  (640,467)

Finance income 118,677

Finance costs (1,104,473)

Profit for the year 642,491

36 SEGMENT INFORMATION (CONTINUED)

36.1 BUSINESS SEGMENTS (CONTINUED)

Year ended 31 december 2010

Property investment 
propertiesdevelopment Operative

and sales portfolio hotels schools village leisure elimination group
aed’000 aed’000 aed’000 aed’000 aed’000 aed’000 aed’000 aed’000

segment revenue 905,431 325,036 314,239  90,757  94,116  70,989  (9,461)  1,791,107  

depreciation and 
amortisation (481) (1,397)  (315,758)   (16,098)  (138,567) (13,253)  - (485,554)

Project costs 
impairment/write-offs (3,802,873) (181,361) -  -  (205,847) (118,168)  -   (4,308,249) 

Fair value losses - (6,992,427)  -  -  - -  - (6,992,427)

Other income 15,814 -  - -  -  (17)  - 15,797

segment loss  (3,727,830)  (7,079,729) (348,105) (12,992) (319,171) (254,851) (5,973) (11,748,651)

share of income from associates and joint ventures (27,584)

selling and marketing expenses  (76,724)

depreciation and amortisation (28,571)

Other expenses (332,966)

Finance income  262,691

Finance costs (706,609)

loss for the year (12,658,414)

inter-segment revenue eliminated on consolidation fully pertains to schools segment.
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36 SEGMENT INFORMATION (CONTINUED)

36.1 BUSINESS SEGMENTS (CONTINUED)

the segment assets and liabilities and capital expenditure for the year then ended are as follows:

Property investment 
propertiesdevelopment Operative

and sales portfolio hotels schools village leisure unallocated group
aed’000 aed’000 aed’000 aed’000 aed’000 aed’000 aed’000 aed’000

as at 31 december 2011

assets 22,931,168 9,198,620 4,129,673  639,571 439,542  108,442   2,670,898  40,117,914 

liabilities 8,295,275 5,077,762  5,359,258   566,585  1,394,163  817,094   11,514,202 33,024,339

Capital expenditure 168,039 - -  -  - - 80,915  248,954 

Projects expenditure 954,143 1,950,587 - - - - - 2,904,730

as at 31 december 2010

assets 27,519,445 11,021,483 4,936,335 261,049  103,024  289,119  3,213,727 47,344,182 

liabilities 4,537,884 4,801,077  5,484,703   332,374  208,795   892,941   26,839,623 43,097,397 

Capital expenditure 1,522,813 - - - - - 214,977 1,737,790 

Projects expenditure  3,291,770  2,414,142 - - - - -  5,705,912

36 SEGMENT INFORMATION (CONTINUED)

36.1 BUSINESS SEGMENTS (CONTINUED)

the accounting policies of the reportable segments are the same as the Group’s accounting policies described in note 3.

segment profit represents the profit earned by each segment without allocation of central administration, selling and marketing costs and directors’ 
salaries, share of profits of associates and joint ventures, other gains and losses, finance income and finance costs. this is the measure reported to 
the chief operating decision maker for the purposes of resource allocation and assessment of segment performance.  

For the purposes of monitoring segment performance and allocating resources between segments:

• all assets are allocated to reportable segments other than interests in associates and joint ventures, available for sale assets and ‘other financial  
   assets’. assets used jointly by reportable segments are allocated on the basis of the revenues earned by individual reportable segments; and

• all liabilities are allocated to reportable segments other than borrowings, convertible and non-convertible bonds and ‘other financial liabilities’.  
   liabilities for which reportable segments are jointly liable are allocated in proportion to segment assets.

36.2 GEOGRAPHICAL SEGMENTS

the Group operated only in one geographical segment, i.e., united arab emirates.

37 NON CASH TRANSACTIONS

during the current year, the Group entered into the following non-cash activities which are not reflected in the consolidated statement of cash flows:

• Conversion of  convertible bonds into equity of aed 2,106.1 million (note 18a).

• the investment property under development amounting to aed 2,452.2 million (note 7) and the grant income amounting to aed 3,100.4 million  
   have not all been received in cash resulting in a net receivable of aed 4,553.8 million at the end of the reporting period. 

• the amounts received for the reimbursement of infrastructure assets of aed 5,035.0 million was settled by the waiver of borrowings due to the  
   Government (note 32g). the reimbursement reduced by aed 2,280.0 million of development work in progress (note 11) and increased advances  
   received from  the Government  by aed 2,755.0 million (note 23a).

38 APPROVAL OF CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

the consolidated financial statements were approved by the board of directors and authorised for issue on 13 February 2012.
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